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Chairman Freberg opened the hearing on SB 2309, a bill relating to high school coursework 

requirements, relating to high school graduation requirements and student proficiency. All 

members were present. 

Senator Nething introduced the bill. During the interim he attended meetings related to higher 

education and the one constant message that was coming through is that nationwide we have 

50% of the students that enter college need remedial education, primarily in the fields of 

science and math. In North Dakota it is only 34%. That is still too high and he wants to help 

change that. He visited with the higher education folks from the P16 study and asked the 

legislative council to put together a bill that would help match up the concerns of the P16 

commission with his concerns about remedial education that we have to provide in higher 

education for college freshman. The result is SB 2309. He went through the bill (meter 3:49) 

We take a lot of criticism of not funding 70% of what school districts want to spend. This 

penalizes the efficient school district. If we could measure the cost of a curriculum like this and 

fund 70% of it we would alleviate some of those concerns. Those school districts that want to 

add on could do so, it would still be a local decision . 
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Senator Flakoll asked on page 2 the requirements to enter into higher education in the state, 

will that hamper out of state students coming into the state? 

Senator Nething said they may have to take remedial education to match it. 

Senator Flakoll said the bill says they can't be admitted. 

Senator Nething said he did not even want to deal with out of state students, we control our 

own admission standards. He doesn't know if this would impact them in that context or not. 

Greg Gallagher, Director of Standards and Achievement, Department of Public Instruction, 

presented testimony for Gary Gronberg, Assistant Superintendent, Department of Public 

Instruction and testified in favor of the bill. (Written testimony attached) 

Senator Flakoll asked how many people he envisions putting on the committee. 

• Greg Gallagher said it would not be as big as the P16 commission which had 40 members. 

• 

This one could be smaller, there would me more detailed discussion and the prospect of other 

sub group work that would be involved. 

Senator Flakoll asked if we would be looking at more than $1000 per person per meeting? 

Greg Gallagher said in the estimation of the fiscal note, the intent was to approximate the 

amount that was invested during the P16, spread out over two years. Perhaps a meeting 

every two months involving a core group or additional sub group activity. The best interests of 

the departments fiscal note was to be as anchored as possible in the P16 original work. 

Senator Bakke asked for the cost of the bill without the amendment, the cost for curriculum , 

staff, for all those things school districts would have to take on? 

Greg Gallagher said that would be dependent on the efforts of the alignment committee if we 

move forward with it over the next biennium. We would be premature to put together a fiscal 

note of the impact to school districts and higher education. The department put together a 

fiscal note to earmark it for the purposes of the alignment committee study not the total affect 
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across the system. The key decision point is if we raise the number of units, that could have 

minimal impact across the state. If you start to talk about a proficiency bases assessment 

system, that would have an entirely different impact to the state. 

Senator Flakoll said they can't run it? They can't project it? He is only interested in the bill, he 

is not interested in the amendments. 

Greg Gallagher said in Department of Public Instruction's interpretation, what was being 

proposed was requiring students to take certain courses. The impact on that would vary 

greatly, they would have to study that further to know what it would cost. They were not in a 

good position to be able to anticipate that cost. 

Senator Flakoll said you are saying you don't know how many schools aren't offering that 

curriculum. 

Greg Gallagher said given the nature of sections 2 and 3, they would have to do a much more 

thorough audit of what the current standing of students' participation in those courses would 

be. 

Senator Gary Lee asked if the alignment committee, at least the board level people, don't they 

meet as a joint board periodically? Couldn't this be taken on as an agenda item? 

Greg Gallagher said they are required to meet annually. This activity would be much more 

resource intensive, much like P16. 

Senator Gary Lee said if the amendments were included, you indicated we could still match 

the time table. It seems like it is more extensive and might be difficult to put into the time table. 

Greg Gallagher said they believe it's plausible for the commission to proceed over the 

biennium. The key issue is what is the focal point of the system's growth. Is it for the 

continuation of seat time standards or towards proficiency standards. The P16 states rather 
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clearly the biggest challenge to the state is to advance an achievement based system not one 

based on seat time. 

Mike Hillman, Vice Chancellor for Academic and Student Affairs, North Dakota University 

System, testified in favor of the bill. He supports the bill as it supports the P16 

recommendations. He distributed the P16 Task Force Report. Every constituency was at the 

table- Career and Technology Education, teachers, private sector employers, they worked very 

long and very hard to develop unanimous consent for these recommendations. Page 11 

provides the exact wording in terms of the curricular requirements that are being 

recommended. Systemic change is difficult. It would be easy to students, schools, individuals 

to be left out of the process, we need to be careful of how we do the transition. Some research 

• presented to the task force indicates seat time is not disconnected from proficiencies. The 

number one strategy was to increase the curricular requirements of students and then to move 

towards proficiencies. Rather than throwing out all of section 3, he would suggest it be 

reworded to reflect the very carefully considered recommendations from the task force. Those 

recommendations are reflected in years, not units. These requirements should not be looked 

upon as something to get out of the way. We have students with the current three years of 

math requirements who have completed it in grade 10 so they go two years of high school 

without any math and they are not ready for college. He recommends a combined approach. 

He is available for help with wording. 

• 
Senator Taylor asked if the University System know the number or freshmen students that 

need remedial help. 

Dr. Hillman said a conservative estimate of 23 - 27% need remedial work . 

Senator Taylor asked what subjects? 

Dr. Hillman said math and English/language arts (reading). 
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Senator Flakoll asked how North Dakota compared to other states in the need for remedial 

work. 

Dr. Hillman said this is what we hope to get out of the new administrative system you have 

heard so much about. They did hand calculate this sort of thing a few years ago, they did not 

see much difference between North Dakota and other states. 

Senator Flakoll asked about providing the school districts with that kind of feed back. 

Dr. Hillman said excellent question. The two pivotal issues related to systemic improvement 

are linked to the data system and the alignment of expectations. Aligning high school 

graduation with college entrance is one but the data sharing is also important. They are 

involved with HB 1027 and with the governor's office and other agencies, they are hoping to 

• get North Dakota started on a longitudinal data system. It would follow a student from pre 

school through graduate school so they can provide feedback for the purposes of managing 

the system. That is not in place. They struggle to get information back to high schools. They 

contracted with ACT about 4 years ago to provide a feedback report to high schools that listed 

a student's high school GPA, ACT score and college GPA after one year in the University 

System. They got very little feedback from the high schools. They did not think it was worth 

their investment. 

Senator Gary Lee said section 3 compared to the first strategy, is the difference just in the 

dates of implementation? 

Dr. Hillman said there is also a difference in units vs. years and the additional requirements in 

the bill, beyond the task force recommendations. He thinks we need to end up where the 

recommendations in the bill are but we need to bring everyone along. If we go too quickly we 

will screen students out. 
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Wayne Kutzer, Director of the Department of Career and Technology Education, testified in 

favor of the bill. (Written testimony attached) 

June Herman, American Heart Association, testified in favor of the bill. (Written testimony 

attached) 

John Pretzer, Superintendent at Scranton, testified in favor of the bill. He was originally 

against the bill but as he thought about it he thought maybe he should support it. As we 

approach 24 credit hours required, it could put them on a pretty level playing field with other 

schools across the state. We need to look at the high school student and their capabilities. If 

a high school student takes 6 classes per year and goes to school 4 years, that is 24 units. 

They take pride in their electives in Scranton, when do the kids fit that in? They have a large 

• variety of students in high school. He has students who will not pass 4 math classes. P16 did 

a great job but he doesn't agree with all of their initiatives. He has 3 children, 1 in college and 

he always wonders why is she on break so often. 155 contact days is not enough. We need 

to make our entrance qualifications a little more rigorous. Maybe 100% of the students who 

come out of our high schools are not ready for college .. Maybe we need to determine who 

they are before we take the tuition from them. 

Senator Bakke asked if he anticipates a high cost to add the additional coursework? 

Mr. Pretzer said he would anticipate an increase he has not calculated how much. His main 

concern is the availability of these teachers and his ability to attract them to a rural school. 

Senator Flakoll asked if JPA's could be a delivery option. 

Mr. Pretzer said possibly but it is difficult to share personnel because the teacher needs to be 

there unless they have a block schedule. 

Verle Reineke from Bismarck wanted to make a comment. He is concerned about writing 

skills. He has lived here 40 years. His experience with teaching high school and college is that 
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students have terrible writing skills. People need to be able to articulate. He doesn't know 

what needs to be done but he is concerned. Inability to speak and write clearly also indicates 

muddled thinking. 

Chairman Freberg closed the hearing on SB 2309. 

Senator Flakoll said 12 meetings at $25,000 per meeting still makes him choke. He and 

Senator Gary Lee were on the P16 committee. Legislators were not paid to be there, they paid 

travel costs and food. lttakes a lot of miles to get to $1000. Maybe some of the money is 

going to the agencies to pay down some of the salary expense. He has no clue where the 

fiscal note is coming from. He assumes the meetings will be in the lower 48. 

Senator Gary Lee said they include outside experts and facilitation. 

- Senator Flakoll said which they did the last time without taking proper protocol with respect to 

putting it out for bids. 

• 

Senator Flakoll asked if the cost per legislative day is quoted at being $52,000? This cost is 

half of that. 

Chairman Freberg asked how many people would be involved in the committee? 

Senator Flakoll said less than P16 where attendance averaged about 27. He said 40 but that 

is a little high. 

Senator Bakke asked how any consensus is reached with 40 people sitting around a table? 

There is not a dollar amount in the bill; it's in the fiscal note. 

Chairman Freberg said there is an unspecified cost in the bill, the fiscal note reflects that. 

Senator Bakke asked if we can amend the fiscal note. 

Chairman Freberg said we would have to change the bill. 

Senator Flakoll said Greg Gallagher's staff, Department of Public Instruction and Higher 

Education could do this on their own without our blessing. 
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Chairman Freberg said if they don't get the money they will have to do it on their own, it will 

have to show up in a budget somewhere. 

Senator Bakke said the bill calls for meeting once a year, the fiscal note says 12 meetings. 

Senator Gary Lee said the joint board is already law, to pursue alignment, they would need to 

put a plan together and it will take more time. 

Senator Flakoll said he wishes we had a better handle on the long term cost of this. The fiscal 

note doesn't tell us where we are at down the road, $50 million or $150 million. 

Senator Bakke said she sensed they want to eliminate sections 2 and 3. 

Chairman Freberg said if we don't address sections 2 and 3, does that say very much? 

Senator Flakoll said if we gut that out and leave the other? 

• Chairman Freberg said that is what Greg Gallagher said was premature. 

• 

Senator Flakoll said his concern is they may be in the ready, aim, aim, aim, aim, oops mode 

again. 

Chairman Freberg said he is wondering what we are really doing if we take them out, pursuing 

alignment, we have been hearing that for a long time. 

Senator Bakke said Senator Gary Lee had a good suggestion, perhaps we leave 2 and 3 in 

and take off #4 at the bottom of page 1 and that leaves them with the responsibility of doing it. 

She doesn't want to undermine the P16. 

Senator Gary Lee said if we would eliminate the underscored language in section 1, that would 

say this joint board has to do whatever we say in section 2 and 3. One of the concerns of P16 

was, they had a date of 2012 to start this and that they used, for example, 4 years rather than 

4 units of English so it wasn't just seat time. It probably gets rid of the fiscal note . 

Chairman Freberg said the 2012 - 2013 school year. 
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Senator Gary Lee said yes, for subsection 1 in section 3. They have the dates correct. Also, 

on section 2, it changes the graduation requirements. 

Chairman Freborg said the additional number of units required in section 2 would be at the 

students' discretion if we took out section 3? 

Senator Flakoll asked if the school could ease them into that by having more rigorous 

requirements? 

Chairman Freborg said some schools have higher requirements. 

Senator Gary Lee said in terms of the Governor's Commission and working on adequacy, 

would they take on this kind of work in terms of defining curriculum? 

Senator Flakoll said he hates to predict. There are two sides to adequacy: financial and base 

• or core requirements. 

Chairman Freborg said that would mean something like this in section 3 because we have 

requirements now. Evidently we have to get a little tougher in some areas to give them the 

opportunities, as in math and science. 

Senator Flakoll said he said in the P16 meetings and he will say it again, under section 3 

subsection 2, lies 28 - 29, where we have now upped the requirement in math from 3 to 4, we 

should say 3 math, 3 science and 1 science or math to give them a little bit of choice. 

Chairman Freborg said as far away as that is, would there be problem taking out subsection 2. 

This will be revisited 2 or 3 times before we get to 2014. 

Senator Bakke said a lot of colleges are changing their entrance requirements, many require 4 

years of math and 4 years of science. This plays into those trends as well. 

Chairman Freborg asked if there is a similar bill in the house. (Nancy Sand nodded that there 

• is.) 
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Senator Flakoll said there is a similar bill on tracking he doesn't know if that will get any 

traction. 

Senator Bakke asked if Senator Flakoll and Senator Gary Lee were on P16. 

They said they were. 

The committee discussed a house bill sponsored by Representative Kelsch that deals with 

academic tracks. 

Senator Bakke asked if we want them to meet at a cost of $300,000. Where are they 

meeting? 

Senator Flakoll said what they are asking to do with the fiscal note is what they can do already, 

to discuss what has already been passed at a cost of $1000 per member per meeting. 

• Senator Taylor said if we like some parts, we could correct the things didn't align with P16 , we 

could attach an appropriation less than the fiscal note and that would take care of it. 

Chairman Freborg said one problem is the fiscal note says we are requiring that kind of a cost 

and that has to be done to implement this bill. We could line item the cost and limit the cost 

per meeting. Most people that would attend the meeting are from Bismarck. How can they 

possibly spend that much money? 

Senator Gary Lee said if we, in section one, eliminate the underscored language, wouldn't that 

eliminate the fiscal note? They are creating a system in subsection 4 of section 1, if we took 

that out they already have the bodies . If we change units to years in section 3 ... 

Chairman Freborg said he thinks it would. 

Senator Gary Lee said the idea is something we should continue to move forward. He 

suggests we amend the bill by taking the underscored language out of section 1, in subsection 

1 and subsection 4; in subsection 3, change the units to years. He is not sure what that 

means but it was referenced in most of the testimony we heard. 
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Senator Flakoll said as an example if you take physical education for one year that is not one 

unit, that may be a quarter unit. 

Senator Taylor said another suggestion is on page 2 line 22 the and be replaced by or and the 

same change on page 3 line 7. 

Senator Bakke said we may have to combine F and G into one line. 

Chairman Freborg said he doesn't believe so. 

Senator Flakoll said on page 1 line 16 we could change coordinating to pursuing alignment 

between ... 

Senator Gary Lee said he doesn't know the intent, it is an awful fine line they are trying to ride, 

leaving coordinating would allow them to do it without a hefty price tag. 

• Chairman Freborg asked what kind of answer he got when he asked about the high cost of the 

meetings? 

Senator Flakoll said he indicated it was based on what they spent the last interim for the P16 

committee. They had some federal funds that were available and we had to provide a match 

so every day there was a meeting, they had to detail how much it would cost to hire the 

members for that day. The public employees and legislators were the only ones who were not 

paid to be there. 

Senator Gary Lee moved the amendment being prepared by the intern, seconded by Senator 

Taylor. 

Senator Gary Lee said it is his intent to have a choice between foreign language or fine arts or 

career technology. 

The motion passed 5 - 0. 

Senator Flakoll moved a Do Pass As Amended and rerefer to appropriations if necessary on 

SB 2309, seconded by Senator Gary Lee. 
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The motion passed 5 - 0. Senator Gary Lee will carry the bill. 
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While in the Senate Education Committee to discuss HB 1260, Tom Decker, Department of 

Public Instruction, distributed copies of Gary Gronberg's House testimony on SB 2309, dealing 

with adding members of the P16 task force to the North Dakota Commission on Education. 

- Mr. Decker had discussed this with the committee last week and thought they would be 

interested in the testimony. (Written testimony attached) 

• 
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Amendment to: Engrossed 
SB 2309 

FISCAL NOTE 
Requested by Legislative Council 

04/23/2007 

1 A. State fiscal effect: Identify the state fiscal effect and the fiscal effect on agency appropriations compared to 
~ d. I I d un ma eves an aooropriations anticipated under current law. 

2005-2007 Biennium 2007-2009 Biennium 2009-2011 Biennium 
General Other Funds General Other Funds General Other Funds 

Fund Fund Fund 
Revenues $C $0 $( $C $C $0 

Expenditures $C $0 $75,00C $C $C $0 

Appropriations $C $0 $( $C $C $0 

1B. Countv, citv, and school district fiscal effect: Identify the fiscal effect on the aoorooriate political subdivision. 
2005-2007 Biennium 2007-2009 Biennium 2009-2011 Biennium 

School School School 
Counties Cities Districts Counties Cities Districts Counties Cities Districts 

$1 $( $( $( $ $• $ $( $0 

2A. Bill and fiscal impact summary: Provide a brief summary of the measure, including description of the 
provisions having fiscal impact (limited to 300 characters). 

This bill establishes high school graduation requirements effective 2008-09, 2009-10, and 2011-12. It requires the 
Department of Public Instruction work with schools to identify courses that meet requirements for graduation and that 
schools notify the department of local graduation requirements . 

B. Fiscal impact sections: Identify and provide a brief description of the sections of the measure which 
have fiscal impact. Include any assumptions and comments relevant to the analysis. 

An estimated $75,000 would be needed for holding three to four meetings of a statewide selected group to analyze 
course content, standards, and alignment. 

3. State fiscal effect detail: For information shown under state fiscal effect in 1A, please: 
A. Revenues: Explain the revenue amounts. Provide detail, when appropriate, for each revenue type and 

fund affected and any amounts included in the executive budget. 

None. 

B. Expenditures: Explain the expenditure amounts. Provide detail, when appropriate, for each agency, line 
item, and fund affected and the number of FTE positions affected. 

See 2B above. 

C. Appropriations: Explain the appropriation amounts. Provide detail, when appropriate, for each agency 
and fund affected. Explain the relationship between the amounts shown for expenditures and 
appropriations. Indicate whether the appropriation is also included in the executive budget or relates to a 
continuing appropriation. 

None. 

Name: Gary Gronberg & Anita Decker gency: Public Instruction 
Phone Number: 328-1240 & 328-1718 04/23/2007 
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Amendment to: Engrossed 
SB 2309 

FISCAL NOTE 
Requested by Legislative Council 

0411312007 

1A. State fiscal effect: Identify the state fiscal effect and the fiscal effect on agency appropriations compared to 
~ d. I I d . /" . un ma eves an annroona ions ant1cwated under current law. 

2005-2007 Biennium 2007-2009 Biennium 2009-2011 Biennium 
General Other Funds General Other Funds General Other Funds 

Fund Fund Fund 
Revenues $( $( $( $C $0 $0 

Expenditures $( $( $75,00( $C $0 $0 

Appropriations $ $ $1 $C $0 $0 

1B. Countv, citv, and school district fiscal effect: ldentifv the fiscal effect on the annrooriate political subdivision. 
2005-2007 Biennium 2007-2009 Biennium 2009-2011 Biennium 

School School School 
Counties Cities Districts Counties Cities Districts Counties Cities Districts 

$1 $( $( $( $ $1 $1 $ $0 

2A. Bill and fiscal impact summary: Provide a brief summary of the measure, including description of the 
provisions having fiscal impact (limited to 300 characters). 

This bill establishes high school graduation requirements effective 2008-2009. It also requires that the Department of 
Public Instruction work with school districts to identify courses that meet requirements for graduation and that schools 
notify the department of local graduation requirements . 

B. Fiscal impact sections: Identify and provide a brief description of the sections of the measure which 
have fiscal impact. Include any assumptions and comments relevant to the analysis. 

An estimated $75,000 would be needed for holding three to four meetings of a statewide selected group to analyze 
course content, standards, and alignment. 

3. State fiscal effect detail: For information shown under state fiscal effect in 1A, please: 
A. Revenues: Explain the revenue amounts. Provide detail, when appropriate, for each revenue type and 

fund affected and any amounts included in the executive budget. 

None. 

B. Expenditures: Explain the expenditure amounts. Provide detail, when appropriate, for each agency, line 
item, and fund affected and the number of FTE positions affected. 

See 2B above. 

C. Appropriations: Explain the appropriation amounts. Provide detail, when appropriate, for each agency 
and fund affected. Explain the relationship between the amounts shown for expenditures and 
appropriations. Indicate whether the appropriation is also included in the executive budget or relates to a 
continuing appropriation. 

None. 

Name: Gary Gronberg & Anita Decker gency: Public Instruction 
- i:..P.:.:hc::o.:.:nc::e..:.N:.:u:.:.m:..:b:::e:.:r..:.: __ __:3:.:2:.:8:...·1:..:2:...4:..:0:..:&::...:::32:::8:...·..:.17:...1.:..:8=----....r:D:.:a:.:t..:.e..:.P..:.re::,pe:.:a:.:r..:.ed..:.:=---=0-'4Icc1-=3:..:l2:.:0-=0.:.7 _________ ~_ 



• 

Amendment to: Engrossed 
SB 2309 

FISCAL NOTE 
Requested by Legislative Council 

03/16/2007 

1 A. State fiscal effect: Identify the state fiscal effect and the fiscal effect on agency appropriations compared to 

" undina levels and aooropriations anticipated under current law. 
2005-2007 Biennium 2007-2009 Biennium 2009-2011 Biennium 

General Other Funds General Other Funds General Other Funds 
Fund Fund Fund 

Revenues $0 $( $C $C $ $0 

Expenditures $0 $( $C $C $ $0 

Appropriations $0 $( $C $C $ $0 

18. Countv, citv, and school district fiscal effect: Identify the fiscal effect on the aooropriate political subdivision. 
2005-2007 Biennium 2007-2009 Biennium 2009-2011 Biennium 

School School School 
Counties Cities Districts Counties Cities Districts Counties Cities Districts 

$1 $( $( $( $1 $1 $1 $ 

2A. Bill and fiscal impact summary: Provide a brief summary of the measure, including description of the 
provisions having fiscal impact (limited to 300 characters). 

The bill increases the number of units required for high school graduation by one unit for 2009-10 and adds two 
additional units for 2011-12 . 

B. Fiscal impact sections: Identify and provide a brief description of the sections of the measure which 
have fiscal impact. Include any assumptions and comments relevant to the analysis. 

Costs associated would be minimal since these courses are currently required to be offered by schools in NDCC 
15.1-21-02 and current staffing would be adequate in most school districts. 

3. State fiscal effect detail: For information shown under state fiscal effect in 1A, please: 
A. Revenues: Explain the revenue amounts. Provide detail, when appropriate, for each revenue type and 

fund affected and any amounts included in the executive budget. 

None. 

B. Expenditures: Explain the expenditure amounts. Provide detail, when appropriate, for each agency, fine 
item, and fund affected and the number of FTE positions affected. 

See impact under 2A above. 

C. Appropriations: Explain the appropriation amounts. Provide detail, when appropriate, for each agency 
and fund affected. Explain the relationship between the amounts shown for expenditures and 
appropriations. Indicate whether the appropriation is also included in the executive budget or relates to a 
continuing appropriation. 

None. 

Name: Gary Gronberg & Anita Decker gency: Public Instruction . 

Phone Number: 328-1240 & 328-1718 0311612007 

$0 



FISCAL NOTE 
Requested by Legislative Council 

02/01/2007 

• Amendment to: SB 2309 

• 

1 A. State fiscal effect: Identify the state fiscal effect and the fiscal effect on agency appropriations compared to 
fundina levels and annrooriations anticioated under current law. 

2005-2007 Biennium 2007-2009 Biennium 2009-2011 Biennium 
General Other Funds General Other Funds General Other Funds 

Fund Fund Fund 
Revenues $C $C $C $C $1 $0 
Expenditures $C $C $( $C $C $0 
Appropriations $C $C $( $C $C $0 

18. Countv, citv, and school district fiscal effect: Identify the fiscal effect on the aooropriate political subdivision. 
2005-2007 Biennium 2007-2009 Biennium 2009-2011 Biennium 

School School School 
Counties Cities Districts Counties Cities Districts Counties Cities Districts 

$ $1 $1 $1 $1 $( $0 $C 

2A. Bill and fiscal impact summary: Provide a brief summary of the measure, including description of the 
provisions having fiscal impact (limited to 300 characters). 

Section 1 increases the number of units required for high school graduation by one unit for 2009-10 and adds two 
additional units for 2011-12. Section 2 lists requirements that a student must successfully complete to graduate. 

B. Fiscal impact sections: Identify and provide a brief description of the sections of the measure which 
have fiscal impact. Include any assumptions and comments relevant to the analysis. 

$0 

Costs under Section 1 would be minimal since these courses are currently required to be offered by schools in NDCC 
15. 1-21-02 and current staffing would be adequate in most school districts. There would be no additional costs under 
Section 2 until the 2011-13 biennium. 

3. State fiscal effect detail: For information shown under state fiscal effect in 1A, please: 
A. Revenues: Explain the revenue amounts. Provide detail, when appropriate, for each revenue type and 

fund affected and any amounts included in the executive budget. 

None. 

B. Expenditures: Explain the expenditure amounts. Provide detail, when appropriate, for each agency, line 
item, and fund affected and the number of FTE positions affected. 

See impact under 2A above. 

C. Appropriations: Explain the appropriation amounts. Provide detail, when appropriate, for each agency 
and fund affected. Explain the relationship between the amounts shown for expenditures and 
appropriations. Indicate whether the appropriation is also included in the executive budget or relates to a 
continuing appropriation. 

None. 

Name: Gary Gronberg & Anita Decker gency: Public Instruction 
Phone Number: 328-1240 & 328-1718 Date Prepared: 0210212007 



FISCAL NOTE 
Requested by Legislative Council 
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1 A. State fiscal effect: Identify the state fiscal effect and the fiscal effect on agency appropriations compared to 
fundina levels and aooropriations anticipated under current law. 

2005-2007 Biennium 2007-2009 Biennium 2009-2011 Biennium 
General Other Funds General Other Funds General Other Funds 

Fund Fund Fund 
Revenues $( $C $0 $( $( $0 

Expenditures $( $C $300,000 $( $( $0 

Appropriations $( $C $300,000 $( $( $0 

1B. Countv, city, and school district fiscal effect: Identify the fiscal effect on the aooropriate political subdivision. 
2005-2007 Biennium 2007-2009 Biennium 2009-2011 Biennium 

School School School 
Counties Cities Districts Counties Cities Districts Counties Cities Districts 

$1 $1 $1 $1 $1 $1 $1 $1 $0 

2A. Bill and fiscal impact summary: Provide a brief summary of the measure, including description of the 
provisions having fiscal impact (limited to 300 characters). 

This bill provides for creating alignment between K-12 schools and colleges. Further it increases the number of units 
required for high school graduation and extends into the 2013-2015 biennium in defining high school courses required 
for graduation. 

B. Fiscal impact sections: Identify and provide a brief description of the sections of the measure which 
have fiscal impact. Include any assumptions and comments relevant to the analysis. 

During the 2007-2009 biennium, aligning entrance and exit requirements across two separate educational systems 
will require a minimum of 12 meetings at approximately $25,000 per meeting to bring requisite stakeholders together. 
Until the work of the alignment group is completed, it is extremely difficult to estimate costs for Section 3. Costs under 
Section 2 would be minimal since current staffing would be adequate in most school districts. 

3. State fiscal effect detail: For information shown under state fiscal effect in 1A, please: 
A. Revenues: Explain the revenue amounts. Provide detail, when appropriate, for each revenue type and 

fund affected and any amounts included in the executive budget. 

None. 

B. Expenditures: Explain the expenditure amounts. Provide detail, when appropriate, for each agency, line 
item, and fund affected and the number of FTE positions affected. 

Bringing the appropriate stakeholders together across the biennium will require up to 12 meetings. Each meeting will 
cost about $25,000-including travel, lodging, meals, printing, outside experts, and facilitation. 

C. Appropriations: Explain the appropriation amounts. Provide detail, when appropriate, for each agency 
and fund affected. Explain the relationship between the amounts shown for expenditures and 
appropriations. Indicate whether the appropriation is also included in the executive budget or relates to a 
continuing appropriation . 

Funding is from general fund moneys. This expenditure is neither in the Governor's budget nor in the budget of the 
Department of Public Instruction. It is currently a one-time expenditure. 

Name: Gary Gronberg & Anita Decker gency: Public Instruction 
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Proposed amendment to Senate Bill 2309 

Page 1, line 16, remove the overstrike through "Coordinating" and remove "Pursuing 
alignment between" 

Page 1, remove lines 22-24 

Page 2, line 17, replace "units" with "years" 

Page 2, line 18, replace "units" with "years" 

Page 2, line 19, replace "units" with "years" 

Page 2, line 20, replace "units" with "years" 

Page 2, line 21, replace "unit" with "year" 

Page 2, line 22, replace "unit" with "year", insert a comma immediately after foreign, 
remove "or", replace": and" with "one year of fine arts or one year of career and 
technical education." 

Page 2, remove line 23 

Page 2, line 27, replace "units" with "years" 

Page 2, line 28, replace "units" with "years" 

Page 2, line 29, replace "units" with "years" 

Page 2, line 30, replace "units" with "years" 

Page 2, line 31, replace "unit" with "year" 

Page 3, line I, replace "unit" with "year", insert a comma immediately after foreign, 
remove "or", replace"; and" with "two years of fine arts or two years of career and 
technical education." 

Page 3, remove line 2 
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Senators Yes No Senators Yes 
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Senator Flakoll V Senator Bakke ,,, 
Senator Garv Lee V 

No 
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Yes __ __,S=------ No _o __________ _ 

0 
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REPORT OF STANDING COMMITTEE (410) 
January 31, 2007 1 :04 p.m. 

Module No: SR-21-1633 
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Insert LC: 70698.0101 Tltle: .0200 

REPORT OF STANDING COMMITTEE 
SB 2309: Education Committee (Sen. Freborg, Chairman) recommends AMENDMENTS 

AS FOLLOWS and when so amended, recommends DO PASS and BE 
REREFERRED to the Appropriations Committee (5 YEAS, 0 NAYS, 0 ABSENT AND 
NOT VOTING). SB 2309 was placed on the Sixth order on the calendar. 

Page 1, line 3, replace "sections 15.1-01-02 and" with "section" 

Page 1, line 4, remove "and student proficiency" 

Page 1, remove lines 6 through 24 

Page 2, line 17, replace "units" with "years" 

Page 2, line 18, replace "units" with "years" 

Page 2, line 19, replace "units" with "years" 

Page 2, line 20, replace "units" with "years" 

Page 2, line 21, replace "unit" with "year" and after the underscored semicolon insert "and" 

Page 2, line 22, replace "unit" with "year" and replace ": and" with ", fine arts, or career and 
technical education." 

Page 2, remove line 23 

Page 2, line 27, replace "units" with "years" 

Page 2, line 28, replace "units" with "years" 

Page 2, line 29, replace "units" with "years" 

Page 2, line 30, replace "units" with "years" 

Page 2, line 31, replace "unit" with "year" and after the underscored semicolon insert "and" 

Page 3, line 1, replace "units" with "years" and replace ": and" with ". fine arts. or career and 
technical education." 

Page 3, remove line 2 

Renumber accordingly 

(21 DESK, (3) COMM Page No. 1 SA-21-1633 
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Bill/Resolution No. 2309 

Senate Appropriations Committee 

D Check here for Conference Committee 

Hearing Date: 02/06/07 

Recorder Job Number: 2309 

Committee Clerk Signature 

Minutes: 

Chairman Holmberg opened the hearing on SB 2309. 

Senator Dave Nething, District 12, Jamestown, introduced SB 2309 indicating that the bill 

came about as a result of learning 50 percent of college freshmen in the US take remedial 

- education particularly in the areas of math and science. ND is 34 percent of college freshmen 

take remedial education and we want to find a way to reduce that number. The fiscal note 

should indicate what the cost of the remedial education is in ND. The P16 study called for 

looking into this issue and what appears in the original bill. If the students had the preparation 

they need and they could complete college in four years. 

Chairman Holmberg indicated that the last time there was a change in graduation 

requirements is when the university system instigated them. This bill would require that by 

2012 the requirements would change. 

Senator Tallackson raised the question of completing college in four years and it was 

indicated that several factors go into students not completing in four years and this is just one 

factor. 

Senator Holmberg indicated it is the rigors of the high school curriculum that creates the 

better and more successful student. 
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Gary Romberg, Assistant Superintendent, Department of Public Instruction, testified 

indicating the fiscal impact was difficult to put in place and that part of what is going on is that 

last session the legislature established the number of units needed for high school graduation 

and this was excised from the last requirements. This bill says what the high school must offer 

with 23 units over a four year high school education and this bill states what the student must 

take in order to successfully complete high school, 21 units are now required to increase in the 

future. Thereby, the fiscal note was hard to determine. 

Senator Grindberg raised questions about section two and the spring of 2013 requirements 

and why there aren't more people here. The response was all of the significant groups were 

represented during the P16 process. 

Senator Bowman indicated that when students are forced to take certain classes, the 

- appropriation part of the bill will come on. This bill in his opinion is a way to get the bill passed 

and then we will have costs to come up with costs. The response was the classes are already 

offered and the instruction needs to be provided therefore there is no additional cost except 

maybe textbooks. 

Senator Holmberg indicated this is a way of reducing electives so the students will take the 

required courses. 

Senator Christmann questioned having 24 mandatory classes in four years, what does this 

allow for electives. 

Senator Mathern discussed the fiscal note and why it was in this committee .. 

Chairman Holmberg indicated the original bill had a fiscal note of $300,000 and by the time it 

got to this committee it was edited out. 

• Senator Krauter asked if it was new language on the back of the bill. 
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Senator Lindaas asked if we are taking into consideration that not all students have the same 

academic ability. He also indicated there is a bill that requires students remaining in school 

until the age of 18 and the requirements reach a point of having 5 years of high school to 

accomplish this. The response was this won't allow a lot of flexible time either to work 

afternoons or other things. 

Deb Nielson, ND School Board Association, testified in support of SB 2309 indicating there 

will be a fiscal impact and until we know the we can't put this bill into place. We have 

supported the concept from the beginning is that all of these ideas have to go before the 

governor's commission next biennium defining adequacy, defining what an adequate 

education is, define what that will cost and how much the state is willing to pay. The concept 

of all the ideas needs to be defined. 

- Leann Nelson, ND Education Association, indicated they support the conceptual points of 

the bill, but they don't support the addition of course work. Some concerns include changing 

the mandatory age to18, the course work requirements, the funding piece, the increases of 

class sizes, the increases in costs that will come immediately. 

Mike Hillman, Vice Chairman, ND University System, distributed the position of the SBHE 

regarding P-16 (1) and The Expectations Gap and discussed both documents. He responded 

to what it takes to be prepared for college and for the work force. Both are potentially the 

same. He indicated when expectations are raised, students actually stay in high school and 

graduate, go on to higher education, and go into more challenging jobs. 

Chairman Holmberg closed the hearing on SB 2309. 

Senator Grindberg moved a DO PASS on SB 2309, Senator Mathern seconded. There 

- was no discussion. A roll call vote was taken resulting in 12 yes, 0 no, and 2 absent. 

Senator Gary Lee will carry the bill. 
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Insert LC: . Title: . 

SB 2309, as engrossed: Appropriations Committee (Sen. Holmberg, Chairman) 
recommends DO PASS (12 YEAS, O NAYS, 2 ABSENT AND NOT VOTING). 
Engrossed SB 2309 was placed on the Eleventh order on the calendar . 
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House Education Committee 
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Minutes: 

Vice Chairman Meier opened the hearing of SB 2309. 

Senator Dave Nething, District 12, introduced the bill. This bill relates to improving high 

school requirements. Nationwide 50% of college students require some form of remedial 

• education. In ND we are at about 34%. It's still a very high number. The P-16 was 

concerned about this as well as are other folks. What I tried to do in the original bill was to 

mirror what the P-16 study indicated. This bill was amended in the Senate and I didn't see 

where the amendments materially affect the objectives of what the bill was. I believe that if we 

make these improvements to our requirements we could possibly see a college student finish 

in four years because they won't spend so much time in remedial. I also want to remind you 

of how expensive remedial is. When you have 34% basically not taking college course, they 

are taking courses that prepare them for college. I hope this Committee will see fit to continue 

to move this bill through. 

Representative Solberg: On line 13, page 2, I have 8 small schools in my district, so it 

would be up to the schools to teach the two years of foreign language. Is that correct? 

Senator Nething: This bill doesn't say that. The intent is that there are other options out 

there for teaching. I don't know if your schools are hooked into the interactive television 

systems. That's one way of doing it. They can co-op with another school to do it. We don't 
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say how they do it. Each school is going to have to make that determination. I think you 

students are just as important as any one else when they go to college and they should be 

prepared when they get there. Because your parents in your district are paying just like they 

are in my district and for them to take remedial education because they are not getting it in 

your schools is not fair to the parents. 

Representative Hunskor: Let's talk about math. In those smaller schools and maybe 

medium sized schools would be forced in time to offer the students that graduate would have 

to have four years of math and if it's a college math we are talking advanced algebra, 

geometry, and advanced math, and there are many kids in those schools that couldn't cut the 

mustard in those classes, so they would have some general math and other math to 

accommodate all the students which would mean the possibility of offering six, seven, even 

eight math classes per year. That would put a strain on smaller schools and having the staff 

and the facilities to accommodate that. 

Senator Nething: Again, if they are not prepared for college as they are expected to be 

prepared then they start behind the eight ball so some how we have to find a balance to make 

it work. 

Representative Hunskor: What do these schools do to accommodate that situation? I'm 

fully aware of the fact that they should be prepared and these things are good but is ii going to 

put a strain on them. 

Senator Nething: It may. I talked to a student the other day and she said our schools are 8 

miles apart and I don't know how long we'll be apart, we have 14 in high school in this school 

and they have something like 18 in the other school. Eight miles apart and they haven't 

• consolidated? I want that to be a local decision but someplace along the line all these folks 

are going to have to decide what they want for their students if they want to go to college. I 
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don't pretend to be an administrator so I won't tell you how they are going break it out but each 

school is going to have its own concerns. There's no question about it. 

Representative Herbel: The biggest thing I see about the bill is for the student that is really a 

marginal student and can't pass four years of math and four years of science. That's usually 

the area where toughest part is for kids. What do we do for those kids? 

Senator Nething: I would guess that student wouldn't go to college. 

Representative Herbel: But he is still going to have to graduate from high school. 

Senator Nething: It will probably take him a little longer. We're not saying which math 

courses they have to be. We are just saying they gotta be prepared for college. I don't know 

what the alternatives would be but you could keep your eye on what the goal is and there are 

tough decisions, there's no question about it. Thirty-four percent of our students needing 

remedial math and science courses the fact is there is a tremendous expense to what we are 

doing now. 

Representative Herbel: I have seen how so many kids struggle to get through the first three 

years that I can't imagine that if there is a fourth year being offered those kids . . . . I agree 

with what your intent here is. I think too we need to get kids better prepared. My concern is 

for those that don't have the skills and don't have the ability. What do we do for them? There 

is no leeway for that type of thing here. 

Senator Nething: Keep in mind this is seven years down the road. Hopefully by then we'll 

have worked through those things. I don't know the answers to it. Someone ought to ask the 

question where the math teachers are going to come from. That's as important to me as 

anything else. I initially wanted to tie this into some scholarship efforts so we could shift 

- students into wanting to become math teachers and science teachers but they told me they 

already had those programs in place. 
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Representative Mueller: I do applaud the intent of the bill but I do see some technical 

issues. In "can't be admitted to an institution of higher education in the state" it's obvious that 

the UND would be among those but are we also talking about the state school of science, 

MSU Bottineau, Akkers Business College, are those all institutions that would be affected by 

the bill? 

Senator Nething: When we think of higher education it is the community colleges and 

baccalaureate colleges and our advanced degree universities and colleges. I don't know 

about the business college. 

Representative Mueller: Some of our institutions, and maybe we had ought to have more of 

them, are specifically designed as trade schools and those things that someone may have an 

aptitude be it electrical work or carpentry and certainly some of the requirements that we 

asking of these students even currently in schools aren't necessarily ones that lend 

themselves well to that specific more narrow vocation and I'm wondering if that is the intent of 

what it is we are doing with 2309. 

Senator Nething: They may need it even more in some of our community courses. If you 

were to go out to Bismarck State and look at the training they give to run a power plant for 

example you would think you would need a higher degree. I don't know. We are trying to 

compete in global market and we're losing in the education aspect of that because we are 

spending a lot of extra money in college getting our students ready to compete in a global 

market. That's got to be the vision. Where are these students going to go, not what is the 

problem today in the classroom? We've have to figure out a way to take care of that. 

Representative Wall: Does this bill assume that all students need a four-year degree? 

- Senator Nething: No. Our university system isn't structured that way either. 

Representative Wall: If that is not the case it seems there should be substitutions in here. 
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Senator Nething: I can only say from what I've seen, and it's limited, the community colleges 

need to have the student prepared as well as possible just like the liberal arts colleges do. 

That's for the benefit of the students. You don't want to handicap your students. We're 

making it too easy in the sense they have the choice to make and they don't want to make the 

choice that's the beneficial to them it appears. That's the proof of the pudding. 

Representative Hunskor: Let's take MSU Bottineau where they offer courses like golf 

course design, some practical nursing courses, a lot of those folks as Representative Herbel 

alluded to, can't handle all the math and all the sciences but they could go to small college and 

do very, very well. I have a problem with what happens to those kids. 

Senator Nething: I wasn't part of the P-16 study. I think your chairman was and she may be 

able to answer those questions. You do mention the nursing. My wife is a nurse and she 

had and needed a heavy science background. Just because someone takes a 2-yr course to 

start with doesn't mean that in a few years they may not want to go into the full nursing 

program and that's where the background they have in the sciences will be of benefit to them. 

Neutral Testimony: 

Wayne Kutzer, director of the Department of Career and Technical Education. 

(Testimony Attached.) 

Representative Mueller: Did the deleted part reference what you have outlined to us and 

how to fulfill the math requirements for the example given. 

Kutzer: It started to when it got to the duties of the joint boards and how they would operate. 

It added the section I'm talking about aligning. It didn't go quite far enough so there was an 

amendment offered to establish this alignment commission. There was a fiscal note on the 

original bill and I believe it was $300.0. That was adjusted down and all of that was left out of 

the bill. I can sure get a copy of those things to you. 
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Representative Herbel: Because of the continuity going from Algebra I to Algebra II, the first 

half of the year is almost a review so you can set up the second half. So for the most part you 

would end up just being a repeat of the latter part of Algebra I. This kind of waters it down. I'd 

like your comments on that. 

Kutzer: The main emphasis of the Ml was the fact that the student had math content. 

Whether Algebra II is the signature course that is needed, what this lays out is a process 

where there is flexibility for all students. They can design the curriculum around what they 

need in terms of a math. That's what I was trying to bring out-flexibility. 

Chairman Kelsch: One thing I find interesting about Ml and it's something I get calls and 

complaints about all the time, is the fact that we could take Algebra I in the eighth grade and it 

would count. Is that something that you think it would be good for us to be looking at as well? 

Kutzer: Generally speaking, yes. I think it would be good. That's something the alignment 

committee could be doing. 

Representative C. B. Haas, District 36, testified on the bill. I wasn't going to get up and 

speak on this bill but I really feel like I have to. It's difficult for me to understand why we can't 

embrace something that is going to advantage our students as they leave high school rather 

than disadvantage them. We think of math and science courses only in traditional terms. We 

have to start thinking beyond that. There is any number of applied math courses, applied 

sciences courses that teach math or science content that are absolutely essential.for jobs and 

occupations other than jobs or occupations that requires a baccalaureate degree. I can give 

you an example. In Dickinson I lived next to a gentleman who was an apprentice electrician 

and he was trying to prepare himself to take the journeyman test. He was woefully inadequate 

in mathematics. I tutored him in specific mathematics that related to electricity. It enabled 

him to learn a specific set of math concepts that enabled him to take the test and become a 
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journeyman electrician. What I'm saying is that the sky is the limit on the types of math 

courses and science courses that could be designed that would benefit our students even if 

they are not going to a four-year institution. It is absolutely deplorable that the high school 

education system in the state of ND produces 32% of its graduates that have to take remedial 

education at the university level. That's also at the postsecondary voe tech schools. I don't 

think that's acceptable. There are ways we can come up with alternative courses that will 

teach the math and science concepts that are necessary for our kids to succeed even if they 

don't go to a postsecondary voe tech school or a four-year institution. Even if they become an 

apprentice plumber or electrician or some other field that is a well-paid trade, it will enable 

these young people to advance in whatever profession they choose. We need to strengthen 

these requirements . 

Representative Herbel: I'm not as familiar as what available in the JPAs, but would there be 

enough available in all JPAs to cover the situation if this adopted. 

Representative Haas: I think that's entirely possible. I think it's entirely possible when it 

comes to the foreign language requirements in here. We have to start thinking about 

alternative ways of delivering these courses to our kids. Maybe a good amount of it is going 

to be on line. We passed a bill here where we wanted DPI to start establishing a procedure 

whereby kids can take online courses from out-of-state online schools and get credit for them. 

We want it to be legitimate, valuable, and accredited institutions that provide this training. I 

don't think about all of the possibilities of doing this. We need to enact something like this to 

set the framework so that those conversations and debates can begin. 

Representative Hanson: The drop out in ND has been increasing over the past few years. 

Do you think this will increase it more? 
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Representative Haas: No. I do not. I taught vocational agriculture and I had to teach kids 

how to balance a ration by calculating the volume of different types of materials when they 

were mixing concrete, etc. One particular example comes to my mind. When I had a class of 

sophomores who may have had a particular course in algebra and I taught them how to 

balance rations I was solving algebraic equations with two unknowns. As soon as those kids 

could see that there was some value, some meaning, some purpose for learning how to use 

and solve an algebraic equation with two unknowns, they caught on immediately. They did 

not forget that. They were balancing rations for their pigs and their cows on their farms. It's 

applied math. If you can provide a course that is going to be designed in such a way that it 

caters to a particular student's interest, they will learn the math concepts. Those are 

legitimate math courses . 

Bev Nielson, ND School Boards Association, testified on behalf of the bill. (Testimony 

Attached.) 

Chairman Kelsch: There is going to be a study put on to a bill. (She read excerpts.) Would 

that suffice? 

Nielson: That would be with the addition of the estimated cost for the capacity for delivering 

that type of program. 

Mike Hillman, vice chancellor for Academic and Student Affairs, ND University System, 

testified on behalf of the bill. I became a member of the P-16 Task Force and after 9 

months of intense discussion, the Task Force did not discern any difference in the 

requirements between the preparation for college and the preparation for entering the 

workforce. The eight private sector members of the Task Force were insisting on having 

higher skill levels coming out of high school. We had one employer who feels they have to 

administer a basic math exam to recent high school graduates that come to work for them 
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because students graduating from high school don't have the basic requirements they are 

looking for. I do think there is a need that has been well described with the global competition 

with science and technology being a key part of that and with mathematics really being the 

language of science and technology, we really need to ramp up particularly with mathematics 

instruction in our high schools. There is a lot of concern with students who won't be able to 

take four years of math successfully. I think ND is in the best position of any state to offer four 

years of math in high school. If you look at the environment of students before they enter 

school, the percentage of parents that read to their children before they come to school and 

the percentage of parents with college degrees, the percentage of families that are at least 

twice the poverty level, ND is at or near the top of the country in those non-school related 

factors. If you look at the NAPE test in the 4th grade, we are at or near the top of the country 

in achievement. If you look at the exam ion 8th grade, ND performance is near the top of the 

country. However something happens or doesn't happen as Superintendent Paul Johnson of 

Bismarck says, there's a disconnect in high school. By the time our students graduate from 

high school they have lost some of that achievement. If you look at our SAT scores, we're just 

slightly above the national average. Every major report focuses on what happens or doesn't 

happen in high school. That needs to be ramped up. The expectations clearly need to be 

increased. There is a question about if those students drop out with these higher 

requirements. Actually the experience in other states has been that when students are 

challenged they actually stay in school as they find it more meaningful. More students 

graduate and more students go on and become successful. One state I will use as an 

example is Oklahoma. They increased their requirement and they found that ACT scores 

rose, rigorous course taking increased particularly among minority students, student 

educational aspirations have risen, college attendance rates go up, college remediation rates 
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dropped and probably most importantly, the gaps between and among demographic 

subgroups have narrowed. Everyone's achievement goes up but those at bottom showed the 

largest achievement. I do think it is important that bill does discuss years and not units. We 

require at the universities three math for admission. By the time they enter college some have 

not had mathematics for three years. What happens when you don't practice mathematics 

skills? Those skills decline and that really contributes to the large number of remedial 

students. I think the way the bill is worded with "years" accommodates many flexible 

situations. We need to focus on preparing students when they exit high school for college or a 

challenging work requirement. When they haven't taken those courses in two years, they are 

not really prepared. I do need to point out one problem with the bill and that is that the state 

constitution does require the university system to have open admission at some level in the 

state. The state board of higher education does define that at the 2-year campuses. We 

would suggest that be amended out. We receive a number of students in college that don't 

come directly out of high school. They may have graduated two, five or ten years ago. For 

practical purposes I suggest those changes be made. 

Representative Mueller: The specific language would have deleted is what? 

Hillman: Page 1, line 20, the words "or be admitted to an institution of higher education in this 

state" also the same language on Page 2, line 6. 

Doug Johnson, ND Council of Educational Leaders testified neutral on the bill. When 

this bill was initially introduced on the Senate side we were opposed to it with the 

engrossments that have been made to the bill we have moved to a neutral position. Some of 

the concerns that school boards have, we have the same. The majority of high schools are 

- meeting the 22 credit requirement. There are a few at 21 but I do not think the way section 1 

of the currently written bill is going to impact significantly the school districts. We do have 
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concerns with section 2 in that it is premature to be introduced in this bill. Our 

recommendation would be to put in as part of 2200 and have the Commission do research on 

the bill or attach it to HCR 3012 which is looking at the funding of education. Study this for 

adoption at a later date. The fiscal note says there is no fiscal impact in the future. I think 

there will be fiscal impact to particularly the small school districts as you add courses you 

might have to add teachers so there might be fiscal impact. A concern that I have on section 

2. 1. f. about whether the word "or" should be inserted in those selections. 

Representative Herbel: Are the JPAs equipped right now to offer these math courses? Will 

they be ready? 

Johnson: I think when they go in to effect they will be equipped through ITV or perhaps 

traveling teachers. I have not heard the discussion on this specific bill and these particular 

issues. I think they will be able to gear up for that. Are they ready now; I don't have a clear 

answer for you. 

Representative Hanson: If a student failed a course along the way would it be a burden on 

him to try to get caught up with all these extra units? 

Johnson: If a high school offers seven classes you got 28 units you can take in a four-year 

period of time. They have 6 options to retake courses at 22 credits; at 24 they only have 4. 

That is assuming all students would take a full schedule of seven classes all four years of high 

school. Going to 24 credits means every student will be in a classroom 6 periods of a 7 

period day. That's the traditional school day. Some do run an 8 period day with an early bird 

class or an after school class to accommodate the needs of those students. We would 

possibly see an increased need for summer school. 
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Nancy Sands, ND Education Association: We have some of the same concerns that you 

have already heard although we believe that setting high expectations of students is good. 

We would like to see some additional study and that would be our recommendation. 

Pat Anderson, assistant director of School Health, DPI: (Testimony Attached.) The 

written testimony provides an amendment to add one-half unit of health to the requirements. 

Gary Gronberg, assistant superintendent, DPI provided information from the DPI. 

(Testimony Attached.) He proposed a merger of this bill into SB 2200. 

Vice Chairman Meier: Did you make this same proposal to the Senate? 

Gronberg: Yes. 

Representative Mueller: We have had testimony that said that section 1 may be okay and 

section 2 may have some problems. Would you have a problem accepting Section I minus 

Section 2 until such time as the issues you outlined in your testimony are addressed? 

Gronberg: It still wasn't resolved. The Education Commission supported the standards 

based efforts in terms the collision of standards and units. We still have that existing in a bill 

that would define a number of units rather than competency against standards. There was 

also assessment involved in the earlier rendition of this bill having to do with looking at 

students' competencies and skills sets-the outcomes of courses. We think there has to be a 

resolution to that. If you keep something in here regarding units, don't keep references 

regarding standards. There is no resolution on that. We are still trying to hang on to the old as 

we move to a standards based system. There is still a collision of the two systems that need 

to be resolved. 

Chairman Kelsch: Could this alignment commission that you lined out, does that necessarily 

have to be in law or could it an advisory committee that was done similar to the P-16? 

Gronberg: It doesn't have to be in law, but it should be defined somewhere. 
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Representative Wall: On the top of page 4, looking through who you would have on the 

advisory committee and the top one is three individuals appointed by the chairman of the State 

Board of Higher Education to represent the faculty within the ND University System. I agree 

with that. My question is did you consider having three public school teacher or 

superintendents, individuals, because they are important. 

Gronberg: What we found with the P-16 group-that had 38 members on it. That's probably 

too many. In an effort to cut down here, we went to representatives of the various 

organizations rather than large numbers. What we find missing as far as the Governor's 

Education Commission as this point are representation from Higher Education, there are no 

parents, there are no people from the business community that can address knowledge and 

skills necessary for entering into the workforce. We felt those were more important than the 

education people. There are plenty of education people who are going to have their ways to 

mold and mend this. The voices that I think need to help us define what an adequate 

education is are people outside of the education field. 

Representative Hunskor: Following up on that it seems important to have input from the 

high school level. What you would think of saying two individuals from the high school level? 

Gronberg: We aren't married to any of these things. The rationale had to do with that a group 

of 38 begins to get unwieldy. These are just suggestions or thoughts or ideas-something to 

work from. 

There being no further testimony, Chairman Kelsch closed the hearing of SB 2309. 
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Chairman Kelsch opened discussion of SB 2309 

Representative Haas: I Move to Amend by removing on page 1, line 1 "or be admitted 

to an institution of higher education in this state" and on page 2, line 6, "or be admitted 

- to an institution of higher education in this state" and on line 3 after language, the word 

"or," and line 13 after language "or,". 

Representative Sukat: I second. 

Representative Herbel: There was also some talk about eliminating Section 2. Is that still 

something for consideration? 

Chairman Kelsch: That is a consideration and we'll take this amendment first. 

Representative Karls: Why the "or"? 

Chairman Kelsch: They could offer one year of foreign or Native American language or fine 

arts or career and technical education. It was inferred but it wasn't actually laid out. 

A voice vote was taken on the amendment: The motion carried. 

Representative Herbel: I move to amend by removing Section 2. 

Representative Johnson: I second. 

A roll call vote was taken: Yes: 10, No: 2, Absent: 1 (Mueller) 
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Representative Wall: I am not concerned about 2009-10. In 2011-12 when we up to 24 

credits, is this an unfunded mandate that a lot of schools will have trouble meeting by hiring 

extra teachers and developing extra curriculum? Do you think the schools have the 

curriculum in place so they can offer 6 offerings per day? 

Chairman Kelsch: The schools have the curriculum in place. What was said was that 

students will have to take 6 credit hours each semester the four years that they are in high 

school. One of the things discussed in the P-16 commission meetings this summer was a big 

concern by people that students are only taking five classes per day especially in the senior 

year when they are basically absent from school. I think this is one way the commission 

thought they would keep the kids studying and keep those skills strong. There was a question 

about the drop out rate. Other states that have this have not seen an increase in their drop 

out rates. 

Representative Hunskor: This is five years down the road. This can be back again within 

the next five years. Everyone will be thinking about this and if it isn't going to work there will 

be a movement to get it back again. 

Vice Chairman Meier: A concern I have is that we are one of the states that has the lowest 

requirements for high school graduation. Most now require 22. 

Chairman Kelsch: Most are 22 and we are the lowest. 

Vice Chairman Meier: It is time it was addressed. 

Chairman Kelsch: Representative Meier does have a study for the P-16 to continue its work 

and we know that SB 2200 has the Education Commission that will be looking at adequacy 

and the only concern I've heard was from Bev Nielson and I do share that, to have some sort 

of a committee to focus coming up with the proper coursework is and what those requirements 
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should be. The P-16 was put together outside of the legislature. It could be done creatively 

outside of the legislature as well. 

Representative Haas: I'm going to oppose this last motion because I think Representative 

Hunskor is right. How many studies do we have to do before we take some action? P-16 did 

a pretty comprehensive job. If we water this down then people aren't going to pay attention to 

it. If we leave it in there and then people will start thinking about it. It can be modified in 

another two years very easily. I think we have to leave it in there so we focus on it and look at 

alternatives. Maybe this isn't exactly right but if we don't do that it's going to fall by the 

wayside and we'll study it for another two years and then we'll come back and say, "Was that 

study really adequate, maybe we should study it for two more years." There is a time when 

action is required not perpetual studies. 

A voice vote was taken-inconclusive. 

A roll call vote was taken: Yes: 10, No: 2, Absent: 1 (Mueller) 

The amendment was adopted. 

Vice Chairman Meier: I move Do Pass as Amended. 

Representative Myxter: I second. 

A roll call vote was taken: Yes: 7, No: 5, Absent: (Mueller) 

Representative Meier will carry the bill . 
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Senator Gary Lee called the conference committee to order. All members were present. 

Senator Gary Lee said the bill relates to high school graduation requirements. The Senate 

version had specific requirements while the House version removed section 2. He would like 

to hear the explanation for how the House committee made their decision . 

Representative Meier said the House Education Committee removed section 2. They heard 

from school districts this is going too far to do this in the upcoming biennium. They felt it was a 

good start to increase the graduation requirements to 22 for the next biennium and further 2 

more for the next biennium to follow. They felt specific course requirements was going too far. 

Senator Taylor said the Senate version required a change in the 2012 - 2013 biennium. It was 

four years in the future when it left the Senate. The course offerings weren't lined out until 

2012. 

Representative Meier said that is correct. There is an adequacy study that is on the House 

Education side now. They felt strongly the study should be done and the needs determined 

before the requirements are made. 

Senator Gary Lee said the 2012 class that is listed in section 2 is probably the incoming 

• freshmen class for next year. 
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- Senator Flakoll asked if there was a feeling on the House side that there is a problem out there 

in terms of some of the areas such as math and science? 

• 

• 

Representative Hunskor said yes. He talked with all 7 superintendents from his district. 

Section 1 is not a serious problem; section 2 is a serious problem. The story he heard from 

one after another is in math, for example, the academically talented students and non talented 

would be put together in one class. The teacher has to teach to the lower spectrum in order 

for them not to be frustrated because they don't understand. The academically talented are 

then bored. In order to get around this situation, they would have to offer other math classes 

for the academically untalented which would mean the smaller schools would have to hire 

another teacher. This causes some major problems. They also thought this would kill their 

tech and home ec programs. If a student failed a class or two, how would they be 

accommodated? Some kids would drop out if forced to take math and science if they intended 

to become a welder or some other profession that would not require all the math and science. 

To sum it up, they said they are giving the academically talented kids math and science at the 

level they need and they are getting lots of it. For those in the lower quartile, those who 

struggle with math and science, it is going to cause a lot of frustration. 

Senator Flakoll said he is frustrated that we are only teaching the smart kids. Was there any 

discussion on the House side regarding broadening the definition of a math course so that 

consumer math or some business class would count towards the math requirement? 

Representative Meier said she does not recall much discussion about that. 

Representative Hunskor said if those classes are not already being taught, then that would 

require hiring another teacher. 

Senator Flakoll said we have made some significant strides this session to offer alternatives 

such as electronic course delivery or the Division of Independent Study. In the P16 committee 
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• there was also talk about giving students options, requiring three years of math and three 

years of science then giving the option of a science tract or math tract in the fourth year. Was 

this discussed in the House? 

• 

Representative Meier said they did not think about it and they could discuss it. 

Senator Gary Lee asked if the years or the courses were the biggest area of concern. If the 

years were advanced to the following school year in section 2, would that help? It would give 

school districts another year to prepare. The P16 committee had considerable discussion on 

the rigor of curriculum and this information came from that group. It is not a surprise that its 

here in this bill. 

Representative Hunskor asked if something like this is good. We have a broad spectrum of 

schools from Fargo to Wolford. Can we mandate something like this to be a fit for all of them? 

Our academically talented students are getting math and science. The administrators are 

heading their curriculum in that direction. They are doing what they need to do. This won't 

benefit that group, they are already there. It is the lower quartile that will be frustrated. 

Senator Gary Lee said if we are going to increase the requirements to 24, what are they going 

to be taking if they are not going to be filling in with these kinds of courses? 

Representative Hunskor said that is another issue. He understands. 

Representative Wall said one of the problems they saw with these requirements is electives 

would suffer. High school is a time to explore. The school districts will use available staff to 

offer the courses. It may or may not be math or science related courses. 

Senator Flakoll said on the Senate side we have continually heard about the senior year that is 

not productive. They have often fulfilled their required coursework. Has the House heard 

those same things? Will the Senate or House version of this bill help make the senior year 

more productive? 



Page4 
Senate Education Committee 
Bill/Resolution No. 2309 
Hearing Date: March 28, 2007 

• Representative Meier said she has a son who is a junior in high school. He would be almost 

ready to graduate at the end of this year because he has nearly enough credits. She has 

allowed him to make his own decisions and he has chosen to take a full schedule next year, 

even though he wouldn't have to. He is a "blue collar student" who works hard for his grades. 

There are a lot of students who feel the same way. 

Representative Wall said he hears the senior year is a wasted year. As a 24 year teacher of 

seniors, this concerns him. Some schools still require a student to carry a minimum number of 

credits per semester. In his area, most seniors were motivated; some took college classes as 

high school seniors. 

Senator Flakoll said it is about the classes they don't take. Not everyone has the individual 

drive or a family to encourage the selection of rigorous courses. They heard quite often in the 

• P16 commission that many juniors have completed their math requirements so they take no 

math their senior year. They then go on to college and are expected to take math again. It is 

like a finely trained athlete that did not train for a year. It is asking a lot of them with a year off 

the horse. What drove this on the P16 commission is the unacceptable level of remediation 

that is being seen in the University System. Kids want to take the path of least resistance and 

we are doing them a disservice. We have a constitutional requirement to offer education with 

uniform, core requirements. Uniformity is not just a fiscal issue. JPA's can help smaller 

schools with this. He is not ready to let go, we need to provide the basics. His Senate 

colleagues felt if we offer these requirements, we need to broaden the scope of what is a math 

or science course. Many other things beyond algebra would qualify. Many students headed 

for college need help with consumer math such as managing credit card debt. 

Senator Taylor said he has sympathy with the rural schools and maybe some changes in 

timing would help, by moving the deadline two years ahead which would also allow study of 
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• adequacy and to include JPA's. There is a lot of science in agriculture and a lot of math in the 

building trades. He doesn't want to give up on the rural schools. It is important to challenge 

the students. People perform to the level of expectation. 

Representative Meier asked if the Senate had discussion on the effect of this bill on private 

schools. 

Senator Gary Lee said he doesn't recall such a discussion but they would be covered under 

the terms of non-public schools. 

Representative Hunskor said the P16 message is getting out to schools. They know students 

need to gear up. Schools are asking what more they can do, their funds are limited. In smaller 

schools, kids are in 6 classes per day. He suggested that some of the remedial work in 

college is a result of students going on to college who shouldn't be there. They should 

- perhaps be at Wahpeton or Devils Lake. 

Senator Flakoll said Wahpeton and Devils Lake are colleges, too. High school graduates are 

not as fully prepared as the colleges would like to see. We should not set up the "haves" and 

the "have nots". 

Senator Gary Lee asked if any of the courses listed are acceptable, could some be put off for a 

while? 

Representative Hunskor said schools are doing 4 years of English now. Four years of science 

is not a huge issue. Math is a huge issue. 

Senator Gary Lee asked about social studies, physical education and language. Is the 

challenge in the time table? 

Representative Hunskor said math is the biggest challenge. 
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• Representative Meier said she wanted to visit with the superintendent of the Bismarck Public 

Schools and was unable to reach him. When the conference committee meets next, she will 

have visited with him and can share his thoughts with the committee. 

• 

Senator Gary Lee asked the committee to consider some suggestions and adjourned the 

meeting until the call of the chair. 
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Senator Gary Lee called the conference committee on SB 2309 to order. All members were 

present. 

Representative Hunskor said as a math teacher for 35 years in a small school, he has three 

comments to make. All students are not equipped in pre-calculus. Many would prefer to take 

classes in English or other subjects. Small schools would need to hire an extra halftime 

teacher to fulfill these requirements. All students should have access to courses and that 

would not happen with this bill. Students and their parents should chart their high school 

career based on their goals. The academically talented are already doing it. We are not yet 

ready for an academic mandate of this nature. This is the future. SB 2200 has to get worked 

through and some of the small to medium sized schools need to get their financial situations 

put in order before we are ready for this bill. 

Representative Meier said she would like to see the Governor's Commission do their interim 

study before we look at setting course requirements. We need to look at adequacy within 

small and large school districts. Large school districts could probably deliver these programs 

now but smaller school districts probably would not be able to deliver. 
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• Senator Flakoll said some of that discussion would be in the traditional sense. We could use 

the Division of Independent Study or electronic means of course delivery. The Senate had a 

concern for what is better for the student, that they take a class in high school where it is paid 

for by the tax payers or they take a remedial class or series of classes in college that cost 

$5000 - $8000 for something they should have achieved in high school. That is the major 

point that drew the P16 committee to this discussion. We are cheating the students. Some of 

the more academically aggressive students may take four years of math but the data still 

shows later on, there are still some not achieving at the level we want them to. We should also 

look at discussing equivalents, we could all agree on that. This should be explored by 

Department of Public Instruction, that would be in keeping with the intent of the legislature. An 

example is ruminant nutrition is very scientific in nature even though it is not a traditional 

- biology course. North Dakota Studies is another example that we passed this session, and 

how we wished to have that handled. It is an example of an equivalent, it would count as a 

social studies. 

• 

Representative Meier said Senator Flakoll touched on some good points. She is concerned 

with what would be deemed acceptable. When they are looking at sciences, would agriculture 

be considered a science? Have Department of Public Instruction and Higher Education come 

together yet to decide what is acceptable? 

Representative Wall said he agrees with Senator Flakoll. We need to see what courses we 

can substitute and align with math and science to include vocational agriculture, health 

services, and construction technology. An adequacy study is the point where we can do this to 

align content and achievement standards. This is premature. He has no problem with the 

idea . 
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• Senator Gary Lee said he is concerned that we continue to wait. The other day someone 

asked the question about the non-public schools, how they view this. He talked to their 

representative and was told they have no problem with it, they are doing it already. If we look 

around the world at what is happening, do we continue to wait while they advance themselves 

in terms of academic excellence? If we wait until 2014, that is almost a generation of kids that 

has gone through the school before we do anything. How long do we wait? 

Representative Wall said he doesn't think this is a stalling tactic. It needs a lot of study. An 

unfunded mandate is problematic. The administrators in his schools are not happy with it 

because they are offering it to students now. A lot of the emails he has received say that 

parents do not like it because they fear their students will drop out if they are forced to take 

more math and science. The JPA's better have alternative high schools set up because drop 

• out rates are going to skyrocket. That is not what we want to do. 

Senator Flakoll said he thinks everyone has received an email from Mike Hillman, North 

Dakota University System, talking about this. He says most people think kids drop out of high 

school because they are not doing well academically but a January, 2007 report indicates the 

major reason they drop out is because they feel their classes are uninteresting and irrelevant. 

In other words, they are not being appropriately challenged. (copy of email attached) The 

state has a constitutional obligation to provide a basic core academic requirement, more so 

that any other constitutional obligation. He truly believes kids in one locale should have similar 

educational opportunities for a core curriculum. He also believes if a school district wishes to 

tax themselves at a higher level and the patrons agree to provide additional coursework, that is 

ok. 

Senator Taylor said the "or equivalent" will take more time but he doesn't want to stall either 

because he wants to have high expectations. People generally reach the expectations you 
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- have for them. He was not involved with the P16 commission but he expects a lot of their work 

will be used by the Governor's Commission's adequacy study. We can validate some of the 

work of the P16 commission by including this curriculum in the bill and extending the time line 

so we have two years to discover what the equivalents are. It may result in different tracks, 

college bound, trade school bound which he did not like initially. Money wise it will be 

important for all schools for the state to decide if they are responsible for it and everything 

beyond it will be a local option. It could change but we could at least set the goal out there. 

Representative Meier said those points are well taken. Rather than put the cart before the 

horse, she would rather see the study happen and see where we are and then put into law 

what is deemed adequate. 

Representative Wall said they heard in testimony, from Mr. Kutzer, about a Michigan plan 

• where they did substitutions. That has a lot of merit as far as selling it to the public. Simply 

mandating it without doing the substitutions will cause a terrible problem with constituents in 

much of the state. It needs further study and the place for it is the adequacy study. We have 

plenty of vehicles to study it and get something ready for the general population so they will 

accept it. 

• 

Senator Flakoll asked how you reconcile that with the P16 committee. They met monthly to 

come up with these requirements. It is a more consistent and rigorous platform than an interim 

study where they meet 3 or 4 times over 18 months. Will they come up with anything 

different? He concedes not everyone was in full agreement with the requirements the P16 

committee came up with. He was more in favor of offering options so a student could choose 

a science option or a math option in the fourth year. He attended a small school, years ago 

where they had 34 kids in the whole high school and they had the option of 4 years of math . 
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• Representative Hunskor said it seems like students who are academically talented, those who 

have the ability and the interest to go on in math and science are doing it now. He has a 

problem, at least until we get some other courses that could work for math, with lumping those 

bottom half, lower quartile students into a required 4 years of math. They have other interests, 

they have other abilities. Why do we want to create problems for them. Two years of math is 

enough for that group. 

• 

Senator Gary Lee said the course offerings come from the P16 group, a group of teachers, 

higher ed, business people, legislators, Department of Public Instruction. They spent a year 

and decided this is necessary. What else are we going to study? We will come up with a 

similar concept to what we have right here. Could we put some of this in and then have the 

study on going in terms of equivalencies? We are still looking at 8 - 10 years away. What are 

we afraid of? 

Representative Meier said the financial impact is important. We need to determine where 

those small schools are sitting. When Department of Public Instruction and Higher Education 

get together and decide what courses are going to count are those courses being taught now 

in the smaller schools and what will the financial impact be and where does the state fit in all of 

this? With the Governor's Commission and the P16 study we could determine where those 

financial impacts would be and come together with a little better plan than what we have before 

us now. 

Representative Hunskor said we have quite a few open ended things now including 2200 and 

how that plays out. We would be in a better position two years from now to consider 

something like this. It is not on solid ground now . 

Representative Wall said this has been studied by P16 and should continue to be when we 

look at adequacy. Is the role of K12 to expose kids to a wide curriculum, explore many things 
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• or are do we want to channel students into a particular area? If that is the case, is it clear 

why? Are we trying to accomplish less remedial work? This is a shift. There is a major 

difference in offering the classes and requiring them. Are we trying to use a cookie cutter 

approach? 

Senator Flakoll asked if the recent change in the requirements of highly qualified change the 

dynamics as we move forward with this. Some are having to shore up some things. With 

respect to channeling, it is a good thing. Getting back to who are we competing with, China 

and India are killing us. We are not competing with Minnesota, we are competing with Beijing. 

We have a fair amount of flexibility within the schedule, electives would be 5 - 7 units, or 

about 1.25 - 2 per year. He continues to have a concern about the senior year that is not very 

productive for many students. Some of this comes down to equivalency language which is 

- going to be an important issue as we move forward. He doesn't think any member disagrees 

that we need to have some things in place and some equivalencies and some classes are just 

as important that may not be traditionally thought of as math or science. 

Representative Hunskor said when talking about competition with China, our kids who 

academically strong are already are doing all the math and science that is available in their 

schools. We have that group of people that can compete. 

Senator Gary Lee said the committee will have to meet again, there is another conference 

committee scheduled now for the room. Senator Gary Lee adjourned the meeting of the 

conference committee. 
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Senator Gary Lee opened the meeting of the conference committee on SB 2309. All members 

were present. (the meeting starts at meter 23:22) 

Senator Flakoll distributed amendment .0204 and a "marked up" copy of the bill. (attached) 

This has been changed from admission requirements for higher education to requirements for 

graduation from high school. It has been watered down with a fire hose and is not as stringent. 

Starting with the second year of the biennium it will require 4 units of English language arts, 2 

units of math, 2 units of science, 3 units of social studies or multi cultural studies which may 

include North Dakota Studies, 1 unit of phy ed which may include up to ½ unit of Health (the 

marked up copy has an error here, it should say Health on page 2 line 2) one year of foreign 

language, Native American language, fine arts or career technical education. The other 

provision is the Superintendent of Public Instruction will identify courses that will meet these 

requirements. This will move us baby steps. It will accomplish two things. It will put into law 

for the first time, some very minimal requirements for graduation. In discussing with others 

and researching other states, some of which are more rigorous than others, he doesn't think 

this will cause angst across the state. We will have something in the code to react to and build 

• on in the future. Secondly and just as important if not more important, as we move toward 
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1 - more rigorous requirements, this will help us establish early on some of the things that will 

• 

qualify for a math or a science so we will have started that progress. In visiting with others, if 

we have that in place, there may be fewer concerns as we more forward. It will be beneficial if 

we collect graduation requirements from each of the school districts so we have that as a basis 

of data as we moved forward. In doing research he found a very good print out from Iowa, it 

was in the Des Moines Register with each school district and their graduation requirements. If 

we have that, we can start making progress. This is a very low threshold, 13 units now and 

eventually we will get to 24 by the 2011 - 2012 school year. Only a marginal portion of them 

will be required core offerings. It is an important step in that it starts to establish core 

requirements across the state of North Dakota. It has some merit in terms of constitutionality 

in providing a uniform system of education, uniformly moderate, he allowed, but uniform none 

the less. Is it where we would like to have everyone? No. He thinks everyone would like to 

have this threshold higher. There are things that will be in place with 2200 so when we 

address adequacy in the future .... There are efforts that have moved us light years in the last 

10 years in terms of course delivery- electronic, interactive, online, Division of Independent 

Studies,, JPA's. There are a number of things that will allow us to aggressively move up the 

bar. We could get to a point where once we have established this, the original bill didn't start 

until 2014, so we could still get there in a similar year and a similar fashion. It may be best if 

everyone has a chance to ruminate on this rather than have a motion today. There is some 

concern that if we deviate significantly from what the House sent over to us, they have a 

feeling it may get whacked over there. It is an easy carry; we are putting into law what is in 

practice. It won't start until the second year of the biennium. 

• Representative Meier said it is a good start. She was surprised to learn it is not in code 

already. 
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Representative Wall asked if on page 2, line 2, is it clear what we are asking the 

Superintendent of Public Instruction to do? We don't simply want a list of the various math 

offerings. We want courses that could substitute or potentially substitute for a math offering as 

we go down the road. 

Senator Gary Lee asked Anita Decker to answer how Department of Public Instruction would 

deal with this. 

Anita Decker said off the top of her head she would gather a group of math teachers and 

teachers of related courses, electronics for example and determine the math competencies in 

various courses and how that would translate into a math equivalency. 

Senator Gary Lee said the committee's interest would be that these courses could be in lieu of 

typical math courses that we know today. Would the language in the bill help them identify that 

kind of product? 

Dr. Decker said she could do that. 

Representative Wall said he is satisfied if the intent is clear with Department of Public 

Instruction. We are looking for more than a list of existing math classes. We are looking to the 

future, after the adequacy study and after we add to the requirements we want to know what to 

substitute. 

Senator Taylor said the identification of substitutes is a little preliminary when the threshold is 

so low. Can we look to the future? 

Dr. Decker said she hasn't had time to think about it but she thinks they could do that by using 

teachers. She will have to do a lot of research on this. Could an electronics course equal half 

a math unit? She will have to take a look at it. 

- Senator Gary Lee asked if Senator Taylor's question was about going above and beyond the 

two units required in the amendment, refers to planning ahead. 
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• Senator Taylor said yes, when we are only requiring two units it will probably be Algebra 1 and 

II or Geometry. There is not a real drive to identify other tracks at two units. 

• 

Senator Flakoll said a lot of this is future driven. There may be some exceptions. Foreign and 

Native American language for example, we may need to identify what will qualify, in areas 

where it is a little less standardized. If we wish to move the ball in the future, we want to have 

it ready. The other thing is many high schools have much more rigorous requirements than 

these and the legislative intent is not that they seek the lowest threshold that they can find. He 

would expect them to continue with their higher requirements. He would assume they won't 

sink down to reach this new plateau. There are no requirements in law now and this is a 

change but it is important to get the legislative intent on the record for school districts not to 

make their requirements any less than they are today . 

Representative Hunskor said if this becomes law, we all know we want the threshold higher, 

there should be some public relations work done so the public realizes that. 

Senator Flakoll said we could add additional language that there could be no less rigorous 

graduation requirements than what were in place for the 2006 - 2007 school year. 

Representative Meier said we could refer to these as minimum high school graduation 

requirements. Those students aspiring to go on to college will look to having more math and 

science credits. 

Representative Wall said he is not sure we need to say anything; he trusts that school districts 

and parents are concerned about their students' welfare. They won't go backwards. They 

won't fire math and science teachers and hire a bevy of art teachers. 

Senator Flakoll said if we added language that a school district can't lower their standards over 

- what exists today, is anyone opposed to that? A reorganized district is a consideration. It 

should be a safe amendment. 
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• Representative Hunskor said on page 1, line 19 we could add as statement about beginning 

the process to align with the recommendations of the P16 commission. Would that explain 

why we are doing this? 

• 

• 

Senator Flakoll asked about meeting the requirements currently in place and language options 

and asked Anita Thomas to answer some questions. 

Anita Thomas said if there is any confusion about the number of units currently required we 

would want to be sure we have language to clarify that. We could reference the number of 

units that are required now and say of those units, we would have to meet the requirements in 

the amendment. 

Representative Hunskor confirmed that page 1 line 23, 2 units of math could be general math 

and consumer math. On page 2, the ½ unit of North Dakota Studies could count in the 3 social 

studies units. 

Senator Flakoll said that is his impression and he noted Dr. Decker is nodding her head. 

Senator Gary Lee said this gives us something to react to over the weekend and we will meet 

again. He adjourned the meeting of the conference committee . 
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Senator Gary Lee opened the conference committee on SB 2309. All members were present. 

Senator Flakoll presented written amendments (.0205) with the intent that they would reflect 

the changes that were handed out in the red copy dated Friday, April 6. These amendments 

- would not be requirements for admission for higher education in North Dakota, they would be 

graduation requirements. The effective date on page 1, line 19 was changed from 2012-2013 

to 2008-2009 because we are putting into place what is currently being done by the schools. 

We did not think that was an overly rigorous obligation. The issues that have drawn the most 

discussion are the change from "years" to "units", four units of English language arts, two units 

of mathematics, two units of science, three units of social studies or multicultural studies, one 

unit of physical education which may include up to one half unit of health which is found on 

page 2, line 2. We essentially overstruck the language as shown in the red copy. There is 

also a provision that the Superintendent of Public Instruction will work with each school district 

to determine what course offerings would fit within those requirements (meter 03:00). 

Examples followed. Provision number three is that each school files their graduation 

requirements with the Department of Public Instruction (meter 03:46). The more information 

.we have, the better we know what changes to make. Provision number four states that a 
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• school district may not reduce its graduation requirements below those in existence on June 

30, 2007. The committee did not want these rather meager graduation requirements to be 

something to shoot down towards. We tried to come up with something that would be 

palatable to the House. It gives a starting point to work from for future interim and future 

legislative sessions. 

Representative Wall, referring to page 1, line 17 regarding "higher education admission 

requirements" being crossed out and line 20 "or to be admitted to an institution of higher 

education in the state" being crossed out, asked why those phrases were being omitted. 

Senator Flakoll explained that the bill in its original form used those as higher education 

entrance requirements. There should not be such a low threshold for entrance requirements. 

This bill allows each campus to set its own threshold, some with noticeably more rigorous 

• levels of attainment than this. Some require this in cooperation with a certain GPA in 

consideration with their ACT test scores. 

Representative Wall stated that he has a concern about what they are really saying. Are we 

saying these are the minimal requirements but they do not qualify you to go to college? 

Senator Flakoll stated that the bill gives requirements for graduation from high school. It is 

silent on the issue of whether that automatically makes you eligible for entrance into a higher 

education institution. It does not say that you will or will not be admitted. Each institution has 

its own thresholds. This in no way guarantees you admission to a campus in the North Dakota 

University System. 

Representative Hunskor referred to the .0205 amendments compared to the Friday, April 6 

version and asked if item #2 in red on Friday, April 6 is exactly identical to what is on .0205. 

-Senator Flakoll stated that they are the same. The intent is that that would be the same. 
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• Representative Hunskor referred to item #3 and item #4 on .0205 and asked if the intent was 

for that to be part of the amendment because it is not on Friday, April 6 (meter 09:21 ). Why is 

it not there? 

Senator Flakoll stated that those were items that we believe will help us move the process. 

We are at the stage now where we do not have a quick access to the graduation requirements 

by school district. That will help us in further discussions. The other one is from the 

discussions of not setting the bar so that those who have more rigorous graduation 

requirements migrate down towards this lower level. 

Representative Hunskor asked again if it was intended for three and four to be part of the 

amendment. 

Senator Flakoll answered yes . 

• Representative Meier referred to the number three wording "before September 1" and asked 

about identifying a specific date or if it is fine to leave it as a general date. 

Senator Flakoll stated that he felt that it was fine to leave it and not include a specific date. 

That gives them some flexibility. Some of the people who will be generating these reports are 

the same people that may have to generate the data on teacher salary and compensation. 

They will likely be able to set up a template and use it every year. 

Representative Wall referred to page 2, item #2 replacing lines 5-14 and expressed concern 

(meter 12:01). The question has to do with how to handle that. Because we are talking about 

substitutions, Career and Technical Education people should be included in here to reconcile 

courses. They have the standards and could be very helpful in determining and working 

together with the Department of Public Instruction. Would that have to be in code? How would 

-that be done? 
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• Senator Flakoll noted a sidebar meeting with Anita Thomas and she said that this is broad 

enough to allow that to happen. The legislative intent would be that that would happen, unless 

someone feels otherwise. 

Representative Wall asked for the record to show that the Career and Technical Education 

people are involved. They have done a lot of the ground work. They have and know the 

standards that we can judge against. 

Representative Hunskor expressed appreciation for the Senate's efforts to come up with 

.0205. For the most part, four years of math for the small schools would create many heart 

aches. Amendment .0205 is much more acceptable; however, there is still a concern that we 

do not give the impression to our schools and across the state that this is watered down now. 

At the same time, it is understandable to get started at an early stage in moving up the scale 

- and setting the bar, putting our state in a situation where we are requiring our young people to 

excel. 

Senator Flakoll moved that the House recede from its amendments as printed on pages 897-

898 of the Senate Journal and page 1003 of the House Journal and that Engrossed SB 2039 

be amended as follows with the .0205 amendments. 

Representative Meier seconded the motion. 

No further discussion. 

Roll call vote was taken. Motion passed 6-0-0. 

Senator Gary Lee adjourned the meeting of the conference committee. 
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Senator Gary Lee opened the meeting of the conference committee on SB 2309. All members 

were present. 

Representative Meier distributed amendment .0208. She said a week ago there was a lengthy 

debate on the House floor on the amendment to 2309. On page 2 of the bill it says 3 units of 

social studies or multicultural studies. One member felt strongly we should take another look 

and she agreed. She has since learned that only one multicultural study course is offered in 

the state. It is Area Studies. The tribes use it a lot. The amendment states 3 units of social 

studies which may include ½ unit of North Dakota studies and ½ unit of multi cultural studies. 

Representative Hunskor added they do not want a student to be able to take 3 years of multi 

cultural studies with no history or social studies. Now only one tribal school has multi cultural 

studies but that could change in the future. 

Representative Meier said that is the crux of the debate. 

Representative Meier moved amendment .0208, seconded by Senator Flakoll. 

The motion passed 6-0-0. 

Senator Gary Lee dissolved the conference committee. 

-
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PROPOSED AMENDMENTS TO ENGROSSED SENATE BILL NO. 2309 

That the House recede from its amendments as printed on pages 897 and 898 of the Senate 
Journal and page 1030 of the House Journal and that Engrossed Senate Bill No. 2309 be 
amended as follows: 

Page 1, line 17, remove". Higher education admission· . 

Page 1, line 18, remove "requirements" 

Page 1, line 19, replace "2012-13" with "2008-09" 

Page 1, line 20, remove "or be admitted to an institution of higher education in this state" 

Page 1, line 22, replace "years" with "units" 

Page 1, line 23, replace "Three years" with "Two units" 

Page 1, line 24, replace "Three years" with "Two units" 

Page 2, line 1, replace "years" with "units" and after "studies" insert". which may include North 
Dakota studies" 

Page 2, line 2, replace "year" with "unit" and after "education" insert ". which may include up to 
one-half unit of health" 

Page 2, line 3, replace "Vfil!!:" with "unit" 

Page 2, replace lines 5 through 14 with: 

"2. The superintendent of public instruction shall work with each school district 
to identify course offerings that meet the requirements of subdivisions a 
through f of subsection 1. • 

Renumber accordingly 

Page No. 1 70698.0204 
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PROPOSED AMENDMENTS TO ENGROSSED SENATE BILL NO. 2309 l{-IYc/1 

That the House recede from its amendments as printed on pages 897 and 898 of the Senate 
Journal and page 1030 of the House Journal and that Engrossed Senate Bill No. 2309 be 
amended as follows: 

Page 1, line 17, remove ". Higher education admission" 

Page 1, line 18, remove "requirements" 

Page 1, line 19, replace "2012-13" with "2008-09" 

Page 1, line 20, remove "or be admitted to an institution of higher education in this state" 

Page 1, line 22, replace "years" with "units" 

Page 1, line 23, replace "Three years" with "Two units" 

Page 1, line 24, replace "Three years" with "Two units" 

Page 2, line 1, replace "years" with "units" and after the second "studies" insert ". which may 
include North Dakota studies" 

Page 2, line 2, replace "year" with "unit" and after "education" insert". which may include up to 
one-half unit of health" 

Page 2, line 3, replace "year" with "unit" 

Page 2, replace lines 5 through 14 with: 

"2. The superintendent of public instruction shall work with each school district 
to identify course offerings that meet the requirements of subdivisions a 
through f of subsection 1. 

3. Before September first of each year. each school district shall file a copy of 
its graduation requirements with the superintendent of public instruction. 

4. A school district may not reduce its graduation requirements below those in 
existence on June 30, 2007." 

Renumber accordingly 

Page No. 1 70698.0206 
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REPORT OF CONFERENCE COMMITTEE (420) 
April 12, 2007 1 :22 p.m. 

Module No: SR-69-8026 

Insert LC: 70698.0206 

REPORT OF CONFERENCE COMMITTEE 
SB 2309, as engrossed: Your conference committee (Sens. G. Lee, Flakoll, Taylor and 

Reps. L. Meier, Wall, Hunskor) recommends that the HOUSE RECEDE from the 
House amendments on SJ pages 897-898, adopt amendments as follows, and place 
SB 2309 on the Seventh order: 

That the House recede from its amendments as printed on pages 897 and 898 of the Senate 
Journal and page 1030 of the House Journal and that Engrossed Senate Bill No. 2309 be 
amended as follows: · 

Page 1, line 17, remove ". Higher education admission" 

Page 1, line 18, remove "requirements" 

Page 1, line 19, replace "2012-13" with 
"2008-09" 

Page 1, line 20, remove "or be admitted to an institution of higher education in this state" 

Page 1, line 22, replace "years" with "units" 

Page 1, line 23, replace "Three years" with "Two units" 

Page 1, line 24, replace "Three years" with "Two units" 

Page 2, line 1, replace "years" with "units" and after the second "studies" insert ". which may 
include North Dakota studies" 

Page 2, line 2, replace "year" with "unit" and after "education" insert", which may include up to 
one-half unit of health" 

Page 2, line 3, replace "year" with "unit" 

Page 2, replace lines 5 through 14 with: 

"2. The superintendent of public instruction shall work with each school district 
to identify course offerings that meet the requirements of subdivisions a 
through f of subsection 1. 

3. Before September first of each year, each school district shall file a copy of 
its graduation requirements with the superintendent of public instruction. 

4. A school district may not reduce its graduation requirements below those 
in existence on June 30, 2007." 

Renumber accordingly 

Engrossed SB 2309 was placed on the Seventh order of business on the calendar . 

(2) DESK, (2) COMM Page No. 1 · SR-69-8026 
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PROPOSED AMENDMENTS TO ENGROSSED SENATE BILL NO. 2309 

That the House recede from its amendments as printed on pages 897 and 898 of the Senate 
Journal and page 1030 of the House Journal and that Engrossed Senate Bill No. 2309 be 
amended as follows: 

Page 1, line 17, remove "• Higher education admission" 

Page 1, line 18, remove "requirements" 

Page 1, line 19, replace "2012-13" with "2008-09" 

Page 1, line 20, remove "or be admitted to an institution of higher education in this state" 

Page 1, line 22, replace "years" with "units" 

Page 1, line 23, replace "Three years" with "Two units" 

Page 1, line 24, replace "Three years" with "Two units" 

Page 2, line 1, replace "years" with "units" and replace "or" with", which may include one-half 
unit of North Dakota studies and one-half unit of" 

Page 2, line 2, replace "year" with "unit" and after "education" insert ", which may include up to 
one-half unit of health" 

Page 2, line 3, replace "year" with "unit" 

Page 2, replace lines 5 through 14 with: 

"2. The superintendent of public instruction shall work with each school district 
to identify course offerings that meet the requirements of subdivisions a 
through f of subsection 1. 

3. Before September first of each year, each school district shall file a copy of 
its graduation requirements with the superintendent of public instruction. 

4. A school district may not reduce its graduation requirements below those in 
existence on June 30. 2007." 

Renumber accordingly 

Page No. 1 70698.0208 
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Date: '1/;r /t17 
Roll Call Vote #: J 

2007 SENATE CONFERENCE COMMITTEE ROLL CALL VOTES 
BILL/RESOLUTION NO. 2309 

Senate Conference Committtee Committee 

D Check here for Conference Committee 

Legislative Council Amendment Number 

Action Taken ,,;Z,ff~ -o~t78 
Motion Made By ~ ~ Seconded By vk-tz. ~I'/ 

~ 

Senators 
Senator Garv Lee 
Senator Flakoll 
Senator Tavlor 

Total 

Absent 

(Yes) 

Floor Assignment 

Yes No Reoresentatives 
V Representative Meier 
V Representative Wall 
L/ Representative Hunksor 

No . D 

If the vote is on an amendment, briefly indicate intent: 

Yes 
v 
V 

-------

No 
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REPORT OF CONFERENCE COMMITTEE (420) 
April 19, 2007 4:43 p.m. 

Module No: SR-74-8546 

Insert LC: 70698.0208 

REPORT OF CONFERENCE COMMITTEE 
SB 2309, as engrossed: Your conference committee (Sens. G. Lee, Flakoll, Taylor and 

Reps. L. Meier, Wall, Hunskor) recommends that the HOUSE RECEDE from the 
House amendments on SJ pages 897-898, adopt amendments as follows, and place 
SB 2309 on the Seventh order: 

That the House recede from its amendments as printed on pages 897 and 898 of the Senate 
Journal and page 1030 of the House Journal and that Engrossed Senate Bill No. 2309 be 
amended as follows: 

Page 1, line 17, remove". Higher education admission" 

Page 1, line 18, remove "requirements" 

Page 1, line 19, replace "2012-13" with 
"2008-09" 

Page 1, line 20, remove "or be admitted to an institution of higher education in this state" 

Page 1, line 22, replace "years" with "units" 

Page 1, line 23, replace "Three years" with "Two units" 

Page 1, line 24, replace "Three years" with "Two units" 

Page 2, line 1, replace "years" with "units" and replace "or" with ". which may include one-half 
unit of North Dakota studies and one-half unit of" 

Page 2, line 2, replace "year" with "unit" and after "education" insert ". which mav include up to 
one-half unit of health" 

Page 2, line 3, replace "year" with "unit" 

Page 2, replace lines 5 through 14 with: 

"2. The superintendent of public instruction shall work with each school district 
to identify course offerings that meet the requirements of subdivisions a 
through f of subsection 1. 

3. Before September first of each year, each school district shall file a copy of 
its graduation requirements with the superintendent of public instruction. 

4. A school district may not reduce its graduation requirements below those 
in existence on June 30. 2007." 

Renumber accordingly 

Engrossed SB 2309 was placed on the Seventh order of business on the calendar. 

(2) DESK, (2) COMM Page No. 1 SA-74-8546 
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Position ofSBHE Regarding P-16 

Adopted October 16, 2006 

State Law 15.1-01-02 requires the four state level Boards of education in North Dakota to 

work together in coordinating the state's preschool through college education system. As 

part of this effort the boards jointly appointed a task force ofleading educators, 

administrators and students, in partnership with 8 representatives of the State Chamber of 

Commerce to review the current education system in place in North Dakota and to 

recommend appropriate improvements. The Education Task Force, reaching unanimous 

consensus, has concluded that the state education system, although operating from a 

strong foundation, has need for systematic improvement, especially in light of 

improvements now occurring in other states. The Boards have jointly accepted and 

endorsed the task force report. The SBHE commends the Task Force for its intense and 

thoughtful effort in bringing back a comprehensive plan with suggested goals and 

strategies for education adequacy for all North Dakota students. The SBHE supports the 

report goals and recommendations and, given the importance to the state's future, 

encourages implementation of the recommendations in as timely manner as possible . 
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NORTH DAKOTA JOINT BOARDS OF EDUCATION 

November 13, 2006 

The Honorable John Hoeven 
Governor 
State of North Dakota 
600 E Boulevard Ave 
Bismarck ND 58505 

Dear Governor Hoeven: 

Thank you for the opportunity for the presidents of North Dakota's four boards of 
education to meet with you, Lt. Governor Dalrymple and Chief of Staff Goetz to discuss 
the Education Task Force (ETF) report and recommendations. Everyone in attendance 
at the meeting agreed that the work for the· ETF coordinates very nicely with the work of 
the Education Commission chaired by Lt. Governor Dalrymple. 

We understand that implementing the Education Commission's recommendations to 
address equity will be an important priority for the 2007 Legislative Session and that 
this will limit resources available for other initiatives. As we discussed at the meeting, 
we also would like to suggest the importance of small investments in two key areas that 
would create the basis for effective and efficient P-16 collaboration in the future. These 
areas are formally aligning education standards across the state education system and 
creating the basis for a P-16 longitudinal data system that can also interact with other 
state agency data. 

As Dr. Paul Johnson, Superintendent of Schools in Bismarck, explained to the State 
Board of Higher Education in October, a large disconnect has developed between the 
high school curriculum and expectations for college level preparation. Without a formal 
mechanism to align expectations across state education sectors, the disconnect between 
the high school curriculum and preparation for college and work will continue to grow. 
Aligning expectations and standards through the work of an alignment commission 
working under the Joint Boards was a top priority of the ETF and one that, although it 
would need some resources, would not need a large amount ofresources to initiate. In 
its future discussions the Education Commission is likely to conclude, as the ETF 
concluded, that defining education adequacy will require an ongoing effort to define 
curriculum and outcome standards and the assessments of those standards. Beginning 
the work of the alignment commission now will help to build the consensus necessary 
for long term meaningful change. As Lt. Governor Dalrymple explained, if there is an 
expectation, in this case an expectation of alignment, it should be stated in the law. 
Alignment expectations would be a logical Joint Boards assignment given the 
expectations for Joint Board coordination currently in the law. 

2718 Gateway Avenue, Suite 303 • Bismarck, ND 58503 
Phone 701.328.9646 



Letter to Governor Hoeven 
November 13, 2006 
Page 2 

As you know, there are several important discussions underway related to the future of the state 
data systems. The state has recently initiated a state data warehouse discussion, the ongoing 
FINDET operation recently had a formal consultant review and several initiatives have been 
suggested by the Economic Development committee. We fully support your desire for all 
agencies to be working together in the development of a single long range strategy for data 
coordination and that we do this correctly one time without going through multiple disconnected 
efforts. We recognize the state need to adopt data definitions that are common across sectors and 
that articulate to produce meaningful management information. Because the requirements of 
federal law (Family Education Rights and Privacy Act) limiting the sharing of education agency 
data we encourage you to look at the collaborative FINDET operation as a unifying element in 
this discussion, and that FINDET continue to be located in an education agency. This is another 
area where we feel the investment of a small amount of resources will result in long term 
efficiencies and benefits. 

We look forward to working closely with you during the legislative session to move your 
education agenda forward. While we will continue to provide support as individual state 
agencies we now feel that, working together, we can bring the additional focus of the Joint 
Boards in support of the ETF recommendations and P-16 efforts. Please let us know if you 
would like any additional information on the issues discussed above. 

Sincerely, 

~~fMJ~ 
· John Q. Paulsen 
President, SBHE 

xc: Lt Governor Dalrymple 
Bill Goetz 
Chancellor Eddie Dunn 

G:\TERRY\EDDIE 8-06\LEITERS\r-16 follow-up letter to Gov 11-8-06.doe 

Wayne Sanstead 
Superintendent, DP! 

Wayne Kutzer 
Director, CTE 



• Enhance their academic achievement by linking classroom studies to future 
choices, 

• Achieve skills they will need to transition successfully to post-secondary 
education and work, and 

• Develop the skills needed to make informed decisions throughout life. 

Strategies in Priority Order (Because several task force Goals and Strategies overlap, it 
seemed logical for the Task Force members to take all Strategies developed separately for each 
of the four Goals and prioritize them in one group as follows: (See Appendix D for Goals and 
Strategies listed separately) 

1. Graduation/Admissions Requirements: While these standards may need to be increased 
in the future, legislation should require that, by 2012, in order to graduate from any high 
school and to be admitted to any post-secondary institution in North Dakota, without 
exception unless required by state or federal law, all students must meet state proficiency 
equivalent standards (see Goal I, Strategy 7) set for a minimum curriculum consisting of 4 
years of language arts/reading, 3 years of math, 3 years of science, 3 years of social/multi
cultural studies, 1 year of physical education, I year of a foreign or Native American 
language or I year of either career and technical education or fine arts. By 2014, in order to 
graduate from any high school and to be admitted to any post-secondary institution in North 
Dakota, without exception unless required by state or federal law, all students must meet 
state proficiency equivalent standards set for a minimum curriculum consisting of 4 years 
of language arts/reading, 4 years of math, 3 years of science, 3 years of social/multi-cultural 
studies, 1 year of physical education, and 2 years of foreign or Native American language 
or 2 years of career and technical education or 2 years of fine arts. It is essential to note 
that, as these standards for a minimum curriculum are developed, how the state develops 
these standards and assessments of proficiency (see Goal I) will be critical and that the 
methods of meeting these standards/assessments need to be flexible, incorporating 
alternative methods of meeting "standards." The standards and assessments need to 
acknowledge that taking certain courses, such as language arts/reading and math, each year 
of high school is necessary but that obtaining foreign language "credits or equivalent 
learning experience" may be more beneficial in pre-high school years. Also, there is a 
strongly expressed preference for taking subjects in world and US history and culture-e.g., 
"multi-cultural studies." 

2. Ensuring Proficiency: The system created by the Joint Boards must, within eight years, 
provide that high school graduates have sufficient skills, knowledge and abilities to ensure 
success in a post-secondary education institution and preparedness for employment and 
citizenship. P-12 formative assessments, with clear feedback regarding levels of 
performance and appropriate interventions if needed for individual students, will be in place 
within the same time frame. It is understood that significant additional state funding will be 
required to develop this kind of system and other strategies being recommended, that 
unfunded mandates are very difficult for school districts and that a balance of new state 
resources, changes in allocation of current school district resources and other creative and 
innovative solutions such as those that may be provided through educational associations 
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Final Report of the P-16 Education Task Force 
To the Joint Boards (See Glossary, Appendix A) 

The P-16 Education Task Force Mandate 

North Dakotans have always, justifiably, taken great pride in their education system. They have 
come to take for granted that the education provided in the State is of high quality, and some 
even suggest it is "second to none." North Dakota has the second highest rate of high school 
graduation in the country. The highest percentage in the country of its high school graduates go 
on to post-secondary education. In a variety of state, regional and national assessments, North 
Dakota elementary students, in particular, are highly ranked. 

But cracks are appearing, and some North Dakota students are falling through them. The North 
Dakota Joint Boards of education (Joint Boards), consisting of the state board of public school 
education, the state board of higher education, the education standards and practices board, and 
the state board for career and technical education, are mandated by law to: 

I. Coordinate elementary and secondary education programs, career and technical 
education programs, and higher education programs. 

2. Cooperate in the provision of professional growth and development opportunities for 
elementary and secondary teachers and administrators. 

3. Ensure cooperation in any other jointly beneficial project or program. 

In conforming to these requirements, in September of 2005, the Joint Boards agreed to form a P-
16 Education Task Force (Task Force). The stated objectives for this Task Force were to 
develop agreements on: 

• Aligning outcomes and standards, assessments and curriculum, 
• Linking data systems and developing a statewide P-16 student diagnostic information 

system to provide feedback to students and local schools for improvement, 
• Communicating with the public about the urgent nature of the concerns in education and 

receiving information about public expectations about what is required to succeed in 
post-secondary education and the 2 I st Century workforce, 

• Facilitating good student career choices in innovative ways, 
• Enhancing educator preparation and training, 
• Implementing best practices from other states, 
• Determining the adequacy of resources, and 
• Providing a safety net for dropouts and non-traditional students. 

In all of these efforts, consideration should be given to the unique needs of American Indian 
students who represent approximately I 0% (and a continually increasing percent) of the student 
population in North Dakota. Where appropriate interventions and assistance have been provided, 
significant gains have been seen among American Indian students, for example, in adequate 
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yearly progress (A YP) as assessed pursuant to the provisions of the federal No Child Left Behind 
legislation. 

To meet this mandate, the Joint Boards invited a diverse group of 38 North Dakotans to 
participate in a nine-month effort to determine the primary issues relative to education in North 
Dakota and to develop agreements on how to address them. They have met 9 times in 9 months 
for full-day and longer sessions, and the Task Force selected a Steering Committee to assist with 
the process, which has also met 9 times following each Task Force meeting. The list of Task 
Force members is attached. (See Appendix B) 

The Status of Education in North Dakota 

Perhaps the most significant accomplishment of the Task Force members was their own learning 
about education issues and needs in North Dakota and spreading the word to their respective 
constituencies. At its first meeting, the Task Force heard from Janis Somerville, Director of the 
National Association of System Heads/Education Trust State P-16 Partnership, who told the 
members: "North Dakota has many good things going for it, but there are definite areas that 
require attention, and other states are catching up with and surpassing North Dakota. The basic 
story in North Dakota is one of students gaining a great deal of traction through 4th grade and 
then not demonstrating much additional traction through high school and into higher education." 
In order to address this problem, she added, careful, well planned, collaborative and bold action 
is needed. 

In response to Janis' comments and Task Force members' discussion, at the first meeting, a Task 
Force member commented and asked: "Nationally, we have the highest-ranking raw material 
coming into our classrooms. The raw material is the best there is, but, in the end, we do not have 
the best product. What are we adding and not adding, and what impacts are we having or not 
having?" 

During each of its succeeding meetings, Task Force members heard from, among others, 
representatives of the ACT and SAT, the National Governors Association, a South Dakota State 
Senator, North Dakota school administrators, teachers and counselors, the Midwest Higher 
Education Compact (MHEC), the Executive Director of Job Service North Dakota and the 
Executive Director of the Michigan Association of Secondary School Principals. Task Force 
members have read countless reports on the current status of education in the State and nation. 
The messages, in general, to the Task Force from all of these presenters, reports and the media 
have been uniform: 

• While some cohorts of North Dakota students are maintaining relatively high-test scores 
when compared to national averages, "slippage" is occurring. 

• Many North Dakota students are not well prepared to go on to college or to enter the 
workforce after graduation from high school. 

• A more rigorous curriculum must be implemented throughout the North Dakota 
education system, together with enhanced standards and expectations which all North 
Dakota students will be able to meet, given appropriate assistance and resources 
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• All North Dakota students can and will succeed in education and life if given the 
opportunity and assistance needed. 

• Significantly more extensive and integrated data about student needs and achievement 
will be required in order to help all students succeed and to ensure that education 
institutions are held accountable. 

• All levels of education in North Dakota must work closely together to ensure consistent 
standards and expectations and to help all students succeed. 

• Through more intensive and extensive career and academic counseling, all North Dakota 
students need to be far better prepared for post-secondary education, work and life. 

• North Dakota educators need more and better training to be able to provide a more 
rigorous curriculum, and they need to be treated as professionals and paid commensurate 
with their meeting increased expectations. 

• The public must be informed and understand the challenges the education system faces 
and must be prepared for and supportive of significant change in the way education is 
delivered in North Dakota. 

• While other states are gearing up their educational systems, North Dakota has continued 
to maintain the status quo, and it cannot afford to do so because it is now engaged, and 
will become far more engaged, in a highly competitive world economy. 

While Task Force members may not have agreed with all they heard from presenters, examples 
of more specific information Task Force members received include presenters' and members' 
comments and excerpts from reading materials taken from meeting summaries, including: 

• According to the National Governors Association (NGA) presenter, P-16/20 councils 
should identify areas of greatest potential impact and emphasize collaboration and 
cooperation with other efforts and partners. They should highlight what other states are 
doing that is successful and get advice from them. The P-16/20 movement is essential in 
order to bridge the gap between P-12 and post-secondary institutions. We have to begin 
at the same expectation baseline and bridge the two systems. They need to build 
strategies to improve the goals-increase high school graduation rates, college readiness, 
and college graduation. Higher education needs to say what it expects, then unify 
strategies to increase high school and college graduation rates. 

• NGA's presenter also recommended that the Task Force should impact policy by setting 
statewide benchmarks for post-secondary attainment (ND is below the national average 
in what it currently requires schools to offer) and should develop strategies around 
numerical trends--e.g., remediation rates. He told the Task Force about innovations 
being implemented in other states: 

o Challenging curriculum-Do not narrowly define the curriculum. Allow for . 
multiple pathways, including career/technical routes. Provide advanced 
placement and dual enrollment opportunities as early as possible, but they must be 
college level quality. Provide virtual school opportunities and audit core 
curriculums to be certain they are rigorous-based on student achievement and 
ACT types of audits. 
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o Assessment-Michigan will soon make the greatest use of the ACT test as a 
bridge/benchmark between secondary and post-secondary education. It will be 
used as a guide for post-secondary admission. Maryland will require end of 
course exams and proficiencies to determine levels of competency. There will be 
a joint assessment among New England states to determine education cost
effectiveness and efficiency and No Child Left Behind achievement. 

o Emphasis on science, mathematics and technology-The Minnesota Governor is 
focusing on science, mathematics and technology, with emphasis on the quality of 
the courses and systems accountability. 

o Quality P through graduate school-The Iowa Governor has charged a P-20 
committee to focus on goals of 90% of students having a quality pre-school and 
Kindergarten experience and 90% of high school graduates completing at least 2 
years of college. 

o Mathematics and Science Magnet Schools-North Carolina has focused on 
expanding access to mathematics and science magnet schools and is having great 
success. 

o Data Systems-Rhode Island has focused on data systems, and the Governor 
attends all meetings and stresses enhanced data systems and results. Florida is 
able to track students all the way from kindergarten into the workforce. Their 
data is clear, usable and accessible by the professionals at all levels, and the data 
is online for teachers for everyday use. 

o Governance-Kentucky underwent a restructuring of the governance of its 
education system. Their colleges have focused on what they wanted to do well 
and have eliminated some programs, added other programs and built a data 
system to connect P-12 and higher education. 

• When they committed to making significant changes in education, Michigan leaders took 
the approach that they would not get drawn into debates on the issues of "how it would be 
done," that this would be left to the professionals and those in the field. They determined 
what needs to be done, with a sense of urgency, and are now working on the details. 
Quoting from Theodore Roosevelt, the Michigan presenter told the Task Force, "See it. 
Believe it. Do it." The legislature, the funding and the "how" will follow. In Michigan, 
he said, they "get it:" 

o Michigan believes they will educate themselves out of their current economic 
difficulties. 

o A college-ready curriculum is needed for all students. 
o All students can succeed if it is expected of them. 
o We need to expect the same from all students, not just those in the upper 25% of 

students in classes. 
o Flexibility in how to teach is important, but we should not lose performance to the 

"tyranny of exceptions." 
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• According to a South Dakota State Senator, in his State, there was resistance to requiring 
a more rigorous curriculum. "Not a lot, but some." There are still some with the "good 
enough for grandpa" mindset. The State Board moved ahead and established the 
requirements in cooperation with higher education. Without the advanced diploma, 
students are not considered to be college-ready. 

• North Dakota students are number 1 in the nation, in the percentage of students who 
graduate from high school and go on to post-secondary education, but drop to 38th in the 
nation in the percentage of students who graduate from two and four-year post-secondary 
education institutions within 3 and 6 years respectively. Approximately 28% of students 
in post-secondary education institutions in North Dakota (those educated in North Dakota 
and in other states and countries) need to take remediation classes in order to prepare 
them for credit courses. Dropout and remediation rates for American Indian students are 
higher and require a systemic response, geared toward their unique needs. 

• North Dakota students' ACT scores have remained essentially flat for the last 15 years. 
For example, ACT composite scores in 2001 were 21.4. ACT composite scores in 2006 
are 21 .4, while composite scores nationally increased by .2 in 2006 alone. According to 
the ACT results of 2005, only 52% of North Dakota high school graduates were 
considered ready for college-level reading. And, in 2006, North Dakota students' ACT 
English test score results were again below the national average. According to this year's 
ACT scores, only 23% of North Dakota students are considered prepared for post
secondary education in all four ACT core areas tested-English, mathematics, reading 
and science. 

• According to the 2005 National Assessment of Educational Progress (NAEP) report, 
while North Dakota's fourth and eighth grade students were above the national average in 
reading, mathematics and science, they are below the national average in writing. 

• North Dakota requires the fewest number of student-teacher contact days per school 
year-173-in the nation. The average of all states is I 80 student-teacher contact days. 
At least one state is at 186 days. Many foreign countries require well above 200 days. 

• In Bismarck, North Dakota-students, parents, educators, and the public-told 
consultants to the Bismarck Public Schools: 
I. Stakeholders believe that the current course options may not result in an appropriate 

variety of experiences to develop students as well-rounded citizens. 
2. Stakeholders believe that students should be prepared to enter the world of work 

when they graduate. 
3. Stakeholders believe that students should be required to take more core subject 

courses. 
4. Stakeholders believe that students should be more proficient in communications 

skills, interpersonal skills, problem solving, critical thinking, and decision-making 
and should develop the capacity for life-long learning. 

5. Stakeholders believe that high school graduates need, but often do not demonstrate, 
proficiency in writing skills. 
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6. Stakeholders believe that physical education should provide students with life-long 
skills promoting physical fitness and a healthy lifestyle. 

7. Stakeholders believe that high school graduates should have a thorough 
understanding of personal finance, including investing, insurance, borrowing and 
credit. 

8. Stakeholders are supportive of the elimination of the graduation requirement for 
drivers' education. 

• According to a Bismarck Public Schools administrator presenting at a Task Force 
meeting, "We have come to believe that some students who graduate have a 'fraudulent 
diploma'." He added, "We need to focus on setting graduation standards and students 
meeting the requirements, and we need to take the standards beyond proficiency. We 
need to identify exemplary standards and performance measurements. We need to 
examine the implication of course sequencing and how it assures proficiency based on 
college admission standards. We are not meeting the need to develop well-rounded 
students." 

• North Dakota Task Force members from the business community as well as the 
Executive Director of Job Service North Dakota repeatedly stressed the need for better
prepared employees for current and future jobs, with stronger basic skills such as m 
mathematics, communications, teamwork, analysis and problem solving. 

• American Indian members of the Task Force and panelists presented data and made 
recommendations relative to American Indian students. They noted that, while strides 
have been made, North Dakota schools continue to be challenged as evidenced by the 
following: 

o The majority of schools in need of improvement in North Dakota as determined by 
Title I, are schools with significant enrollments of American Indian students. 

o In North Dakota in 2000, of the 691 students taking the AP Exams, 4 were American 
Indian. In 2005, of the 993 students taking the AP exams in North Dakota, only 7 
were American Indian. 

o This segment of North Dakotas' population will significantly impact the dependency 
ratio of the population of the state of North Dakota as they become future wage
earners in North Dakota, and American Indian graduates do not leave the state at the 
same ratio as mainstream graduates. 

o The Task Force should endorse the adoption of a policy of systemic representation 
through the creation of an Indian Education Advisory Council so that the North 
Dakota education community and professionals have a cadre of educators who can 
work on American Indian specific strategies designed to impact student achievement. 
As a part of the implementation of the P-16 Initiative, as legislation is considered, the 
Task Force should endorse the creation of American Indian specific legislation 
focused on strategies that will: 
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• Target schools with significant enrollments of American Indian learners, 
• Provide focused professional development for teachers of Indian students 

on pedagogical and culturally-appropriate methodologies, 
• Provide summer enrichment academies for students, 
• Create college-bound cohorts of American Indian students from middle 

through high school to sustain student engagement through college 
entrance, 

• Provide for career-path counseling and work-based experiences for both 
those who are post-secondary institution and work-bound, 

• Support the endorsement of an American Indian Education Office within 
the North Dakota Indian Affairs Commission as the oversight office for 
establishing partnerships for coordination and monitoring of efforts 
associated with this initiative. 

The Priority Issues 

As a result of what they heard and discussions at the first meeting, the Task Force members 
identified and prioritized the top four issues, which it addressed for the next 8 meetings: 

• The lack of alignment between expectations and standards in the pre-school through high 
school and the higher education systems, 

• The need to develop a more rigorous, accessible core curriculum, 
• The need to enhance recruiting and retention of quality teachers, and 
• The need to enhance career and academic guidance for students. 

It also identified two other top priority issues: 

• The need to educate the public about the importance of identifying and correcting 
weaknesses in the North Dakota education system, and 

■ The need to seek new and reallocate current resources to accomplish these goals. 

These latter two issues have been an ongoing discussion among the Task Force members. To 
date, the response of the Task Force to the need to educate the public has been a self-education 
process as well as education of key constituencies whom Task Force members represent, but the 
Task Force has had neither the resources nor the capacity to conduct significant public outreach 
beyond that. It has also begun to identify needed resources to accomplish the goals and strategies 
it has agreed upon, and Task Force members realize that many of the strategies adopted will 
require new resources for implementation. 
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The Principles 

Task Force members developed and generally agreed upon (not full consensus on all Principles) 
the following "Principles" upon which to build goals and strategies: 

I. To compete throughout their lives in the global marketplace, North Dakota students will 
require an education that is competitive on an international basis. 

2. Maintaining North Dakota's current level of educational achievement is not acceptable. 

3. The education system in North Dakota is being challenged by rising national and 
international standards, and these challenges will deepen unless significant changes are 
made in the near term. 

4. Most students, parents, teachers, administrators, policy makers and members of the public 
are currently unaware of the national and international challenges and are unprepared to 
make/support the changes needed to deal with them. 

5. Taking more rigorous courses, an expanded core curriculum, higher expectations, 
graduation proficiency requirements and alignment of proficiency standards throughout the 
education system in North Dakota are the foundation upon which significant educational 
progress for all North Dakota students can be built. 

6. All North Dakota students must be included in achieving educational progress, their 
progress needs to be regularly assessed, and they need to be given regular feedback and 
provided with sufficient resources to make significant progress. 

7. Proficiency standards for high school graduation in North Dakota are as applicable to 
students who go on to post-secondary education as they are to students who choose to enter 
the workforce after high school graduation, and they are essential to developing good 
citizens. 

8. Proficiency standards for high school graduation should prepare students for college level 
work, including college algebra, English composition and science. 

9. In order to achieve an internationally competitive education system, North Dakota must be 
able to attract and retain highly qualified and committed teachers and administrators. 

10. Achieving the kind of positive educational outcomes needed for all North Dakota students 
will require North Dakota citizens to be fully committed over the long term to making the 
changes necessary to achieve and maintain an internationally competitive education system. 
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Resolution of Support 

Based on what members of the Task Force had learned and the need to respond to the US 
Department of Education (DOE) relative to North Dakota students graduating from secondary 
schools with "rigorous curriculums" in order to qualify for new federal funding, while realizing 
their work was far from complete, on May 10, the Task Force members agreed to the following 
resolution to send to the US DOE: 

North Dakota P-16 Task Force Resolution 
In Support of an 

Academic Competitiveness Grant Alternative Rigorous Curriculum 

WHEREAS, the North Dakota P-16 Education Task Force, a joint initiative of the State Board 
for Public School Education, the State Board for Career and Technical Education, the Education 
Standards and Practices Board and the State Board of Higher Education, was established to align 
standards and create seamless transitions to college and work and enhance the rigor of all 
curricula offered in North Dakota schools; 

WHEREAS, North Dakota P-16 Task Force members represent the four state level education 
boards, parents and students, P-16 educators and administrators, Native American educators, the 
Governor's office and the North Dakota business community; 

WHEREAS, the North Dakota P-16 Task Force recognizes that Academic Competitiveness and 
SMART grants reward North Dakota's Federal Pell Grant eligible students who meet the 
rigorous curriculum requirements by providing additional grant funding to attend a 
postsecondary institution and therefore reduces the amount of money a student needs to borrow; 

WHEREAS, the North Dakota P-16 Task Force has examined and supports the State Board of 
Higher Education's baccalaureate program admission policy standards, effective since 1991, as 
an interim alternative rigorous secondary school program of study for a new federal Academic 
Competitiveness Grant; 

WHEREAS, only twenty-eight (28) of North Dakota's high schools do not currently offer 
foreign language instruction, but all North Dakota high schools, through newly created education 
cooperative Joint Powers Agreements, have the opportunity to offer foreign language instruction 
within the next two years, and the P-16 Education Task Force intends to recommend adding a 
foreign language to graduation requirements for those graduating from high school in four years 
(such a requirement is currently strongly recommended in the Board of Higher Education's 
baccalaureate program admission policy standards); and 

WHEREAS, North Dakota is seeking this "alternative rigorous program" designation for 
one year only and intends to have in place after that a compulsory statewide curriculum 
that meets or exceeds US Department of Education requirements for a rigorous program. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, the North Dakota P-16 Education Task Force 
supports the North Dakota Department of Public Instruction efforts in seeking U.S. Department 
of Education approval in defining an alternative rigorous secondary school curriculum based on 
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State Board of Higher Education baccalaureate admission policy for the Academic 
Competitiveness Grant for the 2006-2007 academic years. 

P-16 Education Task Force Mission, Vision, Goals and Strategies 

As a result of what they have discussed and learned over the last nine months, the Principles 
developed and the resolution conveyed to DOE, the Task Force members have developed and 
agreed upon the Task Force Mission, Vision, Goals and Strategies: 

[Note: Throughout this summary of the P-16 Education Task Force Mission, Vision, 
Goals and Strategies, unless otherwise specified, all language applies to grades P through 
16.] 

The P-16 Education Task Force (ETF) identified its Mission Statement, its purpose, as: 

The P-16 Education Task Force is committed to involving all essential stakeholders in an 
open, honest and respectful dialogue that will result in bold action to create the best 
possible, rigorous, seamless, uniform, efficient, and measurable education system for all 
students in North Dakota. 

The Vision Statement developed by the ETF is: 

All North Dakota students will be educated in an innovative, relevant, integrated and 
challenging system providing world-class quality to prepare them to be good citizens and to 
take full advantage of all opportunities available to them in their lives. 

The four Goals developed by the ETF to accomplish its Mission and help achieve the Vision are: 

Goal 1: North Dakota should put in place and enforce, throughout its P-16 education 
system, uniform, consistent proficiency expectations and standards and ensure that each 
student has a support system in place to enable the student to achieve proficiency. [This 
would mean an explicit move from "norm referenced" to "proficiency/competency" based 
standards.] 

Goal 2: All North Dakota students should have equitable access to and the expectation of 
completing a rigorous core curriculum/standards taught by effective and highly qualified 
P-16 educators. 

Goal 3: Top performing North Dakota students should be encouraged to become P-16 
educators. North Dakota educators are professionals, their quality should be assured, and 
they should be paid accordingly, including receiving additional resources for professional 
development and for demonstrated improved performance. 

Goal 4: North Dakota should provide academic and career assessment and counseling that 
is comprehensive, developmental and systematic from pre-school through post-secondary 
education and to employment and life, to help students: 
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• Enhance their academic achievement by linking classroom studies to future 
choices, 

• Achieve skills they will need to transition successfully to post-secondary 
education and work, and 

• Develop the skills needed to make informed decisions throughout life. 

Strategies in Priority Order (Because several task force Goals and Strategies overlap, it 
seemed logical for the Task Force members to take all Strategies developed separately for each 
of the four Goals and prioritize them in one group as follows: (See Appendix D for Goals and 
Strategies listed separately) 

1. Graduation/Admissions Requirements: While these standards may need to be increased 
in the future, legislation should require that, by 2012, in order to graduate from any high 
school and to be admitted to any post-secondary institution in North Dakota, without 
exception unless required by state or federal law, all students must meet state proficiency 
equivalent standards (see Goal I, Strategy 7) set for a minimum curriculum consisting of 4 
years of language arts/reading, 3 years of math, 3 years of science, 3 years of social/multi
cultural studies, I year of physical education, I year of a foreign or Native American 
language or I year of either career and technical education or fine arts. By 2014, in order to 
graduate from any high school and to be admitted to any post-secondary institution in North 
Dakota, without exception unless required by state or federal law, all students must meet 
state proficiency equivalent standards set for a minimum curriculum consisting of 4 years 
oflanguage arts/reading, 4 years of math, 3 years of science, 3 years of social/multi-cultural 
studies, I year of physical education, and 2 years of foreign or Native American language 
or 2 years of career and technical education or 2 years of fine arts. It is essential to note 
that, as these standards for a minimum curriculum are developed, how the state develops 
these standards and assessments of proficiency (see Goal I) will be critical and that the 
methods of meeting these standards/assessments need to be flexible, incorporating 
alternative methods of meeting "standards." The standards and assessments need to 
acknowledge that taking certain courses, such as language arts/reading and math, each year 
of high school is necessary but that obtaining foreign language "credits or equivalent 
learning experience" may be more beneficial in pre-high school years. Also, there is a 
strongly expressed preference for taking subjects in world and US history and culture--e.g., 
"multi-cultural studies." 

2. Ensuring Proficiency: The system created by the Joint Boards must, within eight years, 
provide that high school graduates have sufficient skills, knowledge and abilities to ensure 
success in a post-secondary education institution and preparedness for employment and 
citizenship. P-12 formative assessments, with clear feedback regarding levels of 
performance and appropriate interventions if needed for individual students, will be in place 
within the same time frame. It is understood that significant additional state funding will be 
required to develop this kind of system and other strategies being recommended, that 
unfunded mandates are very difficult for school districts and that a balance of new state 
resources, changes in allocation of current school district resources and other creative and 
innovative solutions such as those that may be provided through educational associations 
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(Joint Powers Agreements) will be essential to developing a world class education system 
that will ensure success for all students. 

3. Data and Evaluation: Legislation authorizing the Joint Boards to create a seamless 
education process throughout North Dakota's education system must include the 
requirement of the development, within three years, of a uniform, statewide methodology to 
follow and evaluate students and provide feedback to them throughout their matriculation in 
all North Dakota elementary, secondary and post-secondary education systems. 

4. Alignment Commission: The Joint Boards must establish a select group of education 
leaders and employers, including American Indian, and other representatives in North 
Dakota, relying on content experts and staff and, delegate necessary authority to establish 
and align proficiency standards throughout the P-16 system on a continuing basis in order 
to enable changes in standards necessary to ensure that all students are well prepared for 
furthering their education, for work, for citizenship and for life. (See Appendix C) 

5. Full Day Kindergarten at Age 6: Because brain research indicates that earlier learning is 
a critical time for developing and providing a sound basis for life-long learning, the 
legislature should provide full funding for all-day kindergarten and make kindergarten 
compulsory by age six. 

6. Core Areas: The system created by the Joint Boards must, within eight years, ensure 
demonstrated student proficiency in four core areas (language arts/reading, math, science, 
and social/multi-cultural studies) in order to progress and to graduate from high school and 
post-secondary education. 

7. Increased Student-Teacher Contact Days: In order to enhance the opportunity for 
greater teacher-student engagement, the North Dakota legislature should enact legislation to 
increase the minimum number of student-teacher contact days to 178 days for the 2009-10 
school year and to 183 days for the 2012-13 school year. 

8. Additional Units: In order to meet these enhanced standards and gain proficiency in core 
and other subject areas and meet the demands of a new higher technology and world 
economy, by 2009, students graduating from high school in North Dakota must have 
completed 22 units, and, by 2011, all students graduating from high school in North Dakota 
must have completed 24 units. 

9. Pilot Projects: The 2007 legislative session should provide for several demonstration/pilot 
projects in small, medium and large school districts and public schools on American Indian 
reservations or education associations (Joint Powers Agreements) throughout North Dakota 
to develop different approaches for implementing more rigorous curriculums. Between 
sessions, the pilots should report on progress to an appropriate legislative interim 
committee and to the 2009 legislative session. 

10. Adequate Resources for All Students: Legislation must provide for a process to generate 
the educational resources necessary to assist all students to meet proficiency standards. 
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11. Authority: The legislature must give the Joint Boards the authority to develop and 
implement/enforce uniform, consistent proficiency expectations and standards throughout 
the North Dakota P-16 education system. 

12. Comprehensive, Consistent Counseling Program: By 2008, a state-funded PLAN ACT 
program, a common, consistent and comprehensive counseling program will be 
administered to all high school sophomore students in North Dakota. Other tools may also 
be utilized in addition to PLAN. 

13. Counselor/Student Ratios: By 2009, state funding will provide for a sufficient number of 
counselors in each district to ensure a counselor/student ratio of l /250 as recommended by 
the American School Counselor Association. 

14. Incentives for Current and Prospective Teachers: Legislation enacted by the 2007 
session should ·put in place an array of state sponsored scholarships, student loan 
reductions/forgiveness and other incentives for prospective proficient students and P-16 
educators to utilize for all forms of professional development-i.e., to become P- I 6 
educators or to enhance the abilities of P-16 educators. Such incentives should be a priority 
in high need/hard to fill areas. 

15. Improved Professional Development: By 2008, the Joint Boards, through their 
professional staffs, will develop an improved P-16 educator professional development 
system, including mentorships, designed to enhance and continuously improve teaching 
practice, content knowledge and proficiency, especially in language arts/reading, 
mathematics, social/multi-cultural studies and science. 

I 6. Educator Salaries at the National Average: Assuming a steady increase in curriculum 
rigor and student proficiency, a model(s) selected by 2011, based on pilot outcomes, will 
ensure that, by 2014, demonstrated proficient P-16 educators' average salary and benefits 
will meet or exceed the national average, factoring in costs of living, and will remain at 
those levels as long as rigor and proficiency continue to increase. 

17. Pilot Projects on Linking Increased Proficiency/Educator Pay: Incentives provided by 
the 2007 North Dakota legislative assembly should provide for pilot projects at all levels of 
education in North Dakota to develop models to demonstrate alternative methods of 
determining when and how improved rigor of curriculums and student proficiency occur 
(see Goals I and 2) and to develop alternative models for increasing salary and benefits of 
North Dakota P-16 educators commensurate with the demonstrated rate of improvement in 
curriculum rigor and student proficiency. 

18. All Students Assessed: By 2007, all students, when they enter the North Dakota education 
system anywhere along their K-12 education path, will be thoroughly assessed by a school 
counselor or other educators for level of academic and career abilities and interests. 
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19. Individual Student Academic/Career Plans: Counselors and educators will utilize such 
assessments to help students develop individual student academic and career plans which 
will be reviewed annually with teachers and parents/guardians to determine appropriate 
education needs and paths for each student. 

20. Integrating Career Development in Instruction: Educators and counselors will be 
provided with the knowledge and skills to integrate career development competencies with 
the standards and benchmarks of their current instructional program. 

21. Academies: Academies should be developed and fostered throughout the State through 
partnerships between all levels of education and the private sector to include languages and 
other subjects such as fine arts, music, career and technical education, internships and 
remediation opportunities that would allow all students in the State to have the opportunity 
to attend school year-round. 

22. Incentives for Degrees/Certification: Incentives enacted by the 2007 North Dakota 
legislature to P-16 educators for assistance in and increased salary and benefits for 
obtaining an Advanced Degree and/or National Board Certification will ensure that North 
Dakota begins to increase its numbers of P-16 educators with Advanced Degrees and/or 
National Board Certification by at least 5% per year by 2009. 

23. Development of Legislation: ETF and Consensus Council Staff will work with ETF 
member legislators and other interested legislators/Legislative Council staff to develop a 
draft of such authorizing legislation by June 30, 2006. (See Appendix C) 

24. Educator Appreciation: The Governor, legislature, each community and every school 
district and campus should declare the first full week of May of each year as North Dakota 
Educator Appreciation Week and the first Tuesday of that week as North Dakota's 
Educator Day, dedicated to celebrating, recognizing, recruiting, encouraging and rewarding 
educators and potential educators. 

25. Recruiting New Educators: Educators at all levels of education in North Dakota should 
actively recruit the most proficient and dedicated students to pursue the education 
profession and should encourage and provide opportunities for such students to mentor 
fellow students, adult learners and others in order to enhance their skills and to learn more 
about the profession. 

26. Access to Post-Secondary Admissions Information: By 2007, all institutions of post
secondary education in North Dakota will provide all counselors and educators throughout 
the State--and to the greatest extent possible, nationally and internationally-with access to 
updated information on that institution's expectations and requirements for admission to 
and graduation from the institution. Such expectations and requirements will contain not 
only those currently in place but also those anticipated to be in place at least four years in 
the future. 

- NextSteps 
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The recently released draft report of the North Dakota Education Improvement Commission 
(EIC), while its focus has been on equity issues, states, in pertinent part: 

• Beyond the statutory requirements and funding policies of the State of North Dakota, it 
could be argued that there are a number of "expectations" of school districts that remain 
undefined in any formal way but nevertheless are assumed to be prevalent in almost all 
school districts. Further, there are general understandings of "Best practices" that are 
strongly encouraged by administrators but are not "required" per se. It should be the 
goal of the legislature to review these "Best practices" on an ongoing basis and 
continually review which of these should be included in the state's own definition of 
an adequate education. 

• Research indicates that teachers with more training and more experience do improve 
educational outcomes generally. Policymakers should ensure that adequate 
resources are identified to fund a prototypical teaching staff with varying levels of 
qualification and experience in every school district. 

• Career development specialists as well as the popular media, have arrived at a general 
consensus that many of the best job opportunities in the future will require the 
availability of instruction in advanced Math and Science as well as formal 
instruction in foreign language. Legislators should review these changing expectations 
in school curriculums over time and make policy decisions that coincide with the 
expectations of the general public. Once these policy choices are determined, legislators 
should identify the means by which all school districts have adequate resources available 
to fund these course requirements. (Emphasis added) 

The Task Force has heard from a broad array of experts, learned a great deal from each other in 
the course of its deliberations and agreed upon a Mission, Vision, Goals and 26 strategies to be 
implemented to address serious education challenges in North Dakota and to achieve its Vision 
of a "world-class" education system. Its recommendations are consistent with and address the 
"adequacy" recommendations of the EIC. It is essential, therefore, that these recommendations 
be treated with urgency. Many strategies can be implemented with and through the education 
JP As, which may be able to do so in a more cost-effective manner. 

While the recommended strategies have been prioritized by the Task Force, they need not be 
implemented in priority order. Some strategies are already being implemented; some, with a 
nudge from the Joint Boards, could be implemented relatively quickly. Some will likely require 
legislative action. 

The Joint Boards will need to determine which strategies the Joint Boards or individual boards 
are able to implement without legislation. The Task Force believes that the Joint Boards need to 
decide whether all or some of the recommendations are acceptable and make revisions as 
appropriate, bearing in mind that they are the product of 9 months of negotiation and consensus 
building among a very diverse group of North Dakotans. It will be difficult and likely counter-
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productive to select some recommendations and eliminate or significantly alter others and 
maintain credibility of the work of the Task Force. 

Two immediate actions will be essential to carrying on the work of the Task Force
establishment of a Task Force Implementation Committee, to begin the specific work of 
strategies implementation, and an Alignment Commission, to begin the establishment of 
integrated curriculums, expectations and standards. The Task Force has recommended broad 
policy directions. As in Michigan, it has determined that "the how" of implementation needs to 
be left to professionals. 

The Implementation Committee will need to assist with the development of legislation as 
necessary, with securing state, federal, foundation and other funding and resources for ongoing 
funding of the Committee's work and for implementation of the Task Force strategies. It will 
require substantial Joint Boards' support as it moves forward, and that may mean that the Joint 
Boards need to meet more often than they have traditionally to help move the agenda forward. It 
may be appropriate that the Joint Boards meet with the EIC as well. 

To achieve the Vision for education developed by the Task Force, the Alignment Commission 
should have broad authority, with and through the· Joint Boards, to develop, implement and 
enforce uniform, consistent proficiency expectations and standards throughout the North Dakota 
P-16 education systeni. and to do so on a continuing basis in order to enable changes in standards 
necessary to ensure that all North Dakota students are well prepared for furthering their 
education, for work, for citizenship and for life. 
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- AppendixA 

P-16 Education Task Force Glossary 

As used in this summary, the following terms mean: 

Academies 

Admission Standards 

Alignment Commission 

All Students 

Contact Days 

Core 

ETF 

Education Task Force 

Educators 

Formative Assessments 

Usually, single subject education experiences which are shorter
term and more intense than traditional classes 

As distinct from core curriculum, although including core 
curriculum classes, these are requirements that must be met in 
order to be accepted into post-secondary institutions in North 
Dakota 

A proposed new entity consisting of 9 members that would be 
created to ensure continuous alignment of curriculum, standards 
and practices between P-16 levels of education in North Dakota 
and may be charged with greater responsibility relative to 
implementation of P-16 consensus agreements 

This term is used intentionally throughout the document to denote 
any and all students at any stage of their matriculation in education 
in North Dakota. It is intended to include American Indian, special 
needs, New American and other students. 

The minimum number of full school days ( currently 173 in North 
Dakota) in an academic year during which, in first grade through 
senior year of high school, teachers are required to teach students 

Essential and/or required 

Education Task Force 

The entity created by the Joint Boards to examine P-16 education 
issues in North Dakota and develop consensus recommendations 
for enhancing the quality of education in grades P through 16 

Unless otherwise specified, includes elementary, secondary and 
post-secondary institution teachers, professors, counselors and 
administrators 

Evaluating and assisting students in such a way as to ensure they 
possess or are able to develop proficiency 
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e 

Joint Boards 

JPA 

Mentor/Mentorships 

P-16 

PLAN 

Four education boards in North Dakota-the State Board of Public 
School Education, the State Board of Higher Education, the 
Education Standards and Practices Board and the State Board for 
Career and Technical Education-charged by statute, Section 15.1-
01-02 NDCC, with coordinating and cooperating on education 
issues for students, educators and administrators and on projects 
beneficial to education in North Dakota 

In legislative terms, "education associations," these are education 
districts that have agreed to work together through joint powers 
agreements. Currently, 94% of elementary and secondary students 
in North Dakota are covered by JPAs 

Experienced educators/others working directly with inexperienced 
educators/others to assist them in orientation and skills 
development 

Pre-school through four years of college. This effort contrasts to 
other states' efforts such as K-12 (kindergarten through high 
school), P-20 (pre-school through post-graduate/professional/PhD 
programs) 

An ACT program for educational planning that is a predictor of 
success on the ACT test and focuses attention on both career 
preparation and improving academic achievement, typically 
administered in the fall of the sophomore year of high school 

Post-secondary Institutions of learning beyond high school, which include 
community and junior colleges, career and technical institutions 
and four year colleges and universities 

Professional Development Leaming new or enhancing existing skills 

Proficiency Possessing sufficient skills, knowledge and abilities to ensure 
success in post-secondary education institutions and preparedness 
for employment and citizenship 

Rigor/Rigorous As applied to curriculum, a course _ of study and outcomes 
sufficiently exacting and stimulating to ensure student proficiency 

Unit Sometimes referred to as a credit, it is a secondary school course. 
In the document, its use is in reference to the current North Dakota 
requirement for secondary school students to successfully 
complete 21 "units" to graduate from secondary school 
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T: (701) 662-8724 T: (701) 328-5345 

F: (701) 328-5320 F: (701) 662-8338 

Mr. Martin Dahl (Marty) 
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Minot Service Area Manager 
Verendrye Electric Cooperative, Inc 
1225 Hwy 2 East 

Mr. Roger Helland, Vice President Minot, ND 58701 - Widseth Smith Nolting E: martindd@verendrye.com 
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Grand Forks, ND 58208 F: (701) 624-0231 
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T: (701) 223-0010 
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Staff Members 

Ms. Julie Schepp 
North Dakota University System 
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F: (701) 328-2961 
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T: (701) 328-2267 
F: (701) 328-2461 



Appendix C 

North Dakota Law regarding the Joint Boards 

15.1-01-02. Joint meetings - State board of public school education - State board of higher 
education - Education standards and practices board - State board for career and technical 
education. The state board of public school education, the state board of higher education, the 
education standards and practices board, and the state board for career and technical education 
shall meet together at least once each year at the call of the superintendent of public instruction, 
the commissioner of higher education, the executive director of the education standards and 
practices board, and the director of career and technical education for the purposes of: 

1. Coordinating elementary and secondary education programs, career and technical education 
programs, and higher education programs. In order to foster such coordination, the Joint Boards 
shall establish and provide appropriate staffing for a permanent P-16 Alignment Commission, 
consisting of members appointed by the Joint Boards who represent each of the boards and at 
least some of whom are current P-16 educators and members of the business, American Indian 
and student communities. The Alignment Commission shall develop and agree upon common 
standards for all core curriculum courses taught by P-16 educators in the state. It will annually 
recommend such standards to the Joint Boards, which will consider and implement or 
recommend legislative implementation as appropriate of those standards on which the Joint 
Boards agree. 

2. Cooperating in the prov1s1on of professional growth and development opportunities for 
elementary and secondary teachers and administrators. 

3. Ensuring cooperation m any other jointly beneficial project or program. 
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- AppendixD 

The P-16 Education Task Force Mission, Vision, Goals and Strategies 

[Note: Throughout this document, unless otherwise specified, everything applies 
to grades P through 16.] 

Mission Statement 

The P-16 Education Task Force is committed to involving all essential stakeholders in an open, 
honest and respectful dialogue that will result in bold action to create the best possible, rigorous, 
seamless, uniform, efficient, and measurable education system for all students in North Dakota. 

Vision Statement 

All North Dakota students will be educated in an innovative, relevant, integrated and challenging 
system providing world-class quality to prepare them to be good citizens and to take full 
advantage of all opportunities available to them in their lives. 

Goal 1: North Dakota should put in place and enforce, throughout its P-16 education system, 
uniform, consistent proficiency expectations and standards and ensure that each student has a 
support system in place to enable the student to achieve proficiency. [This would mean an 
explicit move from "norm referenced" to "proficiency/competency" based standards.] 

Strategies: 

I. Authority: The legislature must give the Joint Boards the authority to develop and 
implement/enforce uniform, consistent proficiency expectations and standards throughout 
the North Dakota P-16 education system. 

2. Alignment Commission: The Joint Boards must establish a select group of education 
leaders and employers, including American Indian, and other representatives in North 
Dakota, relying on content experts and staff and, delegate necessary authority to establish 
and align proficiency standards throughout the P-16 system on a continuing basis in order 
to enable changes in standards necessary to ensure that all students are well prepared for 
furthering their education, for work, for citizenship and for life. (See Appendix C) 

3. Development of Legislation: ETF and Consensus Council Staff will work with ETF 
member legislators and other interested legislators/Legislative Council staff to develop a 
draft of such authorizing legislation by June 30, 2006. 

4. Data and Evaluation: Such legislation authorizing the joint boards to create a seamless 
education process throughout North Dakota's education system must include the 
requirement of the development, within three years, of a uniform, statewide methodology to 
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follow and evaluate students and provide feedback to them throughout their matriculation in 
all North Dakota elementary, secondary and higher education systems. 

5. Ensuring Proficiency: The system, created by the four joint boards must within eight years, 
ensure that high school graduates have sufficient skills, knowledge and abilities to ensure 
success in a post-secondary education institution and preparedness for employment and 
citizenship. P-12 formative assessments, with clear feedback regarding levels of 
performance and appropriate interventions if needed for individual students, will be in place 
within the same timeframe. It is understood that significant additional state funding will be 
required to develop this kind of system and other strategies being recommended, that 
unfunded mandates are very difficult for school districts and that a balance of new state 
resources, changes in allocation of current school district resources and other creative and 
innovative solutions such as those that may be provided through educational associations 
(Joint Powers Agreements) will be essential to developing a world class education system 
that will ensure success for all students. 

6. Adequate Resources for All Students: The legislation must provide for a process to generate 
the educational resources necessary to assist all students to meet proficiency standards. 

7. Core Areas: The system created by the four joint boards must, within eight years, ensure 
demonstrated student proficiency in four core areas (language arts/reading, math, science, 
and social/multi-cultural studies) in order to progress and to graduate from high school and 
post-secondary education. 

Goal 2: All North Dakota students should have equitable access to and the expectation of 
completing a rigorous core curriculum/standards taught by highly qualified P-16 educators. 

Strategies: 

1. Pilot Projects: The 2007 legislative session should provide for several demonstration/pilot 
projects in small, medium and large school districts and on American Indian reservations or 
education associations (Joint Powers Agreements) throughout North Dakota to develop 
different approaches for implementing more rigorous curriculums. Between sessions, the 
pilots should report on progress to an appropriate interim committee and to the 2009 
legislative session. 

2. Graduation/ Admissions Requirements: While these standards may need to be increased in 
the future, legislation should require that, by 2012, in order to graduate from any high 
school and to be admitted to any post-secondary institution in North Dakota, without 
exception unless required by state or federal law, all students must meet state proficiency 
equivalent standards ( see Goal 1, Strategy 7) set for a minimum curriculum consisting of 4 
years of language arts/reading, 3 years of math, 3 years of science, 3 years of social/multi
cultural studies, 1 year of physical education, 1 year of a foreign or Native American 
language or 1 year of either career and technical education or fine arts. By 2014, in order to 
graduate from any high school and to be admitted to any post-secondary institution in North 
Dakota, without exception unless required by state or federal law, all students must meet 

26 



state proficiency equivalent standards set for a minimum curriculum consisting of 4 years 
of language arts/reading, 4 years of math, 3 years of science, 3 years of social/multi-cultural 
studies, I year of physical education, and 2 years of foreign or Native American language 
or 2 years of career and technical education or 2 years of fine arts. It is essential to note 
that, as these standards for a minimum curriculum are developed, how the state develops 
these standards and assessments of proficiency (see Goal 1) will be critical and that the 
methods of meeting these standards/assessments need to be flexible, incorporating 
alternative methods of meeting "standards." The standards and assessments need to 
acknowledge that taking certain courses, such as language arts/reading and math, each year 
of high school is necessary but that obtaining foreign language "credits or equivalent 
learning experience" may be more beneficial in pre-high school years. Also, there is a 
strongly expressed preference for taking subjects in world and US history and culture---e.g., 
"multi-cultural studies." 

3. Additional Units: In order to meet these enhanced standards and gain proficiency in core 
and other subjects and meet the demands of a new higher technology and world economy, 
by 2009, students graduating from high school in North Dakota must have completed 22 
units, and, by 20 I 1, all students graduating from high school in North Dakota must have 
completed 24 units. 

4. Academies: Academies should be developed and fostered throughout the State through 
partnerships between all levels of education and the private sector to include languages and 
other subjects such as fine arts, music, career and technical education, internships and 
remediation opportunities so that all students in the State have the opportunity to attend 
school year-round. 

5. Full Day Kindergarten at Age 6: Because brain research indicates that earlier learning is a 
critical time for developing and providing a sound basis for life-long learning, the 
legislature should provide full funding for all-day kindergarten and make kindergarten 
compulsory by age six. 

6. Increased Student-Teacher Contact Days: In order to enhance the opportunity for greater 
teacher-student engagement, the North Dakota legislature should enact legislation to 
increase the minimum number of student-teacher contact days to 178 by 2009 and to 183 by 
2011. 

Goal 3: Top performing North Dakota students should be encouraged to become P-16 educators. 
North Dakota educators are professionals, their quality should be assured, and they should be 
paid accordingly, including receiving additional resources for professional development and for 
demonstrated improved performance. · 

Strategies: 

1. Improved Professional Development: By 2008, the Joint Boards, through their professional 
staffs, will develop an improved P-16 educator professional development system, including 
mentorships, designed to enhance and continuously improve teaching practice, content 
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knowledge and proficiency, especially in language arts/reading, mathematics, social/multi
cultural studies and science. 

2. Incentives for Degrees/Certification: Incentives provided by the 2007 North Dakota 
legislature to educators for assistance in and increased salary and benefits for obtaining an 
Advanced Degree and/or National Board Certification will ensure that North Dakota begins 
to increase its numbers of P-16 educators with Advanced Degrees and/or National Board 
Certification by at least 5% per year by 2009. 

3. Incentives for Current and Prospective Teachers: Legislation enacted by the 2007 session 
will put in place an array of state sponsored scholarships, student loan 
reductions/forgiveness and other incentives for prospective proficient students and P-16 
educators to utilize for all forms of professional development-i.e., to become or enhance 
the abilities of P-16 educators. Such incentives should be a priority in high need/hard to fill 
areas. 

4. Pilot Projects on Linking Increased Proficiency/Educator Pay: Incentives provided by the 
2007 North Dakota legislative assembly, should provide for pilot projects at all levels of 
education in North Dakota aimed at developing models to demonstrate alternative methods 
of determining when and how improved rigor of curriculums and student proficiency occur 
(see Goals 1 and 2) and developing alternative models for increasing salary and benefits for 
North Dakota P-16 educators commensurate with the demonstrated rate of improvement in 
curriculum rigor and student proficiency. 

5. Educator Salaries at the National Average: Assuming a steady increase in curriculum rigor 
and student proficiency, a model(s) selected by 2011, based on pilot outcomes, will ensure 
that, by 2014, demonstrated proficient P-16 educator average salary and benefits will meet 
or exceed the national average, factoring in cost of living, and remain at those levels as long 
as rigor and proficiency continue to increase. 

6. Educator Appreciation: The Governor, legislature, each community and every school 
district and campus should declare the first full week of May of each year as North Dakota 
Educator Appreciation Week and the first Tuesday of that week as North Dakota's 
Educator Day, dedicated to celebrating, recognizing, recruiting, encouraging and rewarding 
educators and potential educators. 

7. Recruiting New Educators: Educators at all levels of education in North Dakota should 
actively recruit the most proficient and dedicated students to pursue the education 
profession and should encourage and provide opportunities for such students to mentor 
fellow students, adult learners and others in order to enhance their skills and to learn more 
about the profession. 

Goal 4: North Dakota should provide academic and career assessment and counseling that is 
comprehensive, developmental and systematic from pre-school through post-secondary 
education and to employment and life, to help students: 
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Strategies: 

• Enhance their academic achievement by linking classroom studies to future 
choices, 

• Achieve skills they will need to transition successfully to post-secondary 
education and work, and 

• Develop the skills needed to make informed decisions throughout life. 

I. Counselor/Student Ratios: By 2009, state funding will provide a sufficient number of 
counselors in each district to ensure a counselor/student ratio of 1/250 as recommended by 
the American School Counselor Association. 

2. All Students Assessed: By 2007, all students, when they enter the North Dakota education 
system anywhere along their K-12 education path, will be thoroughly assessed by a school 
counselor or other educators for level of academic and career abilities and interests. 

3. Comprehensive, Consistent Counseling Program: By 2008, a state-funded PLAN ACT 
program, a common, consistent and comprehensive counseling program will be 
administered to all high school sophomore students in North Dakota. Other tools may also 
be utilized in addition to PLAN. 

4. Individual Student Academic/Career Plans: Counselors and educators will utilize such 
assessments to help students develop individual student academic and career plans which 
will be reviewed annually with teachers and parents/guardians to determine appropriate 
education needs and paths for each student. 

5. Integrating Career Development into Instruction: Educators and counselors will be 
provided with the knowledge and skills to integrate career development competencies with 
the standards and benchmarks of their current instructional program. 

6. Access to Post-Secondary Admissions Information: By 2007, all institutions of post
secondary education in North Dakota will prov_ide all counselors and educators throughout 
the State-and to the greatest extent possible, nationally and internationally-with access to 
updated information on that institution's expectations and requirements for admission to 
and graduation from the institution. Such expectations and requirements will contain not 
only those currently in place but also those anticipated to be in place at least four years in 
the future. 
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Senate Education Committee 
Testimony on SB 2309 

January 29, 2007 

Mr. Chainnan and members of the Senate Education Committee, my name is Wayne 

Kutzer, Director of the Department of Career and Technical Education. With the amendments 

that have been proposed, I support SB 2309. As amended, section one of this bill is critically 

needed to set up the process where the joint boards can continue to work on the goals that the P-

16 Task Force established. The work of the P-16 Task Force outlined a global perspective of 

what needs to be done to assist our young people to succeed. But as so often heard, "the devil in 

the details" and in this particular case it is so true. The task force recommended a standards 

approach, recognizing that it may take different paths for a student to end up at the same goal. It 

was not about the how long they have to sit in a chair or how they learned the knowledge and 

skills necessary to go on to the next level, it was important that they are able to succeed at the 

next level what ever that may be. The amended section one helps us do that. 

While Section three of this bill is similar to the recommendation of the P-16 Task Force it 

is not what the P-16 recommended and as the amendment suggests, the section should be 

dropped so that work can continue to bring the elements of P-16 into a workable reality. 

P-16 did not equate credits or units to the courses; it did not say four "units" of language 

arts. It specifically referred to "years" oflanguage arts. While that may not seem like a big 

difference it was what we worked out after 9 intense months of discussion and negotiations. The 

difference meant to reflect flexibility on just how a student could get the knowledge. In the case 

of math it is important that a student have math every year in high school, but they could get that 

math through a math related class. If a student takes a course in electronics, computer 

programming, or construction the imbedded math in those courses could count. It is proven that 
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if students learn a concept in context they will be able to retain it and apply that math concept 

through understanding, that doesn't happen with rote memory. A higher level oflearning takes 

place when a student can apply their learning to different situations. 

On pages I line 22 and page 2 line I they should end with the word "or" not "and". It 

was the recommendation of the P-16 that it would be "foreign language or career and technical 

or fine arts". The way it is written in this bill foreign language is a requirement and then there is 

a choice of either· career and technical or fine arts. 

Attached is a section of the final report from the P-16 Task Force which uses the "years" 

term, as well as the foreign language "or" career and technical or fine arts. It further goes on to 

say that "how the state develops these standards and assessments of proficiency will be critical 

and that the methods of meetin·g these standards/assessments need to be flexible, incorporating 

alternative methods of meeting standards". 
/ 

Through this language P- 16 recognized that not all students learn the same, that 

alternative methods of teaching and learning need to be made available to students, and we need 

to be flexible in how we deliver content. 

With the amendments that have been offered, I support SB 2309. I would be glad to 

answer any questions. 



Heart Disease and Stroke. You're the Cure. 

Testimony 
Senate Bill 2309 

Senate Education Committee 
Monday, January 29, 2007 
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Chairman Freborg, members of the Senate Education Committee. My name is June Herman and I am the 

Senior Director of advocacy for the American Heart Association. I am here today to testify in support of 

Senate Bill 2309, and ask for a "do pass" recommendation from this committee. 

Our specific area of interest is with the graduation requirement of Physical Education. North Dakota is 

one of the few states in the nation that does not have state established graduation requirements, nor does it 

have a mechanism for school districts to report to the state their local requirements. As a result, it is 

difficult to even obtain an accurate performance picture for our state in order to seek systeni 

improvements. 

The habits our young people acquire as adolescents are often the practices they will continue as adults. 

Just last week in a meeting to develop a state cardiovascular health plan, I learned that the snapshot of our 

graduating seniors is not only what a community will have as its workforce, but five years later as a 

profile for the community's next parents. According to the Surgeon General's Call to Action to Prevent 

and Decrease Overweight and Obesity, only half of adolescents regularly participate in vigorous physical 

activity and one-fourth report no physical activity. This doesn't bode well for North Dakota workforce 

competitiveness or for the state's growing health care burden. 

Through expanded physical education and physical activity in schools, the prospects for better health 

among our young people will be significantly improved. They will learn behaviors and activities that will 

greatly enhance the pursuit of a lifetime of physical activity. Newly designed physical education courses 

go far beyond "playing ball." These curriculums focus on teaching young people the kinds of lifestyles 

and behaviors that will enhance their physical fitness and quality of life well into their adult years. 

Please give Senate Bill 2313 a "do pass" recommendation. I am willing to respond to any questions you 

may have. 

American Heart Association • Advocacy Department 
PO Box 1287 Jamestown, ND 58402 
Phone 701-252-5122 or 1-800-437-9710 • Fax 701-251-2092 
www.americanheart.org 
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House Education Committee 
Testimony on SB 2309 

March 12, 2007 

Madam Chair and members of the House Education Committee, my name is Wayne 

Kutzer, Director of the Department of Career and Technical Education. 

I support the emphasis of this bill and some of the changes that have been made to this 

bill since its introduction are in keeping with the final report of the P-16 Task Force. 

Unfortunately Section 1 of the original bill was deleted along with a proposed amendment which 

is critical to the successful implementation of this bill. Section 1 and the amendment outlined 

that the joint boards, which assembled the P-16 Task Force, form an alignment committee to 

continue to work on the goals that the P-16 Task Force established, develop a statewide 

implementation plan, and provide funding for it to operate . 

I 
The work of the P-16 Task Force outlined a global persptctive of what needs to pe done 

to assist our young people to succeed. But as so often heard, "the devil in the details" and in this 

particular case it is so true. The task force recommended a standards approach, recognizing that 

it may take different paths for a student to end up at the same goal. It was not about the how 

long they have to sit in a chair or how they learned the knowledge and skills necessary to go on 

to the next level, it was important that they are able to succeed at the next level what ever that 

may be. 

As you notice in Section 2, it specifically referred to "years" of a course, instead of units 

or credits. Attached is a section of the final report from the P-16 Task Force which uses the 

"years" term. While that may not seem like a big difference it was what we worked out after 9 

intense months of discussion and negotiations. The difference meant to reflect flexibility on just 

• how a student could get the knowledge. In the case of math it is important that a student have 
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math every year in high school, but they could get that math through a math related class. If a 

studen~ takes a course in electronics, computer programming, or construction, the imbedded 

math in those courses could count. It is proven that if students learn a concept in context they 

will be able to retain it and apply that math concept through understanding, that doesn't happen 

with rote memory. A higher level of learning takes place when a student can apply their learning 

to different situations. 

In the middle of the page where it is italicized, it states "how the state develops these 

standards and assessments of proficiency will be critical and that the methods of meeting these 

standards/assessments need to be flexible, incorporating alternative methods of meeting 

standards". Through this language P-16 recognized that not all students learn the same, that 

alternative methods of teaching and learning need to be made available to students, and we need 

to be flexible in how we deliver content. Attached is a set of options that the state of Michigan 
t 

established for satisfying the math requirements, through its mahy scenario's it illustrates how 

;, 
they have built flexibility into their system. That is what we need an alignment committee to 

work on. 

This is an important bill, too important to not try to insure its success with thoughtful 

planning. With this change I can.fully support SB 2309. I would be glad to answer any 

questions . 

\ 

) 
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Excerpt from Final P-16 Report 

I. Graduation/Admissions Requirements: While these standards may need to be increased 
in the future, legislation should require that, by 2012, in order to graduate from any high 
school and to be admitted to any post-secondary institution in North Dakota, without 
exception unless required by state or federal law, all students must meet state proficiency 
equivalent standards (see Goal I, Strategy 7) set for a minimum curriculum consisting of 4 
years of language arts/reading, 3 years of math, 3 years of science, 3 years of social/multi
cultural studies, I year of physical education, I year of a foreign or Native American 
language or I year of either career and technical education or fine arts. By 2014, in order to 
graduate from any high school and to be admitted to any post-secondary institution in North 
Dakota, without exception unless required by state or federal law, all students must meet 
state proficiency equivalent standards set for a minimum curriculum consisting of 4 years 
of language arts/reading, 4 years of math, 3 years of science, 3 years of social/multi-cultural 
studies, I year of physical education, and 2 years of foreign or Native American language 
or 2 years of career and technical education or 2 years of fine arts. It is essential to note 
that, as these standards for a minimum curriculum are developed, how the state develops 
these standards and assessments of proficiency (see Goal I) will be critical and that the 
methods of meeting these standards/assessments need to be flexible, incorporating 
alternative methods of meeting "standards." The standards and assessments need to 
acknowledge that taking certain courses, such as language arts/reading and math, each year 
of high school is necessary but that obtaining foreign language "credits or equivalent 
learning experience" may be more beneficial in pre-high school years. Also, there is a 
strongly expressed preference for taking subjects in world and US history and culture-e.g., 
"multi-cultural studies." 



High School Graduation Math Modification 
Options and Sample Scenarios 

(While it is not possible co anticipate all the situaa·ons that may prompt a student co seek a "personal 
curriculum plan" in mathematics, these scenarios may represent some common situations chat schools may 
encounter.) 

A parent or legal guardian may request the development of a personal curriculum plan. The plan 
must: 

• 

• 
• 
• 

• 

Be developed by a group consisting of a student and a parent or legal guardian, the pupil's 
counselor or other designees selected by the principal 

Incorporate as much of the subject area content expectations as practical 

Provide a method of evaluating whether the student has achieved the goals 

Align with the student's education development plan 

A student's parent must be in contact with each of the student's teachers once each calendar 
quarter to monitor their child's progress in the goals contained in the personal curriculum 
plan 

To create a personal curriculum in mathematics, a swdent must 

• Complete .5 credit in Algebra 2 

• Complete a total of 3.5 credits in mathematics 

• Complete I math or math-related class in the final year 

Option I: 

✓ Student completes 2.5 credits in mathematics before requesting a modification 

✓ Student completes .5 credit in Algebra 2 

✓ Student completes 3.5 credits in mathematics 

✓ Student completes I math or math-related class in the final year 

Scenario I: Bill successfully completes I credit of Algebra I in 9"' grade, I credit of Geometry in IO"' 
grade and .5 credit of Algebra 2 in the 11"' grade for a total of 2.5 credits. A personal curriculum plan 
is developed allowing Bill not to complete the second half of Algebra 2. Bill completes I credit of 
Accounting in his final year. Bill graduates with 3.5 mathematics credits. 

Scenario 2: Jean successfully completes I credit of Math Concepts (math-related) in 9"' grade, I 
credit of Algebra I in IO"' grade, I credit of Geometry in 11"' grade, and .5 credit of Algebra 2 in the 
final year. A personal curriculum plan is developed allowing Jean not to complete the second half of 
Algebra 2. Jean graduates with 3.5 credits in mathematics. 

Scenario 3: Courtney successfully completes I credit of Algebra I in B"' grade, I credit of Geometry 
in 9"' grade, and .5 credit of Algebra 2 in IO"' grade. A personal curriculum plan is developed that 
allows her to not to complete the second half of Algebra 2. Courtney does not take a mathematics 
credit in her junior year. Courtney completes Accounting (math-related) in her final year. She 
graduates with 3.5 credits. (This is an unlikely scenario, given her early interest and success in math). 

/.-----, 

MICHIGA~~: 

Education 
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Option 2: 
✓ Student completes Algebra 2 over 2 years (for two credits) 

✓ Student completes I math or math-related class in the final year 

Scenario I: Jake successfully completes Algebra I in 9"' grade and Geometry in IO"' grade. A 
personal curriculum plan is developed to allow Jake to complete 2 credits of Algebra 2 over a two 
year period. He graduates with 4 credits in mathematics. 

Scenario 2: Sally successfully completes Algebra I in B"' grade and Geometry in 9"' grade. A personal 
curriculum plan is developed that allows her complete 2 credits of Algebra 2 over a two year period 
in the IO"' and I I"' grades. Sally takes Business Math in her final year. She graduates with S 
mathematics credits. 

Option 3: 

✓ Student completes a 2 year CTE program that includes .5 credit (one semester) of 
Algebra 2 content 

✓ Student completes a total of 3.5 credits in mathematics 

✓ Student completes I math or math-related class in the final year 

Scenario I: Kyle enrolls in a two year cosmetology program at a regional technology center. Kyle 
successfully completes I credit of Algebra I in 9"' grade, and I credit of Geometry in IO"' grade. A 
personal curriculum plan is developed at the end of his IO"' grade year. Kyle successfully completes 
the cosmetology program which covers .5 credit (one semester) of Algebra 2 content over the two 
years. He also successfully completes I math or math-related credit (either in the CTE program or 
at the home school). Kyle creates his personal curriculum plan at the end of his IO"' grade year. Kyle 
graduates with 3.5 credits in mathematics. 

Scenario 2: Alexis successfully completes Pre-Algebra in 9"' grade and Algebra I in the IO"' grade. She 
wants to enroll In a two year health services program at her Career and Technical Education Center. 
Although Alexis has not completed Geometry, she is eligible to enroll in a CTE program in her junior 
year. A personal curriculum plan is developed that requires her to complete I credit of Geometry 
(either at her home school or in the CTE program) and .5 credit of Algebra 2 content during her 
final two years. Alexis graduates with 3.5 credits in mathematics. 

2 
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TESTIMONY ON SB 2309 
House Education Committee 

March 12, 2007 
Patrice Anderson, Assistant Director of School Health 

328.2265 
Department of Public Instruction 

Chairman Kelsch and members of the Committee - I am Patrice Anderson, Assistant 
Director of School Health for the Department of Public Instruction. On behalf of the 
Department, I am here to suggest an amendment to SB 2309. 

It has come to the attention of the Department that there is an omission in the bill 
language. Allow me to direct you to page 2, line 2, and line 12 of the proposed bill 
which currently reads, "One year of physical education; and". The requirement of one 
year of health was omitted. 

In Chapter 15.1-21-02 of the Century Code, the required units that shall be made 
available to high school students are one-half unit of health and one-half unit of 
physical education. 

In order to be consistent with the proposed bill language, we offer the amendment to 
have the text read, "One year of physical education and one year of health". 

That concludes my comments and I am willing to address any questions you may 
have. 
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Madam Chair and members of the Committee, my name is Bev Nielson with the North 
Dakota School Boards Association. NDSBA's 2006 Delegate Assembly passed the 
following resolution: 

NOSBA supports the general concepts of improving education recommended by the P-
16 Task Force in defining education adequacy for all students in North Dakota providing 
initiatives are fully funded by the state. 

In reviewing the bill, we believe Section One of SB2309 could be adopted at this time 
without undue financial burden on our public schools. 

As to Section Two of the bill, it is our position that defining specific course requirements 
for graduation needs to be the central topic of the Governor's Commission Interim study 
of adequacy. At this time, we are unable to define exactly what math or science courses 
would be acceptable to meet the requirements and whether the capacity currently exists 
to deliver them. We have not determined the potential financial impact on local schools. 
Furthermore, higher ed. has yet to define exactly what its expectations are for these 

. courses in regard to admission requirements. 

Through the adequacy study, these required courses can be more clearly defined and 
the potential financial effects determiried. The work of the Governor's Commission and 
P-16 Task Force over the past Interim has set forth an excellent framework for the 
Interim study of adequacy. We believe this next step will shape a well defined 
expectation of curricular rigor, as well as, a fair determination of state and local funds 
required to· deliver the programming .. 

In summary, we believe Section One of the bill could be adopted this Session and that 
Section Two should become a central issue for the Interim adequacy study. 

Thank you for your consideration. 
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TESTIMONY on ENGROSSED SB 2309 
By Dr. Gary Gronberg 

Department of Public Instruction 
March 12, 2007 

Madam Chairman and Members of the House Education Committee, 

I am Dr. Gary Gronberg, Assistant Superintendent, within the Department of 

Public Instruction. I am here to provide information on Engrossed SB 2309 and to 

propose a merger from the bill's original draft for possible inclusion in Engrossed SB 

2200. 

The original SB 2309 provided for the expansion of duties regarding the joint 

meetings conducted by the State boards of public school education, higher education, 

education standards and practices, and career and technical education to advance the 

alignment of academic content and student achievement standards. Additionally, the 

original SB 2309 also provided for additional high school graduation and coursework 

requirements. Engrossed SB 2309 has removed any reference to the alignment of 

academic content and student achievement standards; Engrossed SB 2309 has retained 

high school graduation and coursework requirements. 

Engrossed SB 2309 appears to advance some elements of the 

recommendations issued by the P-16 Education Task Force; nevertheless. Engrossed 

SB 2309 does not incorporate the fuller language or intent of some of the P-16 

Education Task Force's recommendations. Any effort to advance high school graduation 

and coursework requirements without also directly addressing the alignment of 

academic content and student achievement standards across the full P-16 system will 

result in an unfocused, inefficient education system. This is not the desired aim of any 

efforts to ensure system-wide educational adequacy. 

The state has recently seen the advancement of key education reforms through 

the P-16 Education Task Force and the Governor's Education Commission. Both of 

these efforts have either produced or have shown a commitment to produce important 

reforms regarding the uniform alignment of education expectations for all our students, 

preschool through higher education and employment. The Department supports the 

work that has been conducted thus far by the P-16 Education Task Force to define 

challenging expectations for the state's education system; however, much more detailed 

Testimony Engrossed SB 2309 1 
Dr. Gary Gronberg, Assistant Superintendent 

March 12, 2007 
Department of Public Instruction 



• 

• 

alignment work is required before the state can credibly define adequacy and 

appropriately advance meaningful education reforms. 

The Department believes that Engrossed SB 2309 provides an inappropriate 

remedy for raising academic standards by confusing more credits for increased rigor of 

expected knowledge and skills. Engrossed SB 2309 does not provide a meaningful 

definition of adequacy and should not be passed with its current structure. Instead, the 

Department believes that the original SB 2309 should be revisited and its purpose linked 

to Engrossed SB 2200. The Department proposes that amendments be attached to 

Engrossed SB 2200 that would advance meaningful education reform regarding 

increased expectations for student achievement. 

First, the Department believes that Engrossed SB 2309 is premature and may 

work in conflict with the general direction of some of the standards-based reforms that 

have been identified within the P-16 Education Task Force and the interests of the future 

adequacy study within the Education Commission contained in Engrossed SB 2200. It is 

premature, indeed misdirected, to dictate additional graduation or course requirements, 

which are measures of seat-time requirements, than to define specific expected 

competencies, which are definitions of achievement standards. Therefore, the 

Department recommends that Engrossed SB 2309 be rejected and not addressed at this 

time. 

Second, ttie Department recommends consideration of amendments to 

Engrossed SB 2200 to advance the unique duties of the joint boards and a wider 

committee of education interests, whose interests range from preschool through higher 

education and employment. Any future discussions regarding the adequacy of education 

must occur within a committee structure that will adequately and appropriately include 

the wider array of interests that exist in our state than the more limited membership 

envisioned within the proposed Governor's Education Commission identified within 

Engrossed SB 2200. The Department believes that the work of aligning knowledge, 

skills, and achievement standards system-wide across all levels of public education is a 

prerequisite to any future work of the Governor's Education Commission. The 

Department proposes amendments to Engrossed SB 2200 that provide for an 

independent advisory committee charged with the overall alignment of academic content 

and achievement standards statewide. This advisory committee would develop and 

communicate an overarching definition of adequacy to any future Education 
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Commission, thereby allowing for the Commission to propose measures to finance the 

delivery of a truly integrated and adequate education system. 

Madam, Chairman, this concludes my testimony. I am available to answer any 

questions from the Committee. Thank you. 

Page 42, line 28 

Proposed Amendments to Engrossed SB 2200 

insert "Section 46. North Dakota Education Alignment Advisory 

Committee - Membership Duties - Report to the North Dakota 

Commission on Education Improvement. 

1. The North Dakota alignment advisory committee consists of 

a. The chairman of the state board of public school 

education or the chairman's designee: 

b. The chairman of the state board of higher education or 

the chairman's designee: 

c. The chairman of the state board for career and 

technical education or the chairman's designee: 

d. The chairman of the education standards and practices 

board or the chairman's designee: 

e. The superintendent of public instruction or the 

superintendent's desiqnee: 

f. The chancellor of the North Dakota university system 

or the chancellor's desiqnee: 

g. The chairman of the Indian affairs commission or the 

chairman's designee: 

h. The chairman of the North Dakota council of 

educational leaders or the chairman's desiqnee; 

i. The chairman of the North Dakota school boards 

association or the chairman's designee; 

j. The chairman of the North Dakota education 

association or the chairman's designee; 
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k. Three individuals, ai;mointed b',' the chairman of the 

state board of higher education to re[!resent the facultv 

within the North Dakota universitv S','stem; 

I. The chairman of the workforce develo[!ment council or 

the chairman's designee: 

m. Five individuals, a[!Qointed b',' the governor, who serve 

as em[!IO','er re[!resentatives of the North Dakota 

chamber of commerce: 

n. One individual, a[![!Ointed b',' the state su[!erintendent, 

who serves as a Qarent re[!resentative of the North 

Dakota individuals with disabilities education act 

advisory committee: 

0. Three individuals, aQQOinted b',' the state 

su[!erintendent. who are Qarents of students within the 

North Dakota elementary, secondary, or universi!Y 

education S','Stem . 

2. The committee shall establish its own duties and rules of 

operation and procedure. including rules relating to 

ap[!ointments. terms of office. vacancies. quorums. and 

meetings, Qrovided that the duties and the rules do not conflict 

with an',' Qrovisions of this section. The chairman of the 

Education Commission shall serve as the chairman for the 

education alignment advisory committee. The education 

alignment advisory committee will be staffed b',' equal 

members of the de[!artment of [!ublic instruction and the North 

Dakota universi!Y S','stem. 

3. The committee shall examine the current S','stem of defining. 

aligning, measuring, and re[!orting academic adeguac',' in 

content and student achievement across all levels of 

education, including [!re-school, elemental}', secondal}', 

career, and higher education. 

4. The committee shall [!rovide Qeriodic re[!orts to the North 

Dakota commission on education imQrovement, the governor • 

and the legislative council. 

Testimony Engrossed SB 2309 4 
Dr. Gary Gronberg, Assistant Superintendent 

March 12, 2007 
Department of Public Instruction 

( 



• 

• 

Page 48, line 27 

Renumber sections and pages accordingly. 

after "EMERGENCY.", delete "SeslioR 46 of this /\sl is" and 

replace with "Sections 46 and 47 of this Act are" 

Testimony Engrossed SB 2309 5 March 12, 2007 
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EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

Earlier rhis year, the American Diploma Project 

(ADP) - created by Achieve, The Education Ti·ust 

and rhe Thomas B. Fordham Foundation - found 

that shockingly fo•.v of the nation's high school sru

dcnrs gain the knowkdgc and skills they need to 

succci.:·d in cnlll'.gc and rhc ,.vorkforcc. In this new 

report, Achieve provides one imporranr cxpLrn;irion 

for this phcno111cnon: No state requires its gradu

ates to take the courses th.at reflect the real-world 

demands of work and postsecondary education. 

·1;.) be prcpan:d for thl.' c\1;1\kngcs they will face after 

graduation, cvc-ry high school student should t:1kc 

four yc:irs of rigorous m:nh, including Algebra L 

Geometry and Algebra 11, as well as darn analysis and 

statistics. Every :•audcnr al.so shou\J take four ycar.s of 

grade-level English, with courses rhat include lircra

tlm~, writing, reasoning, logic and communication 

,kills. 

No .state currcmly requirt.:'.S t'very high school .student 

to take a college- and work-preparatory curriculum to 

'-.'artl a diploma. While some scaces offer studems the 

option to pmsne a trnly rigorous course of srndy, a 

less rigorous set or course requi remcnt.s remains the 

standard in almost every srare. Only Arkansas, lrnfom;i 

and TCxas have made or will soon make a college

preparatory curriculum the norm. 

lu math, 15 states require two years, 24 states and the 

Disrricr of Columbia require three ye:ns and just five 

states - Alabama, ,\rkansas, rv1ississippi, Sourh 

Carolina :md \Vest Virginia - require all srudenrs 

to complerc four math courses for graduation. None

theless, nc;uly half rhc states (22) <lo not specif), which 

math cnursts sLudcnr.s need m take. Of thost that do, 

only Arkansas, f ndia11a and 'T'exas now or soon will 

require Algebra I, Ceometry anJ Algebra 11. 

111 E11glis/J, 36 states and the District of Columbia 

require all students to take at least four English courses 

to graduate, and six states require three courses. Only 

six stares -- Alabama, Arkmsas, Kentucky, Norrh 

5 

C,trolina, Tt'xas and \Xlesr Virginia~ specif)· four 

years of grade-level English. Across states, course 

descriptions in English are inconsistent and ill defined, 

making i1 very difficult to ensure they arc rigorous. 

Ti·) clost tht' expectations gap, Achicv\.' n:cornmcnds 

that sran:s: 

m Require all students to take a common college

and work-preparatory curriculum in math and 

English. Arkansa~, lnJi;ma and Texas are leading th<: 

way, rctpl iring smdents to opt om of a college- and 

work-preparatory curriculum, rather than opt in. 

l!l Pay attention to content, not just course titles. 

Sra1e standards must dearly describe 1he level, rigor 

and content expected of required courses to ensun: 

rhar educators have a common understanding of 

whar is essential for students to learn. 

Cl Align academic standards in high school with 

the knowledge and skills required for college 

and workplace success. States must work with 

postSt'.C<.mdary officials and employers rn ddi nc 

rhc knowledge and skills necessary for gradt.wres ro 

successfully perform in college and the workplace 

withom the need for remediation. 

SJ Provide clear guidance on essential courses and 

allow flexibility for instructional approaches. 'fo 

ensure greater consistency and equity, stares should 

arriculare what is most imponanr for students to 

k,m1 and give local educators the flexibility ro 

decide upon specific approaches for delivering that 

con tell!. 

EJ Encourage students to go beyond the core. Sratcs 

should encourage all studems - particuhirly low

achieving students - to pursue accekrarcd options 

f()r earning postsecondary crl:dit while in high 

school. 

m Monitor results. States should track student 

achievement from K-12 through posrscC<)I1d:1ry 

education and use dara to help improve the rigor of 

course offCrings and instruction in high school. 

' ' '. ' ' ' . ' . 
, ' 111 ,, 1, ', Ach1cvc, Inc. 

• ' II '• ,, '' 
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INTRODUCTION 

E arlier this year, Achieve, The Education Trust and the Thomas B. Fordham 

Foundation issued a groundbreaking report from the American Diploma Project 

(ADP), Ready or Not: Creating a High School Diploma That Counts, which laid out a 

set of recommendations for strengthening the preparation of high school graduates and 

restoring value to the American high school diploma. A core recommendation was that 

states align their high school graduation requirements with the knowledge and skills stu

dents need to do credit-bearing coursework in college or to start career-track positions in 

high-growth, high-performance industries. 

T'ht'. reporc marked the> culmination of more than 

two years of imensive research. Its findings \'Vere 

remarkable, showing a dear convergence today 

berwecn what college professors and employers say 

students need to know and be ahle m do to succeed 

in college or the workplace. This finding is in stark 

comr;1sr to tht'. re:ilities of an earlier er~l when stll

dcnts bcnmd for college needed more ;icademic 

rraining than those bound for work. 

Since issuing the ADP repon, Achieve has studied 

high school gradt1a1ion requirenwm.'> in SL,Hcs 

armmd rhe country to better understand how well 

rlH.'Y align with college- and work-ready standards. 

In June, Achit:ve rdcased a report on six states' high 

school graduation exams, Do GmdutJ.tirm Tfsts 

A1emnre Up? A Closer Look at ,)fate Hi'gh School E"<iL 

E'tams, which revealed a sizeable gap between the 

skills studcms must demonstrate ro pass these rests 

and rhe skills they need rn succeed in college or 

work. In fact, the study found that the majority of 

the questions on the rests reflect material that most 

st:udl'nts study early in their high school careers, if 
not in middle school. ln math, for example, the 

tests place a heavier emphasb on prcalgcbra con

cepts than on COll\'t'.tfr associated \virh high school 

algebra. In English, the rests arc a better measure of 

basic reading co111prehensio11 skills th~111 of the more 

adv:111ced criticd reading and :malysis skills that sru

dL"nt.s will nt<:d in college and tlit joh-. of tht.: new 

1..'(01Hlll1)'. 

THE EXPECTATIONS GAP 

Ii 

Although graduation exams play a pivotal role in 

setting a standard for high school graduation in 

about half the states, the most commonly used crite

rion for awarding a high school diploma in the 

United States today is course-taking. Nearly every 

state requires srudenrs to study specific subjects for a 

certain number of years or take specific courses to 

graduate. This may come as a surprise to some peo

ple, given that K-12 education has been moving 

steadily toward a standards-based sysn:m, in which 

performance should matter more than scar rime. Yer 

dcspitt.: states' :lltention to defining mcas11rablc out:

comcs, high schools are still organized largely nn tht: 

basis of' course requirements, or Carnegie units. 

As part of a continuing effort to understand how 

graduation requirements rdare ro rhe real-world 

demands srudents face after high school, Achieve 

launc:ht:d a review of high school course require

ments in all 50 states and the District of Columbia. 

In spring 2004, Achieve collected detailed data from 

every state education agency on rhe course-raking 

requirements for earning a high school diploma. 

The goal was to compare those requirements with 

what students need to be successful in college or the 

workplace. 'l'his report summarizes Achievc's find

ings across the states. 
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HOW WELL PREPARED ARE TODAY'S 
HIGH SCHOOL GRADUATES? 

Although students and cheir parencs believe rhac a 

high school diploma reAects adequate preparation 

for the intellectual demands of adult life, the reality 

is char across the Uni ted States, students can earn 

one without mastering the knowledge and skills 

they need to succeed afcer graduation . As a result, 

too many American youth leave high school with 

a diploma in hand but largely unprepared for the 

opportunities and cha.Henges chat ;1wait chem in 

college and the workplace. 

The sutistics are alarming. One srudy estimates that, 

nationwide, only 32 percent of student~ who enter 

9th grade :rnd graduate 

four years later have 

mastered basic lireracy 

skills and have completed 

the coursework necessary 

ro succeed in a four-year 

college. For African 

Americans, this figure 

is 20 percent, and for 

Latinos it is just 16 

percent.' 

degrees than their peers who do not require remedia

tion. Three-quarters (76 percent) of students who 

require remediation in reading and nearly two-thirds 

(63 percent) of those who require one or two remedial 

math courses fail to earn degrees. In contrast, nearly 

two-thi rds (65 percent) of students who do not require 

remediation complete associate's degrees or bachelo r's 

degrees.' 

Unprepared graduates who enter the workforce 

directly after high school face similar challenges. 

Employt'rs report char a majority of high school 

graduates are inadequately prepared to succeed in ,u1 

Yee d1ree-quarters of 

high school graduates go 

on to postsecondary 

education within two 

Source. National Center for Education Statistics, Rem~rdl Educ;1tion dt Dt!gree• 
Gr,mtmg Pmts-Kandary Institutions in Fall 1000, 2003 

increasingly competitive 

economy. In a 2002 

study, mo re than 60 

percent of employers 

reported that recenr 

graduates had poor 

math skills, while nearly 

75 percent pointed to a 

deficiency in grammar 

and writing skills (see 

chart 2):1 Unqual ified 

and un t rainable, these 

high scl1ool graduates 

are likely to become 

crapped in unskilled, 

years of leaving high school. The result: Nearly JO 
percent of college freshme n are inunediately placed 

in LO remedial courses that cover material they should 

have learned in high school (see chart I). In fact , over 

the course of their college c treers, mo re than 40 per

cent of postsecondary students will cake at least one 

remedial course.2 

Although these courses are designed co help students 

catch up, students who requi re remediation are gener

ally less successful in college and are less likely to earn 

low-paying jobs that 

do not support a family well above che poverty 

level, provide benefits o r offer a clear pathway fo r 

advancement. 

According ro a wide range of economic, education 

and business experts, good jobs require more math 

and English than ever before, and workers will need 

some postsecondary education or training - whether 

it is in the fo rm of rwo- or four-year college course

work, apprenticeships, or rhe mil itary - ro meet the 

needs of the high-performance workplace. lf U.S. 
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workers cannot m eet the dem:rnJ, many of the highly 

skilled jobs may go to workers in other countries. 

such a~ C hina and InJi.1. which will have a signif1-

unt impact on U.S. competitivene\S in the global 

economy. 

Course-taking patte,·ns matter 

Preparing for college and work requires taking the 

right courses. This is particularly true whe n it comes 

co math, where data show a strong correlation 

between taking higher-level courses in high school 

and achieving success in college and employment in 

high-growth. high-performance jobs. 

In his 1999 study. C lifford Adelman found that "of 

all the components of curriculum intensity and 

quality, none has such an obvious and powerful rela

riomhip co ultimate completion of degrees as the 

highest level of m arhemMics one studies in high 

school. ''' Indeed, Adelman repom that the higher 

the level o f math sLUdenrs take in high school, the 

more likely they are to earn bachelor's degrees and 

rh.u the dire hold is ,l substantive course beyond 

Algebra 11 .'• 

forther studies show that high school course-taking 

in math and English also is an indication of students' 

opportuni ty for success in the high-performance 

workplace. A report by Educational Testing Service 

researchers Anthony P. Carnevale :rnd Donna M. 

Desrochers found that 84 percent of chose who 

currently hold highly paid profossional jobs had taken 

Algebra II or higher as their last high school math 

cour~e. Among chose who hold wel l-paid, white

collar, skilled jobs, 67 percent had taken Algebra II or 

a higha-level mad, course, and 84 percent had taken 

al le,1s1 Geometry. ln English, rhe vast majority of 

workers in good jobs had taken '•four years of English 

th,u is at least ar grade level."" 

THE EXPECTATIONS GAP 

Sourc~: Public Agenda, R~~lity Check 2002, 2002. 

In its Occober 2004 report, Cri.iis at the Core: 

f>repa,-ing All Students far College 1md Work, ACT 

further underscores that caking challenging courses 

in high school pays off. ACT analyzed how students 

did in their freshman college courses and then 

looked back at the courses they had taken in high 

school. ACT reports chat students caking Algebra I. 
Geometry, Algebra II and one additional higher

level course are much more likely ro succeed in col

lege than those who rake a less rigorous sequence of 

courses (i.e .. they have a 75 percent chance o f earn

ing a C or better and a 50 percent chance of earning 

a B or better in credit-bearing college courses)! 

W hat courses they take matters fo r all studenrs, 

but it is particularly import.ult for s tudents from 

disadvantaged backgrounds. Taking a rigorous 

high school curriculum that includes math at least 

through Algebra II curs rhe gap in college comple

tion rates between white students and African 

American and Latino scudents in half (see chart 3).'' 
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Unfortunately, minority youngsters are significanrly 

less likely to take rigorous, college- and work

prep~uatory curricula than are Asian and white stu

dents. O f the graduating class of 2000, fewer than 

one-third of 

American Indian (29 

percent), La tino (31 

percent) and Afrirnn 

American (32 pe r

cenr) sm den ts cook a 

math course beyond 

Algebra II. compared 

with nearly half of 

white students (47 
percent) and more 

than two- rh ircls of 

Asian students (69 

percent) who <lid.'" 

in more challenging courses. Each of these facrors can 

be an obstacle to many students who could benefit 

from raking challenging, college-prepararory courses. 

Yet when mino ri ry 

students are required 

to take rigorous 

college-preparato ry 

curricula, they rise 

to the chal lenge. For 

example, the San Jose 

Unified School 

District in California 

recently showed d ra

matic results after it 

required all swdenrs 

ro cake rhe A- G 

curriculum required 

for adm ission ro 

In places where a 

college-preparato ry 

Source Adapted from Adelman, Answers in the Tool~: Academic lntemity. 
Attendance Patterns, and Bachelor's Degree Artamment. June 1999, Office of 
Educ:a110nal Research and Improvement, U S Department o f Education. 

the Universi ty of 

California system. 

curriculum is an option rather than a requirement, 

disaclvamagecl students are less likely to be in schools 

that offer enough college-preparatory courses, may 

nor know which courses they must cake co be pre

pared for college, and may require rhe approval of a 

guidance counselor or other school official to enroll 

7 

Between 1998 and 2002, test scores of Afric.u1 

American 11th graders increased nearly seven times 

as much as chose of African American students across 

the state. What's more, che more rigorous require

ments have not resulted in rhe increase in dropout 

rares that some had p redicted." 



~ DEFINING COLLEGE AND WORK READINESS: THE AMERICAN DIPLOMA PROJECT 

What does readiness for college require? And what does jt mean to be "ready" to enter the high

perfonnance workplace that increasingly will be the so\lrce of the .most promisinr,, jobs for high 

school graduates? 
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To answer these questions, Achieve's American Diploma Project (ADP) worked closely with K-12, postsecondary 

and business leaders in five states (Indiana, Kentucky, Massachusetts, Nevada and Texas) to develop a set of 

readiness benchmarks that will give high school students the widest po-ssible range of opportunities -for work 

or further education and training - upon graduation. 

As a first step, leading economists examined labor market projections for the most promising jobs - those that pay 

enough to support a small family and provide real potential for career advancement ..... to pinpoint the academic 

knowledge and skills required for succes$ in those occupations. ADP then $urveyed officials from 22 occupations, 

ranging from manufacturing to finandat services, about the high S<;hool~level skills they believe are most useful 

for their employees to bring to the job, following those conversations, APP worked closely with two- and four

year postsecondary leaders in the partner states to determine the prerequisite English and math knowledge and 

skills required for success in entry-level, credit-bearing courses in English, math, the sciences and the humanities. 

The resulting ADP benchmarks are ambitious, reflecting an unprecedented convergence in what these employers 

and postsecondary faculty need from new employees and entering freshmen. In math, they reflect a rigorous 

four-year course sequence that includes content typically taught in Algebra I, Geometry and Algebra II, a.swell 

as some data analysis and statistics. The English benchmarks demand strong oral and writteh communication 

skills becau$e they are staples in college tla$srooms and rno$t 21st ~entury jobs. They also co11tain analytic and 

reasoning skills that formerly were associated with advanced or honors courses in high school. Today, however, 

colleges and employers agree that all high school graduates need these essential skills. Student$ who meet these 

standards should be prepared for success, whatever path they choose to pursue after high school. 

■ English 

The ADP college and workplace readine$s benchmarks 

for Engl~sh are organized Into eight strands: 

Language, Communication, Writing, Research, Logfc;, 

Informational Text; Media and Literature. 

Language: Employers and college faculty cite correct 

grammar. usage, punctuation, capitalization and 

spelling as essential to success. The ADP benchmarks 

require students to demonstrate control of standard 

English. They also emphasize the importance of recog

nizing nuances in the meanings of words and choosing 

words precisely to enhance communication. 

Communication: Strong communication and listening 

skills are essential to success in college and on the job. 
High school graduates should be able to make effective 

presentations - and be able to interpret and judge 

the effectiveness of others' presentations and speeches. 

THE EXPECTATIONS GAP 

Writing: Strong writing skills have become increasingly 

Important. High school graduates must be prepared 

to write quickly and clearly on demand for a variety 

of purposes~ whether in the workplace or in college 

classrooms (e.g., to interpret literature, analyze the 

results of a scientific experiment or communicate a 
new bank policy for granting loans). 

Research: In the workplace, employees must be able 

to produce and evaluate the credibility of research to 

establish. reject or refine products and services. In col

lege, students must be able to write research papers 

that draw on a number of sources to marshal evi

dence in support of a clear thesis. 

Logic: Employers and college profe$sors c;ite the ability 

to reason - to think critically, logically and dispas

sionately- as an absolutely necessary skill for success. 

High school graduates must be able to judge the 

credibility of sources, evaluate arguments, and distin-
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guish among facts and opinions. For example, they 

should have experience analyzing two or more texts 

addressing the same topic to determine how authors 

reach similar or different conclusions. 

Informational Te><t: Whether on the job or in college, 

high school graduates will be faced with a wide range 

of reference materials (e.g., periodicals, memoranda, 

revlews and technical manuals) that they will need to 

interpret, synthesize and use to inform decisions or 

draw conclusions. from these multiple informational 

and technical sources, graduates also must be 

equipped to identify Interrelationships among ideas 

and compare and contrast texts. 

Media: Colleges and employers say that high school 

graduates must be able to evaluate auditory, visual 

and written images and other effects used ln televi

sion, radio, film and the Internet. These interpretive 

skills can help them recognize potential bias in media 

- and help them become savvy media corisvmers. 

Literature: Strong analytic skills are critical to success 

in college and on the job. Practice in interpreting 

complex literary texts - and providing evidence to 

support those interpretations - fosters the skill of 

reading any text closely and teaches students to think 

logically and coherently - priority skills identified by 

employers and postsecondary faculty. The benchmarks 

include sample reading lists to illustrate the quality 

and complexity of texts that students should read. 

■ Math 

The ADP college and workplace readiness bench

marks for math are organized into four domains of 

math: Number Sense and Nt.Jmerical Operations; 

Algebra, Geometry; and Data Interpretation, 

Statistics and Probability. 

In addition to procedural math skills, college stu

dents and employees also must be equipped with 

critical thinking and reasoning skills that professors 

and employers say are critical for success. When 

solving problems, graduates must be able to think 

strategically about what problem needs to be solved, 

make judgments about which operations and proce-

dures to apply,. try different approaches if necessary, 

and check for the reasonableness of solutions. These 

essential skiffs are woven throughout the ADP math 

benchmarks. 

Number Sense and Numerical Operations: Number 

sense is the cornerstone of math in everyday life. 

Comparing prices, deciding whether to buy or lease a 

car, balancing a checkbook, deciding where to invest 

savings and understanding much of what appears in a 

daily newspaper all require understanding of and 

facility with quantified information. High school grad

uates must be able to understand the relationships 

between numbers; be able to add, subtract, multiply 

and divide with and without a calculator; and be 

equipped to make reasonable estimations and mental 

computatiolis. 

Algebra: Colleges and employers need high school 

graduates who are well versed in algebra - and can 
apply their knowledge to everyday problems. For 
example, graduates should be able to predict 

savings based on a rate of interest, project business 

revenues and estimate future populations based on 

known population growth rates. 

Geometry: Geometric measurement is the basis by 

which we quantify the world. Employers and profes· 

$Ors say that graduates should be well versed In 
working with two- and three-dimensional shapes 

and figures - and should understand the logic of 

geometric proofs and theorems. In everyday life, 

graduates need to understand spatfal relations to 
solve basic problems, such as resolving the best way 

to fit an oversized object through a door or deciding 

how to design a house tor maximum Jiving space 

with minimal timber <:osts. 

Data Interpretation, Statistics and Probability: 

Graduates must be able to interpret, analyze and 

describe dilta qui~kly and a.ccurately. Visual represen• 

tations of data (e.g., charts, graphs and diagrams)· 

are abundant, and employers and professors want 

graduates who can make predictions and develop and 

evaluate inferences from these data. 
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COURSE REQUIREMENTS: HOW DO 
THEY MEASURE UP? 

Achicve's analysis rcvtals that no state requirl's every 

srudcnr ro rake a college- and work-prcparatorr cur

riculum to earn a diploma. In nY'l:J' srari:, a student 

can ukl' all of the courses necessary ro graduate and 

.still leave hig:h school unpn:'partd for work and 

post.st'Co11dary education. 

l-10\vever. Achieve did find several stares that 

are making progress tov,•ard requiring ~11! srn

dents to complete course scqucnct:s tliar prc

pan.; them for college or work. ()f p:1rticular 

note arc Arkansas, Indiana anJ --,~xas. \vhnc 

all students soon will be automatically 

enrolled in ;1 "default'' course of study that is 

intended to align with college- and work

ready expectations. \Vhile students may still 

opt out of this course of study \vith pcnnis

sion from parents and school administration, 

this method is preferable to the traditional 

one in which students and their parents have 

to opt in to rigorous courses, oft.en creating harriers 

to part.icipario11. 

Overview of state course requirements 

Forty-two stares and the District of Columhia 

define coursc-t:tking requirerncms for earning ;1 

high school diploma, \vhercas eighr stares leave this 

decision up to local school boards. Stares rhar define 

high sd100I course-raking rcquin.:menr . .., do so in two 

different ways: The- majority oF states require stu

dents to complete a 11umba of cour.-;es in math anJ 

English co graduate. but they Jo not specify which 
courses srndenrs must take. Other states specif-}· 

both rhe numher and level of required courses, 

,vhich helps to clarify expectations and make the 

diploma more mt·aningful. In math, for example, it 

is more useful to require smdems ro r:ike Algebra I, 

Geometry and Algebra II than simply three years of 

marh. 

I 0 

Most states offa only one diplom~l, and all students 

must meet the same requirements to earn it. Some 

States also offer higher-lcvd diplomas, bur they are 

nor required for :111 students. These "rien:1.J' diplo

mas provide students with different paths ro gradua

tion and JiHCrcnt skill sets upon complcrion. 

State Diploma Systems Vary 

Source: Achieve survey/rese<1rch, 2004 

NH 
VT ME, 

','. "MA 

<IJ) RI 
·:,." N/T 

DE 
MD 

DC 

D No course re-quirements 
specified by state 

D Single diploma 

II Two-tierPd diplo1m 

Iii Three-tieri>cl cliplom~ 

II Four-tiered diplon1<1 

To earn a general diploma students typically must 

rake ;1bout 20 courses during their high school 

can .. ·crs, including frHlf in English, three in math, 

three in social srudit'S, and two and a half in science. 

In stares with tiered diplomas, students taming the 

higher-level diplomas commonly must take 24 

courses to graduate - an extra course per year 

hcyonJ the rt'quircrncnrs for the general diplom:1. 1

~ 

A closer look at math requirements 

College professors and t·mployers agree thar to be 

successful beyond high school. graduarcs should 

have mastered the content typically raughr in a 

rigorous four-year course sequence of Algebra I, 

Geometry and Algchra II, as well as data an:1lysis 

and sratisrics. 'T'here is a growing consensus rhar 

students should cake math during their senior year 

in high school - prd'erahly a course beyond 



• 

• 

• 

MOVING TOWARD A COLLEGE· AND WORK-READY " DEFAULT CURRICULUM" ----------i 

Both Arkansas and Te)(aS have established rigorous default curricula that are designed to prepare all students 
for success in work and postsecondary education. Indiana is in the process of adopting its Core 40 curriculum 
as Its default. A default curriculum is one that stvdctnts are automatically enrolled In unless they, together 
with their parents and counselors, Hopt out."' 

The table below illustrates Arkansas', Indiana's and Texas' math course requirements, w hich meet or 
approach the college- and work.,.eady expectations outlined in the ADP study. For the full set of course 
requirements in these states, see Appendix. 

Arkansas Te•as 
Smart Core Recommended 

(in effect for High School 

class of 201 OJ Program 

(in effect for 
class of 1008) 

Total Number of 

Years Required 
4 3 

Algebra I X 

Geometry X 

Algebra II X )( 

Other An additional 
course beyond 

Algebra II 

• rwerrty >ttrtei and the Dimi(t of C:olumb~ SPfl~ily requorll(I ,ou,w., Algebra I is the only courM ,ommon to all 

Algebra 11 - to ensure rhar they continue to 

strengthen their knowledge and skills. 

Twenty-nine stares and the District of Columbia 

require students to complete three or more years of 

ma1h, but 13 states only require two years. Twenty 

st.ices and che District of Columbi.1 specify not only 

the number of courses but also which ones students 

mus1 t.tke. In these stares, Algebra l is rhe most 

common requirement, although a growing number 

of sta tes also are requiring Geometry. Pew go 

beyond Algebra I :md Geometry (sec chart 4). 

I 1 

flow nuwy mflth courses clo .<t11Ll's require for fl gen

eral dip!oma? Thirceen states require two, 24 states 

,u,d the District of Columbia require three, and five 

states - Alab,una, Arkansas, Mississippi. South 

Carolina and West Virginia - require all students 

to com piece four math courses co graduate. 

V:1,irh 111nth mur,e., do Wt/es requin• J;ir a g,-neral 

d1plo11111?Twenty-rwo states do not specify which 

math courses students must take to graduate from 

high school. " Of che sraces that do specify courses, 

eight states and the District of Columbia require 

only Algebra I, and nine states require both Algebra 
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-- Courses 
•oefault Curriculum 
Source: Achieve survey/re,earch, 2004 

e Algebra I 

I and Geomerry. Arkansas, Indiana and Texas 

require Algebra l , Geometry and Algebra lI (with 

Arkansas requ iri ng an additio nal course beyond 

Algebra II ) as part of their d efaul t programs of 

study. 

\\ h,d, sldt, .1 IJtu1e 11uah req1orl!111cnt., .f,1r ,, f{t'111·nzl 

rl1plom11 ti,,,, ,11e abg111•d wflh ,·ollrgr and u,(Jrk

n·,11(!, expnt,1/IM1<· C urrently, no stare require~ four 

years of math through at least Algebra I I for all stu

dcnrs. However. Arkan sas, lndian.1 and Texas come 

very clo~e, requiring students to enroll in a course of 

srudy defined by rhe srare as college- and work

preparatory and requiring students and parents to 

explicitly assume respon~ibilicy for the consequences 

of selecting .1 less rigorous option. Texas' "default 

d iploma,'' which is in effect for rhe class of 2008, 

requires Algebra I, Geometry and Algebra II , and 

Ind iana's requiremenr for the same sequence of 

course~ should go into effect for the class of 2011. 
O nly Arkansas requires a four-year sequence that 

includes at le.m one course beyond Algebra IT; th is 

goes imo effect for the class of 20 I 0. In all rh ree 

-

THE EXP E C TATION S G AP 

Geometry e Algebra II • Beyond Algebra II 

I l 

stares, parents who would prefer to have their children 

move from this curriculum to a different. less chal

lenging one must opt out. This opt-our requirement is 

a dramatic departure from rhe practices in ocher srntes. 

Do ,Ill}' f liil<'S with tiered diplom11s hllve nMth 

requir,·m ('ntJ t l /{/t lfre ,t!z'(lud 111ith coll"g,·- 1111d 

11101k•r£'11d_y 1'Xf'P<'l1llio11s?The rop-rier diploma in 

13 states - Alabama, Arkansas. Florida, Georgia, 

Indiana, Kentucky, Louisiana, Missouri, North 

Carolina, Ohio. Tennessee, Texas and Virgini,1 -

specifies a sequence chat includes at least Algebra I, 

Geometry and Algebra II (or their equivalents). In 

five of these states - Alabama, Arkansas, Georgia, 

Indiana and North Carolina - the top-tier diploma 

requires courses beyond Algebra II. reaching the 

level that Achieve considers aligned with college 

and work. '; 

A closer look at English requirements 

To be successful in college and well-paying jobs, 

high school graduates must have strong oral and 
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- Courses • English 9 English 10 
._ Oel•ult Cu, riculum 
Source: Achieve su(Vey/r~earch. 2004 

written communication skills. In addition. college 

professors and employers agree chat all graduates 

muse have analytic and reasoning skills that have 
traditionally been associated with advanced or 

honors high school courses. 

How <lo states' course requirements measure up? 
It is hard co tell. To a huge extent, this is due to the 
imprecise nature of che English curriculum. Whereas 
in math there is a sequential sec of rnurses srudenrs 

traditionally cake in high school (e.g., Algebra I, 
Geometry, Algebra Ll) and a common understand
ing of the conrenc associated wich each course, there 

is no such common currency in high school English 

rnurscs. As ~rudenrs rrogress through the grades, 

they presumahly re.ld more com plex texts and build 

their writing skills. However, cherc i~ no common 

understanding in the discipline of what should be 

caught at each grade level, nor is there agreement on 

• English 11 • English 12 • Additional Speech Course 

1 5 

a specific body of knowledge associated wirh 

specific English courses (e.g., English I 0, American 

Literature). This lack of clarity makes it very diffi

cul t to discern anything conclusive from state 

English requirernenrs (see chart 5). 

I fou• 11/llll"I English courses do state< require far fl 

ieneml dipl<111111? Thirry-two states and the Discricr 
of Columbia require all sn1dents to take four English 
courses to graduate with a general diploma. Six other 

states require three courses. The four remaining states 
- Arkansas, Idaho, New Mexico and Texas - require 
students co cake more than four English courses, typi

cally an addjcional course in speech. 

Vll,id, English rm1m•, do .<t,llr5 rrquir,·.fi•r ,t gmeral 

diplo111a? Very few states specify through course 

names or content descriptions what copies should 

be covered in the required courses. Six states -
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Alabama, Arkansas, Kenrucky, North Carolina, Texas 

and West Virginia - requi re four years of grade-

level Engl ish or a four-year sequence of courses (i.e., 

English I- IV), yet none of rhe six indicates what top

ics these courses should cover. Arkansas and Texas 

also require an additional semester of speech or oral 

communication. A dozen states prov ide a list of top

ics robe covered (e.g., reading. composition and writ

ing) or ,1 list of topical units (e.g., x units of American 

Literature), bur these lists do nor convey a four-year 

progression of English knowledge and skills culmi

nating in college readiness by the end of 12th grade. 

The result is a fuzzy picture of what high school stu

dents are expected ro learn in English. Contrast this 

with the vivid picture employers and colleges paint 

of the im portance of reading, writing and commu

nicating - and the mism:uch becomes clear. 

BEYOND MATH AND ENGLISH ---------,-----,,-------, 

Although this report focus.es on math and English, It also is important for high school gradu11tes 
to have learn~ the natural and social sciences and foreign languages. Each state's course-taking require
ments In those subjects should be sufficient to provide students with the opportunity to attend college. 
As the following overview indicates, course requirements vary across the states. 

■ Soclat Studies 

Requirements in social studies can 

include a range of courses: U.S. his

tory, U,S. government, state history 

and government, world history or 

civilizations, geography, and eco

nomics. On average, states require 

three social studies courses, and all 

but seven states specify at least the 

equivalent of one full course that 

students must take. Thirty-four 

states and the District of Columbia 

require students to study U.S. 

history, 32 states and the District of 

Columbia require U.S. government, 

and seven states and the District 

of Columbia require state or local 

history or government. Twenty-one 

states and the District of Columbia 

require students to study world 

history or civilizations, and 19 

states and the District of Columbia 

require world geography. Nineteen 

states require students to study 

economics, whether economics is 

included among the social studies 

course requirements or listed as a 

separate area of study. 

■ Science 

All 42 states with general diplo

mas and the District of Columbia 

requlre .students to take science 

courses to graduate. Most com
monly, students are required to 

take two or three science courses. 

In contrast, Illinois requires only 

one s<:ience course. while Alabama 

alone requires four. Twenty states 

and the District of Columbia do 

not specify which science courses 

students must take. Of the states 

that do specify courses, 15 require 

Biology and either an integrated 

physical science course or separate 

Chemistry and Physics courses; two 

require simply a Biology course. 

srx states require a course in earth, 

space or environmental science. 

Four additional states - Arkansas, 

Utah, Virginia and Washington -

allow students to choose from a 
list of specified courses to satisfy 

the graduation course require

ments in science. 

■ Foreign Language 

The study of a foreign language is 

a more common requirement for 

college admissions than for high 

school graduation. Accordingly, 

only three states and the District 

of Columbia require that all stu

dents take a foreign language in 

high school. New Jersey and New 

York require only one year of a 
foreign language, while the 

District of Columbia and Texas 

require two years. 
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RECOMMENDATIONS FOR STATE 
POLICY LEADERS 

There is ;m1plc evidence rlur rhen: is a pc1jPrntmltl' 

gap in American education - too many young pco~ 

plc gradual\'. from high school poorly prepareJ for 

college ;111d work. Achic\'l''s rcviC\V of high school 

graduation n.:'.l\Uircnicnts makes clear that there :1lso 

is an c>..pectatiom gap. Bccaw,i..' state t·x1wctations, as 

ddined by high school graduation rcquin:ments. 

reflect an economy and society that no longer exist, 

srudents who do precisely wh:1r is expecre<l of them 

arc not likdy to he prepared for college and work. 

'foday's students deserve much hcttL'.f than thar. 

Thl' problems of inadequate preparation and weak 

postsecondary perform~mce cannot be addressed unless 

the expectations problem is addressed as well. Oflicials 

in 42 states :md the Dislrict of Columbia set high 

school gr:1duation rcquircrnenrs; in the remaining 

states, n.-:sponsibility is delegated to local school boards. 

-fogcrhcr, those adults have the prin1ary responsihiliry 

for setting the right expectations for our nation~s yourh. 

Ir is time to finish the work of s1:111dards-bascd 

reform bLgun some 15 years ago. Every state must scr 

standards fr)r what students should k'arn by the time 

they complete high school. not' ju.'it hy the end of 

I 0th grade. Every state should make sure these stan

dards dearly retlt'ct the real-world demands of work 

and postsecondary education. And every state should 

make thc.'i(' standards consequential•-··-· nor just aspi-

rational by incorporating them into the courses 

and exams that students musr take and pass ro earn 

high school diplomas. 

Ill Require all students to take a common 
college- and work-preparatory curriculum 
in math and English. 

Success in pos1seconJary educatinn ;md. well-paying 

iobs requires ;1 common and rigorous set of skills in 

math and Eni;lish. Therefort.\ sratcs muse require 1dl 
stud..:•nts ro take and pass a con1111011 i:ollcgc- and 

work-pn:paratory course of study to earn high school 

1 5 

diplomas. This course of study should include four 

years of rigorous math. including Algebra I, Gl'omerry 

and Algebra IL as well as data analysis and staristics. It 

:1lso ,~ho1.1ld include f<Hlr years of gr:1de-lcvd English, 

with courses that include literature, writing, reasoning, 

logic and cornmunicaion skills. 

To accomplish this, most stares will need to increase 

the number of required math courses and also specif), 

the particular coursi.::~s students must rake. In addition, 

some states will need to abandon outmoded ticrrd 

diploma sy.'items that awar<l some students colkgc

preparatL)ry diplomas and permit others to l'.trn 

diplomas wirhom college- and work-ready founda

tions. Such diplom:1s were appropriate in an era 

when large numbers of students Wl'nt din.:Ttly to 

\veil-paying, blw:-col!ar jtlbs right out tlf high school. 

Thar era is behind us, and those diplomas shoul<l be 

as well. 

Arkansas and Texas have taken the greatest strides 

in this direction by making a college- and work

preparatory curriculum the default, and Indiana is 

poi.'it:d ro do rhl' same through its Core 40 program. 

While technically not a requirement for 11!! students, 

this ~1.pproach has a number of virtues. Ir sers and 

communicates a vny clear expectation for what 

courses stu<lenrs should take to be prepared for 

life after high school. It removes obstacles srudenrs 

frequently t'ncounter in gaining aco.·ss to a rigorous 

curriculum, while simultaneously underscoring the 

ultimate responsibility of students and their parents 

for raking advantage of the opportunity. By provid

ing an alternative for what hopefully will be a small 

number of .'itudents and their families who wish to 

pursue :i less rigorous program. ir docs not let the 

perfect become rhc enemy of the good. As these 

states and others gain experience \vith this :tpproach. 

they will he able ro monitor the number of students 

who opt our of rhc core curriculum and determine 

if adjustments arc llL'cdcd. 

1 ' Achieve, Inc. 
' ' ' 
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PUTTING THE PIECES TOGETHER IN INDIANA AND TEXAS 

Indiana and Texas are going beyond aligning high school expectations with the demands of college and the 

workforce. Both states have set a rigorous curriculum as the default for every student, and both are imple-
menting college admissions/placement and financial aid policies that reinforce their high school graduation 
course requirements. These two states are well on their way to ending the mixed messages inherent in a system 

that has one set of expectations for leaving high school and another for entry into postsecondary education. 

■ Texas 

Texas is the first state to make a rigorous curriculum 

the default for all students. Beginning with this year's 

freshman class, all high school students will be placed 

in the Texas Recommended High School Program 

unless their parents specifically ask that they take a 

less rigorous course sequence. This default course of 

study includes three years of math through Algebra 11, 

four years of grade-level English, three years of sci• 

ence, four years of social studies and two years of a 

foreign language. Students who take these courses 
meet or exceed the course requirements for admis• 

sior1s in public colleges and universities in Texas, and 

they are eligible for grants from the Texas Higher 

Education Coordinating Board that offs!;lt the cost of 
tuition. 

In addition, Texas has worked to align high school 

and postsecondary expectations by using the same 

assessment-the 11th grade Texas Assessment of 

Knowledge and Skills (TAKS) - as both the high 

school graduation test and a college placement exam. 

Students must earh a certain score to receive a high 

school diploma, but if they reach a higher cut score 

they are considered ready for credit-bearing courses 

in state institutions of higher education and are not 

required to take a sepi,!rate placement test. Texas is 

currently the only state that has combined its gradua• 

tion and placement tests In this way . 

THE EXPECTATIONS GAP 

■ Indiana 

Indiana also has, made considerable progress in align

ing high school and postsecondary standards. The 

Indiana Education Roundtable - led by the governor 

and state superintendent of Instruction - has recom

mended that, beginning with the graduating class of 

2011, all students should be required to take the 

"Core 40'' curriculum unless they formally opt out. 

As in Texas, the Indiana Core 40 includes three years 

of math through Algebra II, four years of English, 
three years of science and three years of social studies. 

The Roundtable has recommended that, beginning 

with the class of 2011, completion of the Core 40 

curriculum should be required for admission to state 

four-year institutions of higher education and encour• 

aged for admission to state two-year institutions. 

To provide an additional, powerful incentive for 

students, the Roundtable also has recommended that 

completion of the Core 40 curriculum be required for 

state financial aid eligibility at four-year institutions. 
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New ri.'.quire,rn:nrs cannot he implememcd overnight, 

nor should they he. There must be enough lead rime 

to prnvidl' sruJcnts wirh the necessary academic 

prepararion and to recruit and prep,ire reachers to 

1c;~d1 rhc more rigorous courses. This will be particu

hrly impnrtall\' in urban and rnral districts already 

facing shorugcs of rcachcrs with the necessary subject 

matter expertiSL' in math. 

Ell Align academic standards in high school 
with the knowledge and skills required for 
college and workplace success. 

State standards provide the framework for state 

assessments and local curriculum. If the standards 

do not reflect rhc knowledge and skills most essen

tial for young people m learn by rhe rime they 

complete high S('.hool, rhe curriculum or the assess

ments arc nor likely m either. Every state should 

have st:mdards that define what studem.s need to 

learn d1rough rhc 12th grade~ and these standards 

musr be anchored in the rc:al-world demands of 

postseconcbry ~ducatio11 and work. 

Unforrunarcly, srates rarely validate their standards 

with employers and postsecondary faculty to ensure 

that they arc aligned wiLh the knowledge and skills 

re(p1ired for success in the workplace and college. 

Remedying this simation will require the joint 

t·Hi..lrts of srarc postsl"condary an<l K-12 leaders. 

For example, in Ohio, the postsecondary system is 

defining a common, ''re,rn:<liation-frcc" standard 

t-h.H spells our the knowledge and skills necessary 

to rakt.: credit-bearing courses in t,vo- and four-year 

institutions rhroughout the state postsecondary 

sy.siem. Postsecondary and K-12 educators then will 

work together ro revise the high school standards so 

that they hccomc more righrly aligned with these 

cxpcct:1tions. 

1 7 

ra Pay attention to content - not just course 

titles. 

Course titles, :1lrhough imporranr, are not sufficient. 

Content standards must clearly describe the level, 

rigor and content of courses to ensure chat che 

expectations for all studems are rransparenr and 

comparable. Too nficn, sratc standards do not do 

this, leaving rno much opt'Il to interpretation. The 

I ikely result is that what i,~ taught in these courses 

chroughnur the sratc will vary considerably. 

In kindcrgarren through grade 8, state standards typi

cally articulate the conrcnt that should be covered 

each year. \Xlhy should it be any different in high 

school? As course-taking patterns become much more 

diverse, standards should be even clearer, so teachers 

have a common undersun<ling of what is essential for 

students to learn and so parents have assurance that 

rhe cnm.ses their children are taking are preparing 

them for college and work. In addition, standards 

should be organized primarily around the set of 

course.~ th,n stares retiuire for graduation from high 

school. Four states - Alabama, Kentucky, North 

Carolina and Texas -- have taken this approach, 

anicuhuing the course.: .standards in English and math 

for at kast the top-level or default diploma. 

Ill Provide guidance but allow flexibility. 

In addition rn standards, .scares and districts should 

help ensure that school curricula reflect the content 

that students need to succeed in college and work. 

While it is neither desirable nor feasible for states ro 

mandate a statewide curriculum or monitor each 

school's course syllabi, rhey should provide clear 

guidance abom what is most imponant for students 

to learn. This is imponant for the sake of equity 

across schools and districts. It also is extremely use

ful in addressing rlu: widespread problem of student 

mobility within states, as well as in providing guid

~mcc for srudcnts who participate in applied learning 

through internships or work-based learning experi

ences. The point is for states to be clear about the 
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content tht'}' expect stu<lt·nts to learn, while leaving 

plenty of room fr,r local educators to deliver the 

comcm in varied ways appropri~ac for the needs of 

stl.ldcnts and schools. 

One way states can approach this challenge is by 
csrablishing :l model state curriculum that districts 

and schools can opr to use. In 2003, in response ro 

educators vvlrn wanred more guidance abom what 

to u:acli, Maryland developed rhc Voluntary State 

Curriculum, v,.rhich dcflnt'S what students need w 
knmv and he abk to do in 111:irh, Fnglish, ;;cicncc ~md 

social studies at each grade kvcl from prekimlt:rgarten 

through grade 8 and in high school. Although it is 

still too e1rly to measure its effect, this stratef,'Y holds 

much promise. 

Srarcs also may wam to consider devdoping moni

toring rools rhar will enable <listrkts and schools to 

~111alyze course syllabi. California has taken this 

approach with iLs A-G college cmrance rcquiruncnts, 

which provide a framework for courses that the 

University of California requires fi)r t'ntry, a checklist 

of topic...-.; to be covered wirhin each cmusc and sample 

syllahi. These <locumems are available on the srare 

\Veh site so rhar rhe requirt'mcnrs are public and 

tr,lnsparent (see \\'\Vw.ucop.cdu/doorways/guide/). 

Tead1,.:r professional tkvdoprncllt' that is closely tied 

to stand:irds and course contt'IH is anothtr critical 

means of providing guid:rncc around what is most 

important to rc:11::h - and ensuring that tcachcrs 

have rhc skills to do so. Districts should provide~ 

ongoing course-based professional dcvclopm~nr for 

te:tehers \virhin and across schools to ensure a com

mon understanding of the content they reach. In 

addition, they should prnvi(k professional develop

ment for cross-grade reams of rcachers to help them 

develop a common vision of how core content 

develops through the grades. 

Statt'S also can participate in the State Scholars 

Initiative, a business-led effort to provide incentives 

T H E E X P E 'c T A T I O N S G A P ' 

to students who complete a collegl'- and work-ready 

curriculum that includes three yl'ars of math 

(Algebra I, Algebra II and Geometry): dul'e ye~us of 
science (Biology, Chemistry and Physics); four years 

of English; three and a half years of social studies, 

including economics; and two years of foreign lan

guage. Evidence from the past decade indicates that 

the program is having success in pn:paring more 

students to complete a college degree - and ulti

mately to earn a higher wage in the years after high 

school. 1~ 

□ Encourage students to go beyond the core. 

Although all students should be requircd to rake a 

core college- and work-ready curriculum, rhey also 

shnulJ be strongly encouraged tn go heyond the 

core. Students should be encouraged to earn post

secondary credit v.,hile in high schnol through 

Advanced Placement courses and dual-enrollment 

programs or rhrough early college high schools that 

aim to hdp students tarn lwo years of collq_~l' credit 

while also earning a high school diploma. These 

accdcrated options should not be reserved for the 

most advanced or advantaged srn<lenrs. Lower

achieving stu<lents can henefir from participation in 

college-lcYd courses. particularly if the courses are 

combined \vith extended academic supports, such as 

intcnsiYc assistance with math and literacy skills. 

J1rn .. Tcsred students also .should be encouraged to pur

sue rigorous c.ueer and technical programs, As :m aJdi-

1 ion to, not a substitute for, rigorous core curricula, 

c1rccr and Lcchnical programs can pnwidc students 

with interesting and engaging content, help them 

apply academic skills in real-world contt:xrs, anJ help 

them develop and refine career :tspirations. 

13 Monitor results. 

While ensuring that srndents take rigorous courses is 

important, it is equally important that states have 

mechanisms for determining whether students learn 

what is in those courses. As states strengthen high 
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school course-taking requiremenrs. rhey also musr 

lmild hcncr data ;md assessment systems for monitor

ing stmil'lll achievement. 

'1(.l rr:1ck student achieven1ent antl course-raking 

through K-12 and into postseconcbry l:'ducarion, 

state.~ should develop data systems \Vith individual 

student idcnritier.s. Colleges and universities then can 

report back on student performance in their marh 

and English courses, so states and districts can make 

necessary adjustments w their course offerings and/or 

instruction. Colleges and universities also should 

report back rn districts on the remediation, persist

ence and completion rates of their graduates so that 

schools and districts knov,' how prepared their own 

graduarcs are for posrsccondary educarion. 

In Oregon, for example, every high school principal 

and cmmsl'lor receives an annual report from rh,: 

On:gon University System that describes the pl'fform

ancc of their school's gr:.iduat('S (comp:ired with all 

Oregon graduates) on colli.:ge entry rt"quircmcnrs, 

including rhe SAT and rhe state high school assess

ments. This h·c~-IJ1ntm ProjifA., Report then details stu

dems' subsequent performance> in their first ytar of 

college and their persistence to a second year. A Web 

site allows educators and the public to compare two 

ye;.us of Fn:,hm,:rn Profile Report data fill' students from 

any high school in the state (see http://pass.ous.edu/). 

Stares also should consider using end-of-course 

L'XHns to ensure that course: content is consistent and 

students across the srare are learning the same m;.itr.:

rial. Nor only do such measures help make sure 

all students have equal opportunities, but if wdl 

constructed, they can allow stares to assess mon..~ 

advanced content than is typically found on state 

exit r.:xams. Some disrricts count studt'nts' .scores on 

the end-of-course exams toward thdr final grades or 

reporr 1.hem on 5tudent rranscriprs, which can pro

vide in('elltiw fi)r students - and their teachers -

to rake the tt·srs seriously, But t'nd-of-course exams 

do not need to have high srakes attached to be useful. 

I 9 

Norrh Carolina and India1u use them to provide 

infimnation to schools and districts across rhe state 

regarding the extent to \vhich stmknts are learning 

rhe critical knowledge and skills they will need after 

high school. 

Exit exams ;ue yet anorher piece of a cornprchcnsin.~ 

assessment system. They establish a floor of perform

ance that all students must meet to earn a diploma. 

As Achieve found in a recrnt study of six states' exit 

tests, most measure content that srudcnrs study early 

in rheir high school careers - only a fraction of the 

knowledge and skills rhar colleges and employers say 

is cssenrial. However, when strengthened and used in 

concert with end-of-course tests that assess higher

level content, exit exams cm effectively establish a 

foundation of achiev~rnent for all smdents. (For more 

information on Achit~ve's exit exam study, go t:0 

WV,'\v.ad1ievc.org.) 

IIIIIDD ■■■ 

The ,vorld that high school graduates enter today is 

very diHerent from the one their parents faced deG1des 

:tgo. The economy has changed and so haw the skills 

that are needed to be successful. Yet as the demands in 

the workplace and postsecondary institutions have 

grown, the expecrations we have for high school 

graduates have not kept pace. The result is that the 

American high school diploma has lost its currency. 

Ir is time t:o bring high school graduation require

ments inro the 21st century. All students deserve to 

take a challenging .sequence of comses in high school. 

and earning a diploma should signify rhac stndems 

are ready for college or work. Most states have a long 

way ro go to align their course-taking requirements 

with postsecondary demands, but the goal is wirhin 

reach. States such as Arkansas, Indiana an<l Texas are 

illustr~1ting what is possible when policymakers make 

a commitment to better preparing their graduates for 

success after high school. \Y/e hope that more States 

will follow their lead. 
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APPENDIX 

Included in this appendix are the full set of course requirements for the Arkansas Smart Core, the 

Indiana Core 40 and the Texas Recommended High School Program. Students in these states are 

automatically enrolled in these "default curricula" unless they, along with their parents, decide to 

"opt out." Also included is the "opt-out" form that will be used in Arkansas. 

For comparative purposes, note that one full year of study is equivalent to one unit in Arkansas, 

two credits in Indiana and one credit in Texas. 

ARKANSAS STATE GRADUATION REQUIREMENTS (Applies to students entering grade 9 in 2006.) 

English 

Oral communication 

Mathematics 

Natural sdence 

Social studies 

Physical education 

Health and safety 

Fine arts 

Career focus 

4 units (years) • English 9th grade 
• English 10th grade 

1/2 unit (112 year} 

• English 11th grade 
• English 12th grade 

4 units (years) • Algebra I or Algebra A and B (Grades 7-8 or 8-9) 
• Geometry or Investigating Geometry or Geometry A and B 
• Algebra II 
• Choice of: Transitions to College Math, Precalcu!us, Calculus, Trigonometry, 

Statistics, Computer Math, Algebra Ill or an Advanced Placement mathematics 
(Comparable concurrent credit college courses may be substituted where applicable.) 

3 units (years) with lab experience chosen from 
• Physical Science 
• Biology or Applied Biology/Chemistry 
• Chemistry 
• Physics or Principles of Technology I and II or PIC Physics 

3 units (years) • Civics or Civics/American Government 
• World History 
• U.S. History 

1/2 unit (1/2 year} 

1/2 unit (1/2 year} 

1/2 unit (1/2 year) 

6 units 

2:0 
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Smart Core lnfonned Consent Form 

t,lam~(St0u0 ,0\c0·,0u~-----------------------------------------------

Schnol 

Sdw,1! Addrcs~ 

Distric, 

I have bCl.'n i11f(1rmcd of ,he S111:1r1 Corl' curriculum .rnJ rhc required cm1rsc of scudy for g,r,1duation a~ well a, th~· optional Common 

Cnrc curriculum ;ind cotmc of qmJy for ~r,1duation. This document indic.m:s my choic,: of curriculum and cour,e nf.,mJy for 
gradu,11ion for thl:" abovl' naml'd ,wdt·n1. 

Failure to complc1c the Smart Core curriculum for graduation MM.JI result in negative consequences such as conditional admission 
to college aml ineligibility for scholarship programs. 

Mark the choke selected with a checkmark: 

D I selc(·t Smart Core (.22 units) 
Engli~h - /4 1111it.'> (y.•ars) 

• Fngli,h ':Jtli gr:idc 

• J:'.ngli,h I 01h grade 

• Enµli.,11 11 d1 grtidt: 

• l<:i1gli,h ) .!rh w,H.k 
Or,1l Comnmni,:atiom -- 1/2 uni• (1/2 )'<'ilf) 

l\:lathcm~tie, - 4 units (y,·~rs) 

• Algd>rn I or Algd,r,1 A and 1, (Cra(b 7 8 rot 8--~)) 

• Gcnm,·!l'y or li11·cs1ig.11i11µ Cl·omctry m (~nm1cr1_11 A and B 

• ,\l:;,·hr,1 If 

• Ch"icl' of: 'fr:1n,i111',us (1\ Cnlkw· .~L11li, l'rccakulu,, 

c·~kulu~. '[i·igo1wmc:uy, St;Jti.sri.:1, Compu1c:r J\l.nh, r\li.;d,r.i 

I!! or ;m 1\dv.Hh.:cd i'laccmcm rn:11·hrim:1tic-~ 

((:0111p:1r.1hlc uuwurrciit c:it.:dit ,olkg,· ,:0111si.:1 111;1y Ii,· 

1uh11itut,·d wlw1t.: Jp11licahlc.) 

N;uural Scil·nn· - J llnit., (yt.:ar~) with l.1b cl.pl•ricm.;c chosen from 

• l'hy1icil S.-il'!Kt· 

• Hinlogy or Appli,-d l~iol,1grlCht.:mi,t1y 

• Ch,·mi,uy 

• Phrics or l'ri111:iplc1 11fT,:chnoln!,;}' I and II or PIC l'hy~i..:~ 

Soda! Srndit.-1 - :i unih (years) 

• Ci1•ics or Civio/Amcrirn11 Covl·rnm,·nt 

• \X'orld l·focury 

• U.S. \-forory 

Physical Edurntion - 1/2 uni! (1/2 p:;tr) 

Hcahh and S:1fc1y- 1/2 unit (1/2 year) 

FincA11\ -l/2unit(l/!.ycar) 

Carc'<~r Frn.:11, - (} units 

Schou! ( )ffi..:ial Si~n:11 me 

l 1 

D I select Common Core (22 units) 

English - /4 unit.s (year.~) 

• English 'lrh graLk· 

• Fngli~h I Och grade· 

• Fngli1h 11 rh gr.idt· 

• English 12th grade 

Oral Communication~ - 1/2 unit 

M:ithcmatics - •I units (years) 

• Algchra or ir~ t·quivalcnt~ 1 uni, 

• (;••omctry m its equiv,ikm.' I unit 

• ,\II math units mw,1 \,uilJ (.111 die ha.It nf.ilgdmi and 

g..:0111crry kuowk·dg,· .incl skills. 

• Comp.ir,ihk c"<>TlC\IITL"llt tr,·dit colll'g_L· ..:n11r,c·s m:iy hl' 

suhstinn<;'d ,vhcie ;ipplic.ihlc. 

';\ rwo-year .ilgebra equiv:ile111 or J two-year g,·,)mctry t·,i11ivalcnt 

may each he counted a.' cwn unit~ nrthc four (1!) unit Tt'qui1em,·m. 

Scicnn• - j units (years) 

• At k:isronc (I) unit nfHJologr 

• A Physical Scicii.:c· 

Social Studies - j units (year~) 

• Civi<.:.~ or gowrnmenr. 1/2 unit 

• \X'orld him1ry ! uni1 

• U.S. hi~tory 1 unit 

Physical Education - 1/2 unit (1/2 year) 

Health and Safety - 1 /2 unit ( J / 2 year} 

Fine Am - 1/2 unit ( 1/2 year) 

Career Fo,us - 6 uni1s 

Date 

D.uc 
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IN DIANA STATE GRADUATION REQUIREMENTS (Proposed for students beginning with the class of 2011.) 

English/language arts 8 credits 
Credits must include literature, composition and speech. 

Mathematics 6 credits 

Science 6 credits 

Social studies 6 credits 

Flex credits 5 credits 

Physical education 2 credits 

Health 1 credit 

Algebra I* (2 credits) 
Geometry* (2 credits) 
Algebra It* (2 credits) 

*or complete Integrated Math series I, fl and Ill for 6 credits 

Biology I (2 credits) 
Chemistry I or Physics! or Integrated Chemistry-Physics (2 credits) 
any Core 40 science course (2 credits) 

U.S. History (2 credits) 
U.S. Government (1 credit) 
Economics (1 credit) 
World History/Civilization or Geography/History of the World (2 credits) 

World Languages 
Fine Arts 
CareerfTechnical 

Electives** 6 credits (Career Academic Sequence Recommended) 

** This specifies the number of l'iectives required by thc- st,;1te. High school ~chedulcs provide time for many more ckctivt'S during the high 
school ye,,1-s. All ~tt1U.:mt1 an• Hron9/y NlCot1ragcd to complt>tc ;1 CiJrcicr Academic Scqtn•n(c (rnlccting electives in a (ielibpr.·ttc mannt'r) to 
tilke tu/! tidv<1nt;19t' of {c)reer t•xplmation and prscparation opport!/11/tit•.1. 

lorn/ schools rn<1y Ii.we additional rcquir('mcnts. 

(State Board of Ed11rntio11 final action anticipated 2105) 

2 2 

THE EXPECTATIONS GAP 
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TEXAS STATE GRADUATION REQUIREMENTS (Applies to students entering grade 9 in 2004.) 

English language arts* 

Mathematics* 

Social studies* 

Economics with empha

sis on the free enterprise 

system and its benefits* 

Physical education 

Languages other than 

English* 

Health education 

Technology 

applications* 

Fine arts* 

Speech 

Addi1ional components* 

(elective courses) 

rr ·,~1•tm~r~111:·:1;11:111111 
{Total program 
~!e1eCtiVtc~dit 
~~,jL~,tl,di!}:.;~_,.,:o,,,,::, 

Four credits: English I, II, Ill and IV. 
English I and II for Speakers of Other Languages may be substituted for 
English I and II only for immigrant students with limited English proficiency. 

Three credits must consist of: • Algebra 1, Algebra II and Geometry. 

Three credits. One credit must be a biology credit (Biology, AP Biology or IB Biology). Must 
choose the remaining two credits from the following areas. Not more than one credit may be 
chosen from each of the areas to satisfy this requirement. 

Integrated Physics and Chemistry; 
• Chemistry, AP Chemistry or 1B Chemistry; 
• Physics, Principles of Technology I, AP Physics or 1B Physics. 
Students are encouraged to take classes in biology, chemistry and physics. 

Three and one-half credits must consist of: 

One-half credit 

• World History Studies (one credit); 
World Geography Studies (one credit); 
U.S. History Studies Since Reconstruction {one credit), and 
U,S. Government (one-half credit). 

One and one-half credits to include Foundations of Personal Fitness (one-half credit). 
(Limit two credits.) 

Can substitute: drill team, marching band, cheerleading, ROTC, athletics, Dance 1-lV, approved 
private programs, or certain career and technology education courses. 

Two credits must consist of Level I and Level II in the same language. 

One-half credit or Health Science Technology (one credit). 

One credit 
For courses to satisfy this requirement, see §74.53 relating to Recommended High School 
Program for details. 

One credit. which may be satisfied by any course found in 19 TAC, Chapter 117. 

One-half credit: • Communication Applications 

Three and one-half credits from: 
• 1he list of courses approved by the SBOE for grades 9-12 (relating to 

Essential Knowledge and Skills), 
• state-approved innovative courses, 
• JROTC (one 10 four credits), or 
• Driver Education {one-half credit). 

~cotlcgti Boa,d Advanced Phtccmcnt and International B.:1rrnl,wre.:1tc courses may be wbstituted for reqvirements m dppropriatc areas . 

l 5 

Achicvl!, Inc. 
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Senator Flakoll 

Page 1 of2 

I did not have a chance to attend the conference committee on SB 2309 or talk with you before the 
meeting. I am providing additional background that you may find useful for the conference committee 
discussion. 

A It is a myth to think that raising standards will cause more students to drop out of high school. 
W Oklahoma is a great example of this. Standards were raised to 15 required units of core coursework. 

All students benefited but minority students benefited the most. Achievement, educational aspirations 
and college attendance all rose. College remediation dropped. 
Reference: htt_p;//www .. act.org/path/pplicy /pdf/o klahomJ1,pdf 

It is a myth to think that most students drop out of high school because they are not doing well 
academically. 
A January 2007 report indicates that the major reason students drop out of high school is because "they 
felt their classes were uninteresting and irrelevant", in other words, they were not being appropriately 
challenged: page 3 ht!p_:/lwww.alHed.org/p!!blicatiJmJllHighCo§_t,pgf 

After 9 months of intense discussion the P-16 Education Task Force could find no difference in 
requirements for high school graduates for preparation for college or preparation to directly enter the 
workforce. The private sector members of the ETF insisted that high school graduates must be 
better prepared. Joe Rothschiller indicated that Steffes Corporation must administer a basic 
mathematics test to recent high school graduates because the high school diploma in North Dakota does 
not currently indicate the student has basic math skills. 

How do high school students feel? 
"Graduates themselves say they would welcome more challenging requirements and raised expectations 
for high school graduation" Reference: last panel in hllp1/www.achieve.org/node/548 

Why is SB 2309 needed? 

• 

North Dakota is one of only seven states without state high school course graduation requirements (all 
adjacent states have them). See the "white hole" on pdfpage 11 of 41 at 
http://www.achieve.org/files/coursetaking.pgf 
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• 

• 

Page 2 of2 

How can North Dakota go from the second highest math achievement in the country in the 8th grade 
(Reference pdf page 5 of 12: http://www2.edtrust.org/edtrust/summaries2006/northdakota.pdf ) to high 
school graduate ACT Math score average just .6 points above (Reference pdfpage 9 of 22: 
http://www.act.org/news/data/06/pdf/states/Northdakota.pdf) the national average? Easy, just don't 
have any state high school curriculum requirements! Without state requirements only 16% of North 
Dakota 8th graders take algebra compared to 35% in competitive top states. But the worst news is that 
this percentage has declined from 20% of 8th graders taking algebra in 1992. The momentum is in the 
wrong direction. BPS superintendent Dr. Paul Johnson describes this information as a "disconnect" with 
what is needed for success. Yes, course requirements are just seat time, but they send a loud and clear 
message: we now have expectations for all North Dakota high school students. We need these course 
requirements in place before we can move beyond seat time to competencies: course requirements will 
lead to the competency discussions we need. 

Senator Flakoll, I have faith in North Dakota students and school administrators. Passing SB 2309 now 
for implementation in 2012 will not screen any students out of our education system. It will give us five 
years to implement an important, needed change. Without this bill education quality will continue to 
decline. This could be the most important piece of education policy to come out of the 2007 Legislative 
Session. 

This information was pulled together quickly based on issues that I understand came up in the first 
conference committee discussion. I apologize for the informal structure and lack of polish but I wanted 
to get this information into your hands quickly. Please let me know if you have any trouble accessing 
any of the references. 
Thanks 
Mike 
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